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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED AUGUST 9, 2024 

NEW ISSUE; BOOK-ENTRY ONLY   Insured Rating: AA; Underlying Rating: A1 
 (See “RATING” herein) 

 In the opinion of MSBT Law, Chtd., Bond Counsel, under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming continuing 

compliance with certain covenants, restrictions, conditions and requirements by the District as mentioned under “TAX MATTERS” herein, 

interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date of 

delivery of the Bonds (the “Code”), and interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for the purposes of the federal alternative 

minimum tax as defined in Section 55(b)(2) of the Code.  Interest on the Bonds is excluded from Idaho taxable income under present Idaho 

income tax laws.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

$36,075,000* 
EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT, IDAHO 

 SEWER REVENUE BONDS,  
SERIES 2024 

Dated:  Date of Delivery   Due:  September 15, as shown below 

The Series 2024 Bonds will initially be issued to and registered only in the name of _____, as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, 
New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Series 2024 Bonds.  The Series 2024 Bonds will be  available to 
purchasers under the book‑entry system maintained by DTC through brokers and dealers who are, or act through, DTC Participants.  
Purchasers will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of the Series 2024 Bonds.  For so long as any purchaser is the beneficial owner 
of a Series 2024 Bond, such purchaser must maintain an account with a broker or dealer who is, or acts through, a DTC Participant in 
order to receive payment of principal of and interest on such Bond.  See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2024 BONDS – Book‑Entry Only 
System” herein. 

The Series 2024 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof and are 
interchangeable as provided in the Bond Resolution.  The Series 2024 Bonds will be dated as of their date of delivery.  Interest on the 
Series 2024 Bonds (payable semi‑annually on each March 15 and September 15, commencing March 15, 2025) will be payable by check 
or draft mailed to the registered owners thereof.  Principal of the Series 2024 Bonds will be payable at the principal office of U.S. Bank 
Trust Company, National Association as trustee, registrar and paying agent (“Trustee”).   

The Series 2024 Bonds will be guaranteed under a municipal bond insurance policy to be issued by Build America Mutual (“BAM” or the 
“Bond Insurer”) concurrently with the delivery of the Insured Series 2024 Bonds. See “Bond Insurance” herein.  

The Series 2024 Bonds are being issued to provide funds which will be used to construct improvements to the District’s sewer system to 
include biological treatment improvements; membrane bioreactor improvements; UV disinfection improvements; lift station 
improvements; and upgrades to headworks.  

The Series 2024 Bonds are payable from revenues of the sewer system of the District (the “System”) which remain after paying the 
expenses of operating and maintaining the System. The Series 2024 Bonds are subject to optional [and mandatory sinking fund] 
redemption prior to maturity.  

The Series 2024 Bonds will bear interest in accordance with the Official Notice of Sale included herein.  Electronic bids via  Parity in 
accordance with the Notice of Sale will be received until August 15, 2024, until 9:30 AM, when the bids will be opened.  

The Series 2024 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and accepted by the purchaser of the Series 2024 Bonds and are subje ct to the 
unqualified approval of legality by MSBT Law, Chtd., Bond Counsel.  Certain legal matters will be passed on by Nelson Hal l Parry Tucker, 
PLLC, general counsel to the District. Clearwater Financial, LLC is serving as Municipal Advisor.  It is expected that the Se ries 2024 Bonds 
will be delivered through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York, on or about August 29, 2024.  The District deems this Preliminary 
Official Statement to be final as of its date for purposes of SEC Rule 15c2‑12, except for information which may be omitted therefrom 
pursuant to Rule 15c2‑12. 

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only. It is not a summary of this issue.  Investors must rea d the entire 
Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed decision.  

*Subject to change
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THE SERIES 2024 BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF ANY PROVISION, LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION OF THE CONSTITUTION OR THE 
LAWS OF THE STATE OF IDAHO, OTHER THAN THOSE PROVISIONS AUTHORIZING INDEBTEDNESS 
PAYABLE SOLELY FROM A REVENUE‑PRODUCING PROJECT NOT INVOLVING REVENUES FROM 
ANY TAX OR LICENSE. THE DISTRICT IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY ANY OF THE SERIES 2024 BONDS 
OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM REVENUES DERIVED FROM THE OPERATION OF THE 
SYSTEM. NEITHER THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE DISTRICT SHALL 
BE DEEMED PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2024 BONDS. 

MATURITY SCHEDULE* 

 

* Subject to change. 

** CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, 
which is managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems Inc.  CUSIP® numbers are provided for 
convenience of reference only.  None of the District, the Municipal Advisor or the Underwriter or their agents or counsel assume 
responsibility for the accuracy of such numbers.  The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance 
of the Series 2024 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions.  

This Official Statement does not constitute an offering of any security other than the original 
offering of the Series 2024 Bonds identified on the cover.  No person has been authorized to give 
any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official 
Statement and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon 
as having been authorized.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the 
solicitation of an offer to buy, and there shall not be any sale of the Series 2024 Bonds by any 
person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  

The Municipal Advisor has reviewed the information in this Official Statement but does not 
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.  

Due 
September 

15 
Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate Yield CUSIP** 

Due 
September 

15 
Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate Yield CUSIP** 

2025 $    2040 $    
2026 $    2041 $    
2027 $    2042 $    
2028 $    2043 $    
2029 $    2044 $    
2030 $    2045 $    
2031 $    2046 $    
2032 $    2047 $    
2033 $    2048 $    
2034 $    2049 $    
2035 $    2050 $    
2036 $    2051 $    
2037 $    2052 $    
2038 $    2053 $    
2039 $    2054 $    
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Except for information provided by U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association with respect to 
the Trustee, the Trustee has not provided, or undertaken to determine the accuracy of, any of the 
information contained in this Official Statement.  

Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM”) makes no representation regarding the Bonds 
or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.  In addition, BAM has not independently verified, makes 
no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or 
omitted here from, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding BAM, 
supplied by BAM and presented under the heading “Bond Insurance” and “Exhibit __ - Specimen 
Municipal Bond Insurance Policy”. 

Upon execution and delivery, the Series 2024 Bonds will not be registered under the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, or any state securities law and will not be listed on any stock or other 
securities exchange.  Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other federal, state 
or other governmental entity or agency will have passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this 
Official Statement or approved the Series 2024 Bonds for sale. Neither the Securities and Exchange 
Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the Series 2024 
Bonds or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this Official Statement.  Any representation to 
the contrary is a criminal offense. 

Searle Hart and Associates, PLLC, the District’s independent auditor, has not been engaged to 
perform, and has not performed, since the date of its report included herein as part of Appendix B, 
any procedures on the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the District for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2023.  Searle Hart and Associates, PLLC has not performed any procedures 
relating to this Official Statement.  

References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be 
in the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader's convenience.  Unless specified otherwise, such 
websites and the information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part 
of, this Official Statement for purposes of, and as that term is defined in, Rule 15c2-12.    

Certain information contained in this Official Statement may have been obtained from sources 
other than records of the District and, while believed to be reliable, is not guaranteed as to 
completeness or accuracy.   

THE INFORMATION AND EXPRESSIONS OF OPINION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT ARE SUBJECT 
TO CHANGE, AND NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR ANY SALE MADE 
UNDER SUCH DOCUMENT SHALL CREATE ANY IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE 
IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE DISTRICT SINCE THE DATE THEREOF.  

References herein to laws, rules, regulations, resolutions, agreements, reports, and other 
documents do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive.  All references to such documents are 
qualified in their entirety by reference to the particular document, the full text of which may contain 
qualifications of and exceptions to statements made herein.  Where full texts have not been 
included as exhibits to this Official Statement, they will be furnished on request.  
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OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

$36,075,000* 

Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho 

Sewer Revenue Bonds, 

Series 2024 
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FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

$36,075,000* 
Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho 
Sewer Revenue Bonds 
Series 2024 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of ________________, (“Underwriter”) hereby certifies as set forth 
below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”).  
Capitalized terms used herein are defined in Section 2 below. 

1. Sale of the Bonds.  As of the date of this certificate, for each Maturity of the Bonds, 
the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price 
listed in Schedule A. 

2. Other Matters.  Representations as to reserve fund and average maturity to be 
included here, as applicable, at time of closing. 

3. Defined Terms. 

(a) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 
are treated as separate maturities. 

(b) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 
Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 
more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(c) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the 
Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial 
sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 
directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail 
distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing 
in this certificate represents Davidson’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 
103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations 
thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the 
Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect 
to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by MSBT Law, Chtd., in 
connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form 
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating 
to the Bonds. 

*Subject to change 
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_______________________________ 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Dated: August 15, 2024 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

$36,075,000* 

EASTERN IDAHO SEWER DISTRICT, IDAHO 

SEWER REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2024 

INTRODUCTION 

This Official Statement, which includes the Cover Page hereof, the Table of Contents, and the 
Appendices hereto, is provided to furnish certain information in connection with the offer of 
$36,075,000* aggregate principal amount of Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 (the “Series 2024 
Bonds”), issued by Eastern Idaho Sewer District, Idaho (the “District”).  

The Series 2024 Bonds will be issued pursuant to, and in accordance with, Title 42, Chapters 32 
and Chapter 41, Idaho Code, as amended, as well as other applicable laws (collectively, the “Act”), 
a Bond Resolution adopted by the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District Board of Directors (the 
“Board”), the governing body of the District, on July 16, 2024 (as supplemented and amended from 
time to time, the “Bond Resolution”), and a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Board on July 
16, 2024 (the “Supplemental Resolution”).  The Bond Resolution is more particularly described 
herein under “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2024 BONDS” and in Appendix F – “SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION.”   

The Series 2024 Bonds are being issued to provide funds to be used (i) to pay certain costs and 
expenses relating to the issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds.  

All information included herein has been provided by the District except where attributed to other 
sources.  The summaries and references to all documents, statutes, reports and other instruments 
referred to herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive or definitive, and each such 
reference or summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to each such document, statute, 
report or other instrument.  

AUTHORITY OF THE DISTRICT TO ISSUE BONDS 
The Bonds are being issued in full conformity with the constitution and laws of the State of Idaho, 
constituting Title 42, Chapters 32 and 41, Idaho Code and pursuant to the Resolution No. 2204-
004, adopted on July 16, 2024 (“Bond Resolution”) and the judgment issued in CV06-23-0357, in 
Re: The Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, dated May 2, 2023.  Article VIII, Section III, of the 
Idaho Constitution provides that Idaho political subdivisions are entitled to borrow funds for 
ordinary and necessary projects without voter approval.  The District Court confirmed the District’s 
determination that the Project to be funded by the Series 2024 Bonds constituted an ordinary and 
necessary expense that could be funded without voter approval in a process referred to as a 
judicial confirmation as set forth in Title 7, Chapter 13, Idaho Code.  

*Preliminary, subject to change.  
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THE SERIES 2024 BONDS 

Description of the Series 2024 Bonds  

The Series 2024 Bonds constitute an issue of $36,075,000* Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 (the 
“Series 2024 Bonds”) of Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (the “District”), Idaho.  The Series 
2024 Bonds will be issued as registered bonds, without coupons, in denominations of $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof.  The Series 2024 Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will mature 
on September 15 in the years and in the principal amounts set forth on the cover page hereto, and 
will bear interest at the rates per annum set forth on the cover page hereto payable on September 
15, 2025, and semiannually thereafter on September 15 and March 15 of each year (each, an 
“Interest Payment Date”).  The Series 2024 Bonds will initially be issued solely in book-entry form 
(See “Book-Entry Only System” below).   

In the event the Series 2024 Bonds are no longer held in a book-entry only system, the principal and 
redemption premium, if any, on the Series 2024 Bonds will be payable at the corporate trust office 
of U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association (the “Trustee”), as paying agent, and interest on 
the Series 2024 Bonds will be paid by check or draft mailed by the Trustee, as paying agent (the 
“Paying Agent”), to the registered owner thereof (the “Bondholder” or “Holder”) as shown on the 
registration books (the “Books of Registry”) held by the Trustee, as registrar, on the 15th day of the 
month prior to each Interest Payment Date (the “Record Date”).  

Book-Entry Only System  

The Series 2024 Bonds, when executed and delivered, will be registered in the name of BOND 
HOLDER as nominee for the Depository Trust Company New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act 
as securities depository for the Series 2024 Bonds.  Individual purchases will be made in global 
book-entry form, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  So long as BOND 
HOLDER is the Holder of the Series 2024 Bonds, references herein to the “Bondholders” or 
“Holders” of the Series 2024 Bonds shall mean BOND HOLDER and shall not mean the Beneficial 
Owners (as defined herein) of the Series 2024 Bonds.  

So long as BOND HOLDER is the Holder of the Series 2024 Bonds, principal of the Series 2024 
Bonds is payable in the amounts and on the dates set forth on the cover page hereof and interest 
with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds is payable semiannually on each Interest Payment Date by 
check or draft mailed to BOND HOLDER, as nominee for DTC, or by wire transfer at the written 
direction of DTC, which will, in turn, remit such principal and interest to the DTC Participants (as 
defined below) for subsequent distribution to the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2024 Bonds.  If 
BOND HOLDER is no longer the Holder of the Series 2024 Bonds and a successor securities 
depository has not been appointed, such interest is payable by check or draft mailed to the persons 
appearing on the registration books maintained by the Trustee as the Holder of the Series 2024 
Bonds as of the Record Date immediately preceding the applicable interest payment date at their 
respective addresses listed on the Books of Registry maintained by the Trustee for such purposes, 
and such principal is payable to the Holder upon presentation and surrender of the Series 2024 
Bonds at the corporate trust office of the Trustee in Salt Lake City, Utah.  Payment of the principal of  

*Subject to change 



12  

and interest on the Series 2024 Bonds when due or upon prepayment is to be made in lawful money 
of the United States.  

The information under this caption concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry only system has 
been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but the District takes no responsibility for the 
accuracy or completeness thereof.  

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under 
the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking 
Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the 
New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for 
over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and 
money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants (“Direct Participants”) 
deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales 
and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts.  This eliminates the need for 
physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other 
organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
(“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, the National Securities Clearing Corporation and 
Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and 
dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a 
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  
DTC has a rating of AA+ from S&P Global Ratings.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are 
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at 
www.dtcc.com (which is not intended to be an active hyperlink).  

Purchases of Series 2024 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2024 Bonds on DTC's records.  The ownership 
interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2024 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be 
recorded on the DTC Participants' records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation 
from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written 
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, 
from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the 
transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2024 Bonds are to be accomplished by 
entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  
Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2024 
Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2024 Bonds is 
discontinued.  

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2024 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC 
are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, BOND HOLDER or such other names as 
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 2024 Bonds with 
DTC and their registration in the name of BOND HOLDER or such other DTC nominee do not effect 
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any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 
Series 2024 Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose 
accounts such Series 2024 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  
The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on 
behalf of their customers.  

The District and the Trustee will recognize DTC or its nominee, BOND HOLDER as the registered 
owner of the Series 2024 Bonds for all purposes.  Conveyance of notices and other 
communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and 
by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by 
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 
from time to time.  

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2024 Bonds of a maturity are 
being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in the Series 2024 Bonds to be redeemed.  

Neither DTC nor BOND HOLDER (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Series 2024 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI 
Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as soon as 
possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns BOND HOLDER 's consenting or voting 
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2024 Bonds are credited on the 
record date (identified on a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).  

Principal and interest payments on the Series 2024 Bonds will be made to BOND HOLDER or such 
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC's practice is to 
credit Direct Participants' accounts, upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the District, the Trustee on the payable date in accordance with their respective 
holdings shown on DTC's records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed 
by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the 
accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of 
such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the District and the Trustee, subject to any 
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal 
and interest to BOND HOLDER (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the District acting through the Trustee, disbursement 
of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of 
such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants.  

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds at 
any time by giving reasonable notice to the District or the Trustee.  Under such circumstances, in 
the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Series 2024 Bond certificates are required to 
be printed and delivered.  

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry only transfers through DTC 
(or a successor securities depository).  In that event, Series 2024 Bond certificates will be printed 
and delivered to DTC.  
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Registration and Transfer  

Upon the discontinuance of the book-entry only system, Series 2024 Bonds shall be evidenced by 
bond certificates issued in the name of the Holders thereof as set forth on the Books of Registry, 
and Series 2024 Bonds shall be transferable only upon the Books of Registry by the Holder thereof 
in person or by his attorney, duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof, together with a 
written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee, as registrar, duly executed by the Holder or 
his duly authorized attorney. Upon the transfer of any Series 2024 Bond, the District shall execute 
and thereupon the Trustee, as registrar, shall authenticate and deliver to the transferee a new fully 
registered Series 2024 Bond or Bonds, registered in the name of the transferee of the same 
aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest rate as the surrendered Series 2024 Bond.  

The District and the Trustee, as registrar, may deem and treat the person in whose name any Series 
2024 Bond is registered as the absolute owner of such Series 2024 Bond for the purpose of 
receiving payment of the principal and redemption premium, if any, of, and interest on, such Series 
2024 Bond and for all other purposes.  

For every exchange or transfer of any Series 2024 Bond, whether temporary or definitive, the 
Trustee, as registrar, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other 
governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer.  

Redemption of the Series 2024 Bonds  

Optional Redemption. The Series 2024 Bonds maturing on or after September 15, 2035 (the 
“First Redemption Date”), are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the Issuer on 
and after September 15, 2035, in whole or in part at any time, upon 30 days’ notice, in such manner 
as will be determined by the Issuer, and by lot (or by such DTC procedure as is customary if the 
Book-Entry Only System is still in effect) within a maturity at par, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date. Any 2024 Bonds maturing on or prior to the First Redemption Date are not subject 
to optional redemption. 

Notice of Redemption. For so long as a book-entry only system for the Series 2024 Bonds is 
in place, the redemption and the notice of redemption of the Series 2024 Bonds will be 
accomplished as described. If the book-entry only system is discontinued and if any of the Series 
2024 Bonds, or portions thereof, are called for redemption, the Registrar will give notice to the 
holders of the Series 2024 Bonds to be redeemed, in the name of the Issuer. If less than all of the 
Series 2024 Bonds are to be redeemed, such notice will specify the respective portions of the 
principal amount to be redeemed. Such notice will be given by mailing a copy by first class mail, 
postage prepaid, at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owner of 
each Series 2024 Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, at the address shown on the bond 
register maintained by the Trustee; provided, however, the failure to give any such notice by mail, or 
any defect in the notice mailed to the registered owner of any Series 2024 Bond, will not affect the 
proceedings for the redemption of any other Series 2024 Bond. If less than all the Series 2024 
Bonds of any maturity are called for redemption, the Series 2024 Bonds, or portions thereof, to be 
redeemed will be selected by lot by the Trustee. The obligation of the Trustee to give the notice of 
redemption is not conditioned upon (i) the availability of certain identified funds to the Issuer on the 
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redemption date to make payment in full of the redemption price, including accrued interest on the 
Bonds to be redeemed, or (ii) the occurrence of any other specified event or condition.  

SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2024 BONDS 

Bond Insurance 

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM”) 
will issue its Municipal Bond Insurance Policy for the Bonds (the “Policy”). The Policy guarantees 
the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the form 
of the Policy included as an exhibit to this Official Statement. 

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York, 
California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law. 

BUILD AMERICA MUTUAL ASSURANCE COMPANY 

BAM is a New York domiciled mutual insurance corporation and is licensed to conduct financial 
guaranty insurance business in all fifty states of the United States and the District of Columbia. 
BAM provides credit enhancement products solely to issuers in the U.S. public finance markets. 
BAM will only insure municipal bonds, as defined in Section 6901 of the New York Insurance Law, 
which are most often issued by states, political subdivisions, integral parts of states or political 
subdivisions or entities otherwise eligible for the exclusion of income under section 115 of the U.S. 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. No member of BAM is liable for the obligations of 
BAM. 

The address of the principal executive offices of BAM is: 200 Liberty Street, 27th Floor, New York, 
New York 10281, its telephone number is: 212-235-2500, and its website is located at: 
www.buildamerica.com. 

BAM is licensed and subject to regulation as a financial guaranty insurance corporation under the 
laws of the State of New York and in particular Articles 41 and 69 of the New York Insurance Law. 

BAM’s financial strength is rated “AA/Stable” by S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & 
Poor's Financial Services LLC (“S&P”). An explanation of the significance of the rating and current 
reports may be obtained from S&P at www.standardandpoors.com. The rating of BAM should be 
evaluated independently. The rating reflects S&P’s current assessment of the creditworthiness of 
BAM and its ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance. The above rating is not a 
recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and such rating is subject to revision or withdrawal 
at any time by S&P, including withdrawal initiated at the request of BAM in its sole discretion. Any 
downward revision or withdrawal of the above rating may have an adverse effect on the market 
price of the Bonds. BAM only guarantees scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments 
payable by the issuer of the Bonds on the date(s) when such amounts were initially scheduled to 
become due and payable (subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Policy), and BAM does 
not guarantee the market price or liquidity of the Bonds, nor does it guarantee that the rating on the 
Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn. 
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Capitalization of BAM 

BAM’s total admitted assets, total liabilities, and total capital and surplus, as of June 30, 2024 and 
as prepared in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the New 
York State Department of Financial Services were $486.0 million, $232.7 million and $253.3 million, 
respectively. 

BAM is party to a first loss reinsurance treaty that provides first loss protection up to a maximum of 
15% of the par amount outstanding for each policy issued by BAM, subject to certain limitations 
and restrictions. 

BAM’s most recent Statutory Annual Statement, which has been filed with the New York State 
Insurance Department and posted on BAM’s website at www.buildamerica.com, is incorporated 
herein by reference and may be obtained, without 

charge, upon request to BAM at its address provided above (Attention: Finance Department). Future 
financial statements will similarly be made available when published. 

BAM makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In 
addition, BAM has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not 
accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any 
information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted here from, other than with respect to the 
accuracy of the information regarding BAM, supplied by BAM and presented under the heading 
“BOND INSURANCE”. 

Additional Information Available from BAM 

Credit Insights Videos. For certain BAM-insured issues, BAM produces and posts a brief Credit 
Insights video that provides a discussion of the obligor and some of the key factors BAM’s analysts 
and credit committee considered when approving the credit for insurance. The Credit Insights 
videos are easily accessible on BAM's website at www.buildamerica.com/videos. (The preceding 
website address is provided for convenience of reference only. Information available at such 
address is not incorporated herein by reference.) 

Credit Profiles. Prior to the pricing of bonds that BAM has been selected to insure, BAM may prepare 
a pre-sale Credit Profile for those bonds. These pre-sale Credit Profiles provide information about 
the sector designation (e.g. general obligation, sales tax); a preliminary summary of financial 
information and key ratios; and demographic and economic data relevant to the obligor, if available. 
Subsequent to closing, for any offering that includes bonds insured by BAM, any pre-sale Credit 
Profile will be updated and superseded by a final Credit Profile to include information about the 
gross par insured by CUSIP, maturity and coupon. BAM pre-sale and final Credit Profiles are easily 
accessible on BAM's website at www.buildamerica.com/credit-profiles. BAM will produce a Credit 
Profile for all bonds insured by BAM, whether or not a pre-sale Credit Profile has been prepared for 
such bonds. (The preceding website address is provided for convenience of reference only. 
Information available at such address is not incorporated herein by reference.) 

Disclaimers. The Credit Profiles and the Credit Insights videos and the information contained 
therein are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell securities or to make any investment 
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decisions. Credit-related and other analyses and statements in the Credit Profiles and the Credit 
Insights videos are statements of opinion as of the date expressed, and BAM assumes no 
responsibility to update the content of such material. The Credit Profiles and Credit Insight videos 
are prepared by BAM; they have not been reviewed or approved by the issuer of or the underwriter 
for the Bonds, and the issuer and underwriter assume no responsibility for their content. 

BAM receives compensation (an insurance premium) for the insurance that it is providing with 
respect to the Bonds. Neither BAM nor any affiliate of BAM has purchased, or committed to 
purchase, any of the Bonds, whether at the initial offering or otherwise. 

Pledged Revenues; Special Obligations  

The Bond Resolution provides that all bonds issued pursuant to such resolution (collectively, the 
“Bonds”), including the Series 2024 Bonds, shall be secured by a pledge of, and a lien upon, 
Revenues of the sewer system of the District (the “System”) that remain after first paying the 
Expenses of Operating and Maintaining the System.  Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, “Revenues” 
of the System means:  

all revenues received by the District from its System and may include, at the discretion of 
the District, moneys derived from one, all, or any combination of revenue sources 
pertaining to the System, including, without limitation, rates, charges, rents, connection 
fees, other fees, and any other income derived from the operation or ownership of, the use 
of services of, or the availability of or services pertaining to, or otherwise derived in 
connection with, the System or all or any part of any property pertaining to the System.   

Under the Bond Resolution, “Operation and Maintenance Expenses” means: all reasonable and 
necessary current expenses of the District, (except depreciation), paid or accrued, of operating, 
maintaining, and repairing the System or of levying, collecting, and otherwise administering the Net 
Revenues for the payment of the Bond; and the term includes (except as limited by contract or 
otherwise limited by law) without limiting the generality of the foregoing:  

 
(1) Engineering, auditing, reporting, legal, and other overhead expenses of the 
various District departments directly relating and reasonably allocable to the 
administration of the System;  

 
(2) Fidelity bonds and property and liability insurance premiums pertaining to 
the System, or a reasonably allocable share of a premium of any blanket bond or 
policy pertaining thereto;  

 
(3) Payments to pension, retirement, health, and hospitalization funds and 
other insurance related to the System;   
 
(4) Any taxes, assessments, excise taxes, or other charges which may be 
lawfully imposed on the District, the System, revenues therefrom, or any privilege in 
connection with their operation; 
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(5) The reasonable charges of the bond registrar, fiscal or paying agent, 
commercial bank, trust bank, or other depository bank pertaining to the Bond 
issued by the District or pertaining to the Project, if any; 

 
(6) Contractual services, professional services, salaries, other administrative 
expenses, and the cost of materials, supplies, repairs, and labor, pertaining to the 
issuance of the Bond and to the ordinary operation of the System; and  
 
(7) All other administrative, general, and commercial expenses of the System.   

 

The pledges and liens securing the Bonds shall at all times and in all respects remain on parity to 
pledges made to secure other bonds or obligations payable out of the Revenues of the System.  As 
of the date of issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds offered hereby, the District has the following 
outstanding debt. 

Department of Environmental Quality Loan – City of Ammon  

• Principal Outstanding: $15,674,720.65 
• Maturing: March 15, 2043 
• Semi-Annual Payment: $509,287.57 

Department of Environmental Quality Loan – City of Shelley 

• Principal Outstanding: $3,380,872.42 
• Maturing: September 15, 2031 
• Semi-Annual Payment: $243,858.70 

Melaleuca Reimbursement Agreement 

The District entered into a reimbursement agreement with Melaleuca, Inc. to reimburse 
Melaleuca for a portion of the infrastructure costs that Melaleuca paid for the construction 
of a portion of the Northern Interceptor.  Fifty percent of the revenue received from 
connection fees to this section of infrastructure will be reimbursed to Melaleuca up to a 
potential total reimbursement of $745,000, with a remaining amount of $550,971 that could 
potentially be collected.  The only revenue pledged for reimbursement is from the 
connection fees received for this specific section of infrastructure.  In the event the 
connection fees received by the District are not enough to reimburse Melaleuca, the District 
has no further legal obligation.   

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the District may issue Additional Bonds (as such term is further 
defined under the heading “Additional Bonds” herein) secured by a pledge of Revenues on a parity 
with the pledge securing the Series 2024 Bonds.  In addition, the District may incur other 
indebtedness, the payment of which is either secured by a pledge of Revenues subordinate and 
inferior to the pledge securing the Bonds or by revenues derived from certain facilities.   

THE SERIES 2024 BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE DISTRICT 
WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY PROVISION, LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION OF THE 
CONSTITUTION OR THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF IDAHO, OTHER THAN THOSE PROVISIONS 
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AUTHORIZING INDEBTEDNESS PAYABLE SOLELY FROM A REVENUE-PRODUCING PROJECT NOT 
INVOLVING REVENUES FROM ANY TAX OR LICENSE.  THE DISTRICT IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY 
ANY OF THE SERIES 2024 BONDS OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM THE PLEDGED 
REVENUES DESCRIBED ABOVE. 

Rate Covenant  

The Revenues of the System are derived principally from sales of sewer service.  The District has 
covenanted in the Bond Resolution to operate the System in an efficient and economical manner 
and to establish, levy, maintain, revise and collect such fees, rentals, rates and other charges in 
connection therewith as may be necessary or proper, which fees, rates, rentals and other charges, 
together with other Revenues, shall at all times be at least sufficient, after making due and 
reasonable allowances for contingencies, (a) to pay all current Expenses of Operating and 
Maintaining the System, (b) to produce at least 125% of the annual Principal and Interest 
Requirements (as defined in Appendix F – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
RESOLUTION”) on outstanding Bonds (less payments made from the proceeds of Bonds), to be 
funded from Revenues during the fiscal year with respect to which such rates are being established, 
(c) to maintain the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (as defined herein), if any, in the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, (d) to build up any reserve for depreciation and to build up any reserve for 
improvements, betterments and extensions to the System, (e) to comply in all respects with the 
terms of the Act and the Bond Resolution or any other contract or agreement with the holders of the 
Bonds, and (f) to meet any other obligations of the District which are charges, liens or 
encumbrances upon the Revenues.  

Debt Service Reserve Fund  

The Bond Resolution requires the District to enter into a debt service reserve agreement (“Debt 
Service Reserve Agreement”) with BAM to provide for a debt service reserve fund surety bond.  The 
debt service reserve fund surety bond will provide funds to pay debt service if the Trustee would 
otherwise use amounts on deposit in a reserve fund.  The total amount available under the debt 
service reserve fund surety bond is equal the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement. 

Additional Bonds  

The District may from time to time issue additional obligations (“Additional Bonds”) on a parity with 
the Series 2024 Bonds and any other Series of Bonds issued and Outstanding under the Bond 
Resolution, subject to certain restrictive covenants set forth in the Bond Resolution.  Additional 
Bonds may be issued to defray the cost of improving, extending, enlarging or repairing the System, 
including the acquisition of any system with which the System shall be combined, or to refund 
Bonds, Junior Bonds or any notes, bonds or other obligations issued to finance the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of the System or other enterprise combined with the System.  
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The following table sets forth the sources of funds to be derived from the issuance and sale of the 
Series 2024 Bonds and the uses of such funds:  
 
Sources of Funds  
Principal Amount of Series 2024 Bonds      $ 36,075,000 
[Net] Original Issue Premium        

Total Estimated Sources       $ 36,075,000 
Uses of Funds  
Costs of Issuance (1)        $       450,000 
Deposit to the Construction Fund      $ 35,625,000 
  Total Estimated Uses        $ 36,075,000 
______________________  

(1) Including underwriter’s discount, legal, trust, municipal advisor, rating, insurance, printing 
and miscellaneous fees.  

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

The following section is intended only as a summary of certain pertinent risk factors relating to an 
investment in the Series 2024 Bonds.  This summary is not intended to be an exclusive summary of 
factors to be considered in connection with making an investment in the Series 2024 Bonds.  In 
order for potential investors to identify risk factors and make an informed investment decision, they 
should thoroughly review this entire Official Statement and the appendices hereto and confer with 
their own tax and Municipal Advisors when considering a purchase of the Series 2024 Bonds.  

Climate Change  

Planning for climate change in the State and its impact on the operations of local governments is an 
unknown challenge.  The State's climate is exceedingly variable and projections of future conditions 
range significantly.  While projections in the State indicate rising average temperatures, 
precipitation projections are much less clear and often contradictory.  Other potential impacts 
include changes in the length, intensity, and frequency of droughts and floods.  The financial 
impact of climate change is not yet known, and therefore its future impact on the District and other 
local governments cannot be quantified reliably at this time.  In connection with the development 
of the District’s capital improvement program, the District actively factors in environmental and 
resiliency considerations into its short and long-term planning efforts.  

Seismic Activity  

Eastern Idaho’s historical level of seismic activity increases the likelihood that an earthquake 
originating in the area could destroy, or render unusable for a period, certain of the District’s 
facilities.  Earthquakes may occur in the area, and an earthquake of such magnitude with an 
epicenter in enough proximity to the District could result in substantial damage.    
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Disease Outbreak Risk and COVID-19 

The global pandemic of COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a strain of coronavirus (“COVID 
19”), continues to alter the behavior of people, businesses and economies worldwide and has 
provided an example of financial risk posed to local governments by disease outbreaks.  

Over various periods since the beginning of the pandemic in 2020, federal, State of Idaho (the 
“State”) and local measures and guidance instituted to slow the spread of COVID-19 through social 
distancing have had detrimental economic impacts both Statewide and locally.  The direct negative 
economic impacts have been felt more acutely within certain sectors, such as travel, tourism, 
dining and entertainment.  

In response to evidence of community spread of COVID-19, on March 13, 2020, Idaho Governor 
Brad Little (the “Governor”) proclaimed a state of emergency throughout the State. The State 
implemented a phased plan for allowing economic activity to increase.  The plan occurred over four 
stages and set forth specific criteria for the State to meet before moving into each of the four 
stages, as well as business protocols for certain businesses to open in the various stages. COVID-
19 vaccines are now available to all people in the State over the age of five. As of June 1, 2022, the 
State reports over 940,000 people are fully vaccinated with nearly half of those having received an 
additional booster dose. The State never issued vaccine mandates and banned vaccine passports. 
There are currently no limitations on business operations, and no limits on gatherings. 

The Agency cannot predict the scope or duration of preventative actions by federal and State 
agencies in response to COVID-19, which continue to evolve in response to the conditions of the 
virus.  Moreover, the Agency cannot predict how the COVID-19 pandemic may evolve due to 
changes in State guidance and responses, future variant strains, and case surges. 

Cyber Security Management  

The District, like many other public and private entities, relies on a technology environment to 
conduct its operations and faces multiple cyber security threats including, but not limited to, 
hacking, phishing, viruses, malware and other attacks on its computing and other digital networks 
and systems (collectively, “Systems Technology”).  As a recipient and provider of sensitive 
information, the District may be the target of cyber security incidents that could result in adverse 
consequences to the District and its Systems Technology, requiring a response action to mitigate 
the consequences.  

Cyber security incidents could result from unintentional events or from deliberate attacks by 
unauthorized entities or individuals attempting to gain access to the District’s Systems Technology 
for the purposes of misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption and 
damage.  The District has implemented certain controls, including data and network security 
measures, malware protection, security configuration, website filtering and protection, and user 
training, to mitigate the risk of cyber security breaches from internal sources or activities.  In 
addition, the District maintains cyber security insurance.  
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DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table details the total annual debt service requirements on the DEQ-Ammon Loan, 
DEQ-Shelley Loan, and Series 2024 Bonds:  

DEQ – Ammon Loan, DEQ – Shelley Loan, and Series 2024 Bonds 
combined 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 

Description of the District  

The Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (EIRSD) is a sewer district that conveys and treats 
wastewater collected from the cities of Ammon and Shelley and portions of Bonneville and 
Bingham Counties. EIRSD was originally formed as a joint powers authority in 2004 and transitioned 
to a sewer district in 2022. EIRSD owns and operates a regional wastewater treatment plant west of 
Shelley, known as the Oxbow Water Reclamation Facility (WRF), and several sewer interceptor 
mains that convey wastewater to the treatment plant. The collected wastewater is treated at the 
Oxbow WRF before being discharged to the Snake River. 

The District’s Permit for discharging to the river expired on May 31, 2019. However, the WRF 
continues to discharge under an administrative extension of the expired permit until the Idaho 
Department of Environmental Quality is able to issue a new permit. 
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Government Structure  

The District is governed by a five (5) member board of directors elected at large for six-year terms 
that are staggered, biennially per Idaho Code (Idaho Code Sections 42 -3207). Elections for 
directors must be held every two (2) years on the third Tuesday in May. The elections are held by and 
directed by Bonneville County elections and Bingham County elections dependent on the zone in 
which said director resides. 

The current board members are shown below.  Each will continue to serve after the expiration of 
their term until a successor is appointed:  

NAME ROLE ZONE TERM BEGAN TERM EXPIRATION 
Brian Powell President Zone 5 05/2022 05/2025 
Craig Cutler Vice President Zone 1 05/2022 05/2027 

Sid Hamberlin Secretary/Treasurer Zone 3 05/2023 05/2029 
Frank Lemmo Member Zone 4 05/2022 05/2027 

Jeffrey Cox Member Zone 2 05/2022 05/2025 
 

Scott Barry is the District Manager and oversees the operation, maintenance, and management of 
the District. He has been awarded the Wastewater Treatment Operator of the Year for Idaho. He 
also possesses Class 2 wastewater treatment certification, Class 4 water treatment certification, 
Class 4 water distribution certification, and Class 1 wastewater lab certification. 
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In addition to Scott, members of staff hold Class 1 wastewater treatment certification, Class 1 
wastewater collections certification, Class 2 wastewater treatment certification, and Class 2 
wastewater collection certification. One of the staff is also a Wastewater Treatment Operator of the 
Year for Idaho, and the Oxbow Plant has been the Region 10 Membrane Plant of the Year. 

Janice Boggs has served as the Business Manager of the District since October 2010.  Janice has 
been working in government, non-profit, and small business accounting for over 30 years advising 
and training managers, owners, and staff on accounting practices and reporting. 

The Board is empowered by the state legislature to develop its own budget, establish its own rates 
and establish its own rules for service.  Public meetings are required when the rules of service are 
changed.  

Employees  

All employees in established positions participate in the Public Employee Retirement System of 
Idaho, as well as the Social Security System of the Federal Government.  All such employees are 
non-union.  As of June 2024, the District had five (5) employees in the following positions:  

District Manager    1 employee 
Plant Superintendent     1 employee 
Operations/Management   1 employee 
Wastewater Operator/Maintenance Worker 1 employee 
CDL B Truck Driver    1 employee 
 

Average and Peak Plant Flows   

The following table shows the average and peak flows for the District for the past five fiscal years:  

Fiscal Year Average Annual Flow in MGD Average Annual Peak Flow in 
MGD 

2018-19 1.57 1.79 
2019-20 1.48 1.63 
2020-21 1.50 1.64 
2021-22 1.52 1.66 
2022-23 1.64 1.93 

____________  

Source: The District  

The District actively pursues the review and modification of the operation of the System to further 
enhance overall efficiency and cost effectiveness.  Recent improvements in the treatment plant 
and collection system have resulted in improved treatment and conveyance efficiency.  The District 
has implemented the EPA’s proposed Capacity Management Operations and Maintenance (CMOM) 
program to further improve operations and reduce sanitary sewer overflows.  The District’s 
preventive maintenance and capital improvement program has reduced the number of equipment 
failures and improved operations.  
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Basic Fee Structure 

 Summary of Fees Currently Charged 
 Ammon Shelley County Customers 

Connection Fee Per ERU    
EIRSD Capacity Replacement 
Fee 

$5,639 $5,639 $5,639 

Surcharge (in place until fully 
operational 2027) $582 $582 $582 

Total Connection Fee $6,221 $6,221 $6,221 
    
Monthly Fee Per ERU    
EIRSD Monthly O &M Fee $15.24 $15.24 $15.24 
Current Debt Service Fee / 
Capital Replacement Fee 

$22.00 $22.00 $22.00 

Future membrane 
replacement   $8.85 

Total Monthly Sewer Fee $37.24 $37.24 $46.09 
____________  

Source: The District  

Monthly Fees 

Monthly Fees are payable by customers each month that rare connected to the system. The 
monthly fee for customers located in the County is $46.09 per Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU) 
and broken up into three portions, a $15.24 per month operation and maintenance fee, a $22.00 per 
month capital replacement/debt service fee, and a $8.85 future membrane replacement fee. City 
customers do not pay the future membrane replacement portion, and the monthly fee for 
customers in the City of Ammon and the City of Shelley is $37.24 per ERU. The District has 
historically raised the operations and maintenance fee 5% annually. The District plans to continue 
with annual increases into the future to cover the increased costs of inflation and increased 
operating costs after the completion of the project. 

Connection Fees  

Connection fees are payable by customers initially connecting to the System in the minimum 
amount of $5,639 per ERU. The District is charging an additional surcharge per connection of $582 
to help cover increased operation and maintenance costs that will remain in place until the System 
upgrades are fully operational (anticipated in 2027). An ERU is the equivalent of one single-family 
dwelling unit and is defined as the discharge of approximately 218 gallons of wastewater into the 
System on a daily basis. The District will recalculate connection fees at the conclusion of Project 1 
and anticipates increasing connection fees based on that calculation. 

Recalculation of Connection Fees 

EIRSD is in the process of re-evaluating its capital replacement fee. They have engaged a 
consultant to perform the fee recalculation. Idaho Code and case law dictate the maximum 
allowable amount of this fee and includes consideration of the value of the District’s assets, 
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unfunded depreciation, outstanding debt, and system capacity. Upgrades to the treatment facility 
will affect these values and be considered in the re-evaluation of the fee. The District anticipates 
this fee to increase due to the substantial upgrades that have been completed to date funded by 
EIRSD’s internal cash reserves. The District plans to consider phasing in any increases over a two-
year period, likely to start in fiscal year 2025. 

Rate Increase History  

The following table shows a history of District Monthly rate increases.  The charge shown is based 
on a monthly per ERU increase.   

Fiscal Year Change % Increase (O&M 
portion only) 

FY 2022 .64 5% 
FY 2023 .67 5% 
FY 2024 .71 5% 
FY 2025 .44 3% 

____________  

Source: The District  

Retail Customers   

The number of retail customers of the System for the last five years is as follows:  

Fiscal Year Number of ERUs % Change 
2019 7,630  
2020 7,914 3.7% 
2021 8,030 1.5% 
2022 8,405 4.7% 
2023 8,766 4.3% 

2024 YTD 8,965 2.3% 
____________  

Source: The District  

Largest Customers  

The following table shows the ten largest customers for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023, by 
amounts billed and the applicable consumption they use.  Billings include sewer service, unused 
capacity and industrial pretreatment.   

Customer 

Total 
Amount 

Billed 
% of Total Sewer 
Service Revenue Total ERU’s % of Total ERU’s 

City of Ammon 91,774.8 64.89% 6,201 70.58% 
City of Shelley 32,737.6 23.15% 2,212 25.18% 
Taylor Mountain 8,308.3 5.87% 182 2.07% 
Melaleuca  
(3 locations) 4,245.45 3.00% 93 1.06% 

Woodville Water & Sewer 1,643.4 1.16% 38 0.43% 
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Truck Wash 1,437.98 1.02% 31.5 0.36% 
Love’s Travel Stop 1,278.2 0.90% 28 0.32% 

TOTALS 141,425.7  8,785.5  
____________  

Source: The District 

The Cities of Ammon and Shelley have agreed to use the District as their exclusive provider for the 
disposal and processing of sewage and wastewater, so long as the District has the capacity to serve 
them (as defined in Appendix I – “SERVICE AND BILLING AGREEMENTS OF THE CITIES OF AMMON 
AND SHELLEY”). 

Summary of Revenues and Expenses   

The following table sets forth the District’s Sewer System Revenues and Expenses for the four-year 
period ending June 30, 2023, and fiscal year 2024 forecasted revenues and expenses based on 
unaudited year-to-date accounting activity through May 31, 2024.  Historical data has been 
assembled from audited financial statements for the years ending June 30, 2020, through June 30, 
2023.  Amounts shown are presented on an accrual basis. Because the District was originally 
organized as an Authority, it did not have the ability to issue debt. A memorandum of understanding 
was entered into between the Authority, the City of Ammon, and the City of Shelley paving the way 
for the Cities to obtain the funding through DEQ loans, collect revenue from rate payers, to service 
the loans, and allow the Authority to use the proceeds to build the Sewer System. Prior to 2023, the 
City of Ammon and the City of Shelley charged customers the monthly $22 facility 
replacement/debt service fee. Each City paid their respective debt service payments on their DEQ 
loans from revenues associated with those fees. Both the respective revenues and debt service 
payments were accounted for in the Cities’ financial statements and not in the District’s Financial 
Statement. In September of 2023, DEQ approved the transfer of the City of Shelley and City of 
Ammon Loans to the District. The information below includes the financial information of the 
District/Authority and the debt service payments and facility replacement/debt service fee revenue 
accounted for on the City of Ammon and the City of Shelley books.  
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(1) Source: Combination of audited Financial Statements of the District, City of Ammon, and 
City of Shelley. The financial information from the Cities of Shelley and Ammon only 
includes the DEQ loans, and the revenue received from monthly ERU charges to pay those 
loans. 

(2) Source: YTD unaudited financial statement 
(3) The City of Ammon paid excess principal on their DEQ loan prior to 2023. When the DEQ 

Loan was transferred to the District, an updated amortization schedule was agreed to with 
DEQ reducing the annual debt service payment on the loan. 

The historical financial information of the District comprises the District’s financial performance 
and the debt service payments paid for the DEQ loans included in the Cities of Ammon and 
Shelley’s financial statements and the associated revenues from the Cities for the debt service 
payments. At the beginning of fiscal year 2024 the District worked with the Cities and DEQ to 
transfer the outstanding loans from the Cities to the District (SEE Appendix J – “CITIES LOAN 
AGREEMENTS”). Also in fiscal year 2024, the District began collecting a $22 per ERU fee from all 
users. This revenue was previously collected and included in the respective Cities’ financial 
statements. In conjunction with the transfer of the DEQ loans, the City of Ammon transferred 
$1,023,728 and the City of Shelley transferred $268,718.30 to the District of cash balances derived 
from revenues collected by the respective Cities for the purpose of paying the DEQ loan debt 
service.  

Management’s Discussion of Recent Operating Results  

The Plant is operating well, and there are no known out-of-compliance issues.  

 

2020(1) 2021(1) 2022(1) 2023(1) 2024(2)

Assessment Charges

Assessment Revenue 1,140,549      1,465,258      1,712,923      4,643,109      1,603,097         

User Rate -                 -                 -                 -                 -                     

Facility Maintenance Fee (debt service fee) -                 -                 -                 -                 1,495,382         

City of Shelley 547,892         573,374         609,073         626,242         509,355            

City of Ammon 1,451,059      1,508,377      1,528,441      1,612,363      1,294,425         

EIRSD Capacity Replacement Fee (connection fee) -                 -                 -                 -                 2,363,382         

Leachate Revenue -                 -                 -                 -                 259,875            

Other Revenue 915,574         1,659,534      2,420,316      1,007,229      -                     

Interest Income -                 -                 -                 -                 788,063            

Total Revenue 4,055,074      5,206,543      6,270,753      7,888,943      8,313,578         

Operating Expense (less depreciation) 1,095,827      1,361,378      1,451,497      1,439,917      1,557,867         

Funds available for Debt Service 2,959,247      3,845,165      4,819,256      6,449,026      6,755,711         

Debt Service 

 - Ammon DEQ Loan 1,068,523      1,068,523      1,068,523      1,068,523      1,018,575         

 - Shelley DEQ Loan (3) 487,350         487,350         487,350         487,350         487,350            

1,555,873      1,555,873      1,555,873      1,555,873      1,505,925         

Debt service coverage ratio 1.90               2.47               3.10               4.14               4.49                   

Income (loss) from operations 1,395,143      2,283,041      3,255,152      4,885,582      5,192,267         

Actual

Forecasted 

based on 

Unaudited YTD 
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Anticipated Capital Needs   

The District’s wastewater is treated at the Water Reclamation Facility (WRF), which includes 
headworks, aeration basins, membrane filtration and UV disinfection to treat the liquid portion of 
the wastewater.  The sludge is processed through dewatering and landfill disposal.   

The WRF is undersized and lacks critical redundancy for its current users and a number of its 
components are at their end of service life.  Accordingly, with the existing deficiencies, lack of 
redundancy, and undersized treatment facilities, upgrades are needed to comply with current DEQ 
Wastewater Rules (IDAPA 58.01.16).   

The critical modifications that are needed by the District are as follows: 

Project 1 

• Biological treatment modifications, to include adding a mixer to enhance treatment, 
replacing deteriorated blowers to be housed in a new blower building, adding a second 
basin with blowers to add redundancy and alleviate the existing overloaded basin which is 
currently not able to consistently maintain the minimum dissolved oxygen levels required 
by IDAPA, adding a membrane feed pump station, and replacing corroded and substandard 
electrical gear and panels; 

 

Project 2 

• Membrane bioreactor modifications, to include reconfiguring feed piping and the existing 
membrane feed pump station, adding additional membrane basins which will provide the 
redundancy that is necessary for operation within the vendor’s recommended ranges 
(including during cleaning and maintenance activities), and replacing actuators and 
blowers; 

• UV disinfection system modifications, to include proper venting of existing piping and 
replacement of deteriorating wiring;  

• Lift station and headworks modifications to include adding odor control and pumping 
capacity, which will address solids deposition and odor problems, replacement of corroded 
piping, replacement of corroded and substandard electrical, and the addition of a 
redundant force main;  

• Modifications to the headworks to include retrofit of outdated treatment equipment and the 
addition of a grit chamber and fine screens to accommodate flows with redundancy, the 
replacement of corroded and noncompliant electrical equipment, the replacement of 
substandard HVAC equipment, construction of a concrete pad to contain uncontrolled 
runoff from dewatering solids and building repairs. 

 

In addition, the District anticipates the following equipment will be needed in the near future: 

• Pump station/pivot system for water reuse 
• Telehandler 
• Truck (within the next few years) 
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Outstanding Revenue Bond Debt  

____________  
Source: The District  

Budget Preparation  

The State Constitution requires political subdivisions to adopt a balanced budget for each fiscal 
year and requires the District to adopt prior to the beginning of each fiscal year operating and 
capital budgets identifying the sources of anticipated revenues including taxes necessary to meet 
the financial requirements of the budgets so adopted. The District Finance Director and Operator 
prepare the budget annually and presents it to the District Board for approval each year.  

Additional District Information 

Additional information about the District can be found by clicking on this link: 2024 Bond Issuance. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds, and with regard 
to the tax-exempt status of the interest thereon, are subject to approval by and legal opinion 
of MSBT Law, Chtd., Boise, Idaho as Bond Counsel. See "TAX MATTERS." Certain legal 
matters will also be passed upon for the District by its General Counsel, Nelson Hall Parry 
Tucker, PLLC, Idaho Falls, Idaho.  MSBT Law, Chtd., Boise, Idaho, as Disclosure Counsel to 
the District has assisted in the preparation of this Preliminary Official Statement.  

The legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express 
the professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as to legal issues 
expressly addressed therein. By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not 
become an insurer or guarantor of the result indicated by that expression of professional 
judgment, or of the transaction on which the opinion is rendered, or of the future 
performance of parties to the transaction. Nor does the rendering of an opinion 
guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 
 
Pending and Threatened Litigation 
 
In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, General Counsel to the District is expected 
to render an opinion stating that, to the best of their knowledge and except as otherwise 
set forth in the Official Statement, no litigation or other proceedings are pending, in any 
way (a) contesting the existence of the District or any boundary or geographic 
jurisdiction thereof; (b) affecting the position or title of the authorized officers of the 
District; (c) contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bond Resolution; (d) 
contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds; (e) seeking to restrain or 
to enjoin the authorization, issuance, sale or delivery of, or security for, the Bonds; (f) 

https://netorgft3210821-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/carial_clearwaterfinancial_biz/Em5CCryeFQNPnZcrZdoqRzEB6HX5ELLkWoIIWGPIuWDdSQ?e=bVgATb
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contesting the powers or authority of the District with respect to the Bond Resolution; or 
(g) materially affecting the finances of the District. 

In addition, it is anticipated that, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the 
District will execute a certificate stating that no litigation of any nature is now pending or, 
to the best of its knowledge, threatened against the District seeking to restrain or to 
enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds, or the imposition of the Special 
Assessments to pay the principal or interest on the Bonds, or in any manner questioning 
the issuance of the Bonds, or affecting the validity of the Bonds; and no litigation of any 
nature is now pending or, to the best of its knowledge, threatened against the District 
which, if determined adversely to the District, would have a material adverse effect upon 
the District's ability to comply with its obligations under the Bond Resolution, or other 
financing documents, or to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby. 

Future Changes in Laws 
 
Various State laws and constitutional provisions apply to the imposition, collection, and 
expenditure of System revenues and the operation of the District. There is no assurance 
that there will not be any change in the interpretation of, or additions to applicable laws, 
provisions, and regulations which would have a material effect, directly or indirectly, on 
the affairs of the District and the imposition, collection, and expenditure of revenues. 

Limitations on Remedies Available to Bondholders 

The enforceability of the rights and remedies of the Owners, and the obligations incurred 
by the District in issuing the Bonds, are subject to the following: the federal bankruptcy 
code and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws 
relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, now or hereafter in 
effect; usual equity principles which may limit the specific enforcement under State law of 
certain remedies; the exercise by the United States of America of the powers granted to it 
by the federal Constitution; and the reasonable and necessary exercise, in certain 
exceptional situations, of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State and its 
governmental bodies in the interest of serving a significant and legitimate public 
purpose. Bankruptcy proceedings, or the exercise of powers by the federal or State 
government, if initiated, could subject the owners of the Bonds to judicial discretion and 
interpretation of their rights in bankruptcy or otherwise, and consequently may entail 
risks of delay, limitation or modification of their rights. 

 

TAX MATTERS 

The following is a summary of the material federal and State of Idaho income tax 
consequences of holding and disposing of the Bonds. This summary is based upon laws, 
regulations, rulings and judicial decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change 
(possibly on a retroactive basis). This summary does not discuss all aspects of federal 
income taxation that may be relevant to investors in light of their personal investment 
circumstances or describe the tax consequences to certain types of owners subject to 
special treatment under the federal income tax laws (for example, dealers in securities or 
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other persons who do not hold the Bonds as a capital asset, tax-exempt organizations, 
individual retirement accounts and other tax deferred accounts, and foreign taxpayers), 
and, except for the income tax laws of the State of Idaho, does not discuss the 
consequences to an owner under any state, local or foreign tax laws. The summary does 
not deal with the tax treatment of persons who purchase the Bonds in the secondary 
market. Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding 
federal, state, local and other tax considerations of holding and disposing of the Bonds. 

Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative 
minimum tax on individuals. For taxable years beginning after 2022, the Code imposes a 
minimum tax of fifteen percent (15%) on the adjusted financial statement income of certain 
large corporations, generally consisting of corporations (other than S corporations, 
regulated investment companies and real estate investment trusts) with more than $1 
billion in average annual adjusted financial statement income, determined over a three (3) 
year period. For this purpose, adjusted financial statement income generally consists of 
the net income or loss of the taxpayer set forth on the taxpayer's applicable financial 
statement for the taxable year, subject to various adjustments, but is not reduced for 
interest earned on tax-exempt obligations, such as the Bonds. Prospective purchasers that 
could be subject to this minimum tax should consult with their own tax advisors regarding 
the potential consequences of owning the Bonds. 

Except as otherwise set forth herein, in the opinion of MSBT Law, Chtd., Bond Counsel to 
the District, under the law currently existing as of the issue date of the Bonds, the interest 
on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The 
interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for purposes of income taxation by 
the State of Idaho. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of 
computing the federal alternative minimum tax. 

This opinion is provided as of the date of the original issue of the Bonds, subject to the 
condition that the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the "Code"), that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the 
Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. The District has covenanted to comply with all such 
requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause the 
inclusion of interest on the Bonds in gross income for federal or State of Idaho income 
tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. Bond Counsel is 
expressing no opinion regarding other federal, state or local tax.  

 

Collateral Federal Tax Considerations  

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024 Bonds should be aware that ownership of tax-exempt 
obligations may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers, 
including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, life 
insurance companies, certain foreign corporations, certain S corporations, individual recipients of 
Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred 
or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations. The Series 2024 Bonds 
have not been designated “bank qualified tax-exempt obligations” under Section 265(b)(3) of the 
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Code. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion concerning such collateral income tax consequences, 
and prospective purchasers of the Series 2024 Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the 
applicability thereof.  

Future legislation, if enacted into law, or clarification of the Code may cause interest on the Series 
2024 Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation, or otherwise prevent 
owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. The introduction or 
enactment of any such future legislation or clarification of the Code may also affect the market 
price for, or marketability of, the Series 2024 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024 
Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding any pending or proposed federal tax 
legislation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.   

The IRS has established an ongoing program to audit tax-exempt obligations to determine whether 
interest on such obligations is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond 
Counsel cannot predict whether the IRS will commence an audit of the Series 2024 Bonds. Bond 
Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds ends with the issuance of the Series 
2024 Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the District 
or the Owners regarding the tax-exempt status of the Series 2024 Bonds in the event of an audit 
examination by the IRS. Under current procedures, parties other than the issuer and their appointed 
counsel, including the owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit examination 
process. Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit examination of 
tax-exempt bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which the 
District legitimately disagrees may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but not 
limited to selection of the Series 2024 Bonds for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an 
audit of bonds presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, 
the Series 2024 Bonds, and may cause the District or the owners to incur significant expense, 
regardless of the ultimate outcome. Under certain circumstances, the District may be obligated to 
disclose the commencement of an audit under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. See 
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein.  

Original Issue Discount  

Certain of the Series 2024 Bonds have been sold at initial public offering prices which are less than 
the amount payable at maturity (the “Discount Bonds”). The difference between the initial public 
offering prices to the public (excluding bond houses and brokers) at which price a substantial 
amount of each maturity of the Discount Bonds is sold and the amount payable at maturity 
constitutes original issue discount, which will be treated as interest on such Discount Bonds and to 
the extent properly allocable to particular owners who acquire such Discount Bonds at the initial 
offering thereof, will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same 
extent as other interest on the Series 2024 Bonds. As discount is accrued, the purchaser’s basis in 
such Discount Bond is increased by a corresponding amount, resulting in a decrease in the gain (or 
an increase in the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition 
of such Discount Bond prior to its maturity.   

The Code contains certain provisions relating to the accrual of original issue discount in the case of 
subsequent purchasers of obligations such as the Discount Bonds. Owners who do not purchase 
Discount Bonds in the initial offering at the initial offering price at which a substantial amount of 
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such Discount Bonds were sold should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax 
consequences of the ownership of the Discount Bonds.  

Owners who may acquire Series 2024 Bonds that are Discount Bonds should consult their tax 
advisors with respect to the determination for federal income tax purposes of the amount of 
original issue discount or interest properly accruable with respect to such Series 2024 Bonds, other 
tax consequences of owning Discount Bonds and the state and local tax consequences of owning 
Discount Bonds.  

Original Issue Premium  

Certain of the Series 2024 Bonds have been sold at an initial public offering price which is greater 
than the amount payable at maturity (the “Premium Bonds”). An amount equal to the excess of the 
purchase price of the Premium Bonds over their stated redemption prices at maturity constitutes 
premium on such Series 2024 Bonds.  A purchaser of a Premium Bond must amortize any premium 
over such Series 2024 Bond’s term using constant yield principles, based on the purchaser’s yield 
to maturity. As premium is amortized, the purchaser’s basis in such Premium Bond is reduced by a 
corresponding amount, resulting in an increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized 
for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such Premium Bond prior to its 
maturity. Even though the purchaser’s basis is reduced, no federal income tax deduction is 
allowed. Purchasers of any Series 2024 Bonds at a premium, whether at the time of initial issuance 
or subsequent thereto, should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination 
and treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes and with respect to state and local tax 
consequences of owning such Series 2024 Bonds.  

 CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The District has covenanted as to the Series 2024 Bonds to file with a central repository for 
availability in the secondary bond market when requested:  

(1) An annual independent audit, within thirty days of the District’s receipt of the audit; and 
(2) Event specific information within thirty days of an event adversely affecting more than 

five percent of revenue or the District’s tax base.  

Pursuant to a Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), the 
District will covenant for the benefit of the registered owners and the “Beneficial Owners” (as 
defined in the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking) of the Series 2024 Bonds, to provide certain 
financial information and operating data relating to the System (as defined herein) by not later than 
seven months after the end of each of the District’s fiscal years, commencing with the report for the 
Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024 (the “Annual Report”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of 
certain enumerated events with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds, if material.  The Annual Report 
and the notices of such material events will be filed by the District with the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.  The specific 
nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of material events is 
set forth in Appendix G – “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.”  These covenants 
have been made in order to assist the Underwriter in complying with Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5).  
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As provided in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, if the District fails to comply with any 
provision of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, any registered owner or “Beneficial Owner” of 
the Series 2024 Bonds may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including 
seeking injunctive relief or specific performance by court order, to cause the District to comply with 
its continuing disclosure obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  “Beneficial 
Owner” is defined in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement to mean any person which (a) has the 
power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any 
Series 2024 Bonds (including persons holding Series 2024 Bonds through nominees, depositories 
or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any Series 2024 Bonds for federal income 
tax purposes.  If any person seeks to cause the District to comply with its continuing disclosure 
obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, it is the responsibility of such person to 
demonstrate that it is a “Beneficial Owner” within the meaning of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement.  

RATING 

S&P is expected to assign a rating of “AA” to the Series 2024 Bonds, with the understanding that, 
upon delivery the Series 2024 bonds the Policy will be issued by BAM. The Series 2024 Bonds 
received a rating of “A1” by Moody’s Global Ratings (“Moody’s”).  Such rating reflects only the views 
of Moody’s and an explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained from Moody’s.  
The District has furnished to Moody’s certain information and materials respecting the District and 
the Series 2024 Bonds.  Generally, Moody’s bases its rating on such information and materials and 
on investigations, studies and assumptions furnished to and obtained and made by it.  There is no 
assurance that such rating will remain unchanged for any period of time or that it may not be 
lowered or withdrawn entirely by Moody’s, if in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such 
downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of 
the Series 2024 Bonds.  

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 

Clearwater Financial has served as Municipal Advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”) to the District with 
respect to the sale of the Series 2024 Bonds.  The Municipal Advisor’s fee for services rendered with 
respect to the sale of the Series 2024 Bonds is contingent on the issuance and delivery of the Series 
2024 Bonds.  The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken, either to 
make an independent verification of or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or 
fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement and the appendices thereto.   

UNDERWRITING 

The Series 2024 Bonds have been purchased at a competitive sale for resale by ___________ (the 
“Purchaser”), at a purchase price of $____________ (representing the par amount of the Series 2024 
Bonds plus [net] original issue premium of $________).  The initial public offering price of the Series 
2024 Bonds is stated on the cover hereof.  The Purchaser may offer and sell the Series 2024 Bonds 
to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Series 2024 Bonds into investment trusts) and 
others at prices lower than the stated initial public offering price.  In addition, the initial public 
offering price may be changed from time to time by the Purchaser without prior notice.    
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CERTIFICATION 

This Official Statement has been duly delivered by the District as of the date shown on the cover 
page.  

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT  

By:  

Scott Barry, District Manager, Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District Board  
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APPENDIX A GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE  

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 

AND THE SURROUNDING AREA 

The Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho (the “District”), currently owns and operates a 
public wastewater system (the “System” or “Wastewater System”) that serves a large area in 
Southeast Idaho, to include the cities of Ammon and Shelley and portions of Bingham and 
Bonneville Counties.  The System was originally owned and maintained by the Cities and the 
Counties pursuant to a Joint Powers Agreement (“JPA”), which was created in 2004 under the 
organizational title of the Eastern Idaho Regional Wastewater Authority (“Authority”).   

The Cities of Ammon and Shelley were authorized to borrow money for critical System 
improvements while the System was being operated through the Authority.  The City of Ammon 
borrowed $23,213,934 on April 24, 2013, from the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 
(“DEQ”) for critical System improvements and the City of Shelley borrowed $8,000,000 on 
September 16, 2011.   The current outstanding debt from the City signatories to the JPA that was 
used for existing System infrastructure to be owned by the District is approximately $19,055,000 
(collectively, the “City Loans”). 

Wastewater is conveyed from the Cities of Ammon and Shelley, and portions of Bonneville and 
Bingham Counties, to the Oxbow Water Reclamation Facility (“WRF”).  After treatment, wastewater 
is discharged to the Snake River under an Idaho Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NDPES”) 
permit administratively extended by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ).  The 
System also contains several miles of interceptor mains and collection lines, and lift stations.  The 
WRF contains several components to treat wastewater, including headworks, biological treatment, 
treatment membranes, and an ultraviolet (UV) disinfection system. 

In June 2020, the Authority entered into a compliance agreement schedule (“CAS”) with DEQ to 
address system deficiencies.  

The Authority retained the services of J-U-B Engineers, Inc., a professional consulting civil 
engineering firm (the “Engineer”), to conduct a Report of the System for the purpose of determining 
the adequacy of the System for present and future needs and to comply with the CAS.  The Engineer 
performed this facility study in 2018 and determined the critical modifications needed to address 
several deficiencies.  Existing deficiencies include lack of redundancy in key processes; 
incompliance with electrical codes; deterioration and failure of equipment; operational difficulties 
impacting WRF performance and reliability; and overloaded processes and equipment. 

The critical modifications needed to address equipment replacement, redundancy, and code and 
CAS compliancy for the System are set forth in the Eastern Idaho Regional Wastewater Authority 
Preliminary Engineering Report, Oxbow WRF Upgrades, dated July 2022 (the “Report”). 

On May 17, 2022, the registered voters of the area served by the Authority approved the formation of 
the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (“District”).  The District was formed to take ownership of 
the System from the Authority and for the District to continue to operate the System for the benefit 
of the District residents.  
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As System owner and operator, the District is charged with maintaining safe and reliable 
wastewater collection and treatment to the District’s residents in a way that does not jeopardize 
public health. 

Retirement Plan 

The District is a member of the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI), which It’s a 
retirement plan designed to provide long-term pension benefits for eligible public employees in the 
state of Idaho. The Base Plan is a qualified tax-deferred plan under IRS Code Section 401(a), 
providing retirees with a stable lifetime monthly income to supplement their Social Security 
benefits and personal savings. 

For fiscal year 2024, employees contribute at 7.18% of their salary and employers at 11.96% 
(including certain death benefit contributions).    

The contributions of the District and its employees to PERSI for the last five fiscal years are as 
follows:  

Contributions FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 
PERSI $42,150.03 $43,535.40 $41,978.31 $43,351.05 $53,433.98 

____________  
Source: The District  

GASB 75  

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75 (“GASB 75”) requires the District to 
recognize a net OPEB (other post-employment benefits) liability and any related deferred outflows 
and inflows of resources along with a more comprehensive measure of OPEB expense for the 
District’s OPEB plan on financial statements prepared on the economic resources’ measurement 
focus and accrual basis of accounting (i.e. the Statement of Net Position) and requires more 
extensive note disclosures.  The District’s OPEB expense for fiscal year 2022 was $0.00 and the 
District’s contribution was $0.00.  The District does not have an OPEB liability. Since there is no 
liability, no reporting is required under GASB 75. OPEB benefits typically include health care, life 
insurance, and disability and long-term care after an employee has retired. PERSI is handled under 
different standards and is not part of OPEB. 

General Description 

The Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (EIRSD) is a sewer district that conveys and treats 
wastewater collected from the cities of Ammon and Shelley and portions of Bonneville and 
Bingham Counties. EIRSD was originally formed as a joint powers authority in 2004 and transitioned 
to a sewer district in 2022. EIRSD owns and operates a regional wastewater treatment plant west of 
Shelley, known as the Oxbow Water Reclamation Facility, and several sewer interceptor mains that 
convey wastewater to the treatment plant. The collected wastewater is treated at the Oxbow 
Facility before being discharged to the Snake River. 

 

 

https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/
https://www.persi.idaho.gov/retirees/
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ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS AND DATA 

Population  

____________  

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Via TidyCensus and blscrapeR. (2024, June). Accessing the 
Public Data API with R. Retrieved from Data Tools: https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm.  

Unemployment  

The monthly unemployment rates for the District for the last 12 months which are available 
are shown below:  

_______________________  

Note: Not Seasonally Adjusted 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Via TidyCensus and blscrapeR. (2024, June). Accessing the 
Public Data API with R. Retrieved from Data Tools: https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm.  

 

 

 

 

 

 Census 
1970 

Census 
1980 

Census 
1990 

Census 
2000 

Census 
2010 

Census 
2020 

Bonneville 52,457 65,980 72,207 85,522 104,234 123,964 
Bingham 29,167 36,489 37,583 41,735 45,607 47,992 

Year Month Bonneville 
Unemployment 

Rate 

Bingham 
Unemployment 

Rate 
2024 April 2.7 2.9 
2024 March 3.3 3.4 
2024 February 3.5 3.7 
2024 January 3.4 3.9 
2023 December 2.4 2.9 
2023 November 2.4 2.9 
2023 October 2.4 2.7 
2023 September 2.4 2.7 
2023 August 2.5 3.2 
2023 July 2.5 3.5 
2023 June 2.5 2.9 
2023 May 2.4 2.7 
2023 April 2.4 2.6 
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The average annual unemployment rates in the District, the State, and the United States for the 
years indicated below.  

 

 

_______________________  

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Via TidyCensus and blscrapeR. (2024, June). Accessing the 
Public Data API with R. Retrieved from Data Tools: https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm. 

Per Capita Income  

The per capita income in the District and the State are as set forth below:  

  

 

_______________________  

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Via TidyCensus and blscrapeR. (2024, June). Accessing the 
Public Data API with R. Retrieved from Data Tools: https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm. 

Labor Force Estimate  

Year Bonneville 
Unemployment 

Rate 

Bingham 
Unemployment 

Rate 

Idaho National 

2024 3.23 3.48 3.64 3.88 
2023 2.59 3.07 3.08 3.63 
2022 2.46 2.87 2.85 3.65 
2021 2.88 3.31 3.57 5.37 
2020 4.16 4.04 5.55 8.09 
2019 2.37 2.64 2.89 3.67 
2018 2.43 2.73 2.88 3.90 
2017 2.72 3.01 3.21 4.35 
2016 3.09 3.40 3.65 4.87 
2015 3.22 3.81 3.89 5.29 

Year Bonneville Bingham State 
2018-2022 $33,008 $29,421 $34,919 
2013-2017 $25,706 $20,720 $25,471 
2008-2012 $23,306 $18,892 $22,581 

Description Bonneville 
Labor 
Force 

Bonneville 
Employment 

Bonneville 
Unemployment 

Bingham 
Labor 
Force 

Bingham 
Employment 

Bingham 
Unemployment 

2024 66,115 63,983 2,133 23,951 23,119 831 
2023 65,279 63,581 1,698 23,849 23,118 731 
2022 63,378 61,809 1,569 23,582 22,910 672 
2021 61,411 59,648 1,763 22,994 22,235 759 
2020 59,122 56,680 2,442 22,634 21,718 916 
2019 57,544 56,178 1,366 23,965 23,332 633 
2018 55,540 54,196 1,344 23,446 22,806 640 
2017 53,920 52,459 1,462 23,189 22,496 693 
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_______________________  

Note: Labor Force is Civilian. Yearly values are averages for available calendar year. 

Source:  U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Via TidyCensus and blscrapeR. (2024, June). Accessing the 
Public Data API with R. Retrieved from Data Tools: https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm 

Workers involved in labor disputes are included among the employed.  Total employment also 
includes agricultural workers, proprietors, self-employed persons, workers in private households 
and unpaid family workers. 

  

2016 52,378 50,762 1,615 22,782 22,007 776 
2015 51,063 49,414 1,649 22,072 21,234 838 

https://www.bls.gov/developers/api_r.htm
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APPENDIX B 
Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District 
Shelley, Idaho 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Eastern Idaho Regional 
Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the business-type activities of the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho, as of September 30, 
2023, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 



 

 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the 
financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 
identified during the audit. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
A ballot measure was approved by the voters to form a new sewer district to operate and replace the existing 
EIRWWA entity. The new entity was formed on August 16, 2022, under the name of Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer 
District (EIRSD). Refer to note 14 on page 17 for further details. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require supplementary information, such 
as management’s discussion and analysis and other required supplementary information listed in the table of 
contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.   
 
Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis that 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s basic financial statements.  The Budget and Actual schedule is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The Budget and Actual schedule has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance thereon. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 



 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated January 16, 2024, on our 
consideration of the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 
 

 
 
 
Idaho Falls, Idaho 
January 16, 2024 
 
 



FINANCIAL SECTION 



EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2023

Business-
type

Activities Total
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and Investments $ 11,623,700      $ 11,623,700      
Assessments receivable 1,614               1,614               
Intergovernmental receivable 86,625             86,625             
Other receivables 74                    74                    
Other assets -                      -                      
Inventory - Critical needs parts 111,897           111,897           
Prepaid expenses 33,958             33,958             

Total current assets 11,857,868      11,857,868      

Noncurrent assets:
Intergovernmental receivable - long-term -                      -                      
Capital assets

Land and easements 2,214,976        2,214,976        
Construction in progress 2,939,720        2,939,720        
Building and grounds 12,961,718      12,961,718      
Equipment 8,596,765        8,596,765        
Infrastructure 31,916,973      31,916,973      
Accumulated depreciation (21,450,995)    (21,450,995)    

Total capital assets 37,179,157      37,179,157      

Total noncurrent assets 37,179,157      37,179,157      

TOTAL ASSETS 49,037,025      49,037,025      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Deferred outflows - Prepaid Connection -                      -                      
Deferred outflows - Pension 100,654           100,654           

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 100,654           100,654           

1 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Business-
type

Activities Total
LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 212,508           212,508           
Prepaid  assessments 18,333             18,333             
Accrued compensation 33,209             33,209             
Notes payable - current portion 56,390             56,390             

Total current liabilities 320,440           320,440           

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable - net of current portion 494,581           494,581           
Net pension liability (Asset) 232,289           232,289           

Total noncurrent liabilities 726,870           726,870           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,047,310        1,047,310        

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Deferred inflows - Other 1,115,900        1,115,900        
Deferred inflows - Pension -                      -                      

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 1,115,900        1,115,900        

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 36,628,186      36,628,186      
Restricted for:

Capital improvements -                      -                      
Debt service 56,390             56,390             
Other purposes -                      -                      

Unrestricted 10,289,893      10,289,893      

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 46,974,469      $ 46,974,469      

2



EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

OPERATING REVENUES
Assessment charges $ 4,643,109        
Other revenue 1,007,229        

Total operating revenues 5,650,338        

OPERATING EXPENSES
Auto expense 11,889             
Contract services 175,546           
Depreciation expense 1,945,084        
Facilities and equipment 965                  
Insurance 41,667             
Office operations 7,866               
Payroll expense 460,334           
Plant operations 286,157           
Repairs and operations 243,298           
Travel and meetings 6,843               
Utilities 315,925           
Other expenses 125,817           

Total operating expenses 3,621,391        

Income (loss) from operations 2,028,947        

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Insurance claim proceeds -                      
Interest income 286,429           
Interest expense -                      
Capital Contributions -                      
Gain (loss) on sale of assets -                      

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) 286,429           

Change in net position 2,315,376        

NET POSITION, OCTOBER 1, 2022 44,659,093      

NET POSITION, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 46,974,469      

3 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers $ 5,580,447        
Cash payments for goods and services (1,848,132)      
Cash payments to employees (414,566)         
Other operating cash payments (125,817)         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,191,932        

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets (2,344,798)      
Insurance proceeds -                      
Payments on long-term debt 9,624               

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) FOR CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,335,174)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest on investments 286,429           

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY
   INVESTING ACTIVITIES 286,429           

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 1,143,187        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, OCTOBER 1, 2022 10,452,738      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 11,595,925      

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income $ 2,028,947        
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided (used) by 

operating activities:
Depreciation 1,945,084        
Pension expense associated with net pension liability 35,142             
(Increase) decrease in receivables (83,045)           
(increase) decrease in inventory -                      
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (32,219)           
Increase (decrease) in payables (725,757)         
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 10,626             
Increase (decrease) in prepaid assessments 13,154             

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 3,191,932        

4



EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NON-CASH, CAPITAL, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Redeemed prepaid connection fees $ -                      

Total noncash investing, capital and financing activites $ -                      

5 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
INDEX TO NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023  
 
 
 
NOTES INDEX 
 
1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
A. Reporting Entity 
B.   Basis of Accounting 
C.   Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
D. Capital Assets 
E.   Compensated Absences and Post Employment Benefits 
F.   Encumbrance Accounting 
G. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
H. Revenues and Expenses 
I. Deferred Outflows/Deferred Inflows 
J. Pensions 
K. Use of Estimates  
 

2.   Cash  
 
3.   Capital Assets  
 
4.   Pension Plan 
 
5.   Long-term Debt 
 
6.   Related Party Transactions 
 
7.   Subsequent Events 
 
8.  Material Violation of Finance-Related Legal and Contractual Provisions 
 

  9.  Risk Management 
 

10. Litigation and Contingent Liabilities 
 
11. Inventory 
 
12. Note Receivable 
 
13. Creation of Sewer District 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023  
 
 
 
1.  SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District is organized through a joint powers agreement and operates under the 
provisions of the Idaho Constitution and the accounting policies and practices of the District conform to 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governments.  A summary of the District’s 
significant accounting principles applied in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements follows: 
 
A. REPORTING ENTITY 

The financial statements included herein present the financial position, results of operations, changes in net 
position and cash flows for the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District.  The business and property of the 
District are managed by the Board of Directors who are empowered to sign contracts, documents, checks 
and other instruments for the payment of money.  They also set the budget and establish all fees and 
assessment charges for the District.   

 
B. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District funds are accounted for on an accrual basis in order to recognize the 
flow of economic resources.  Under this basis, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are 
earned, expenses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred, depreciation of assets is 
recognized, and all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the District are included in the 
Statement of Net Position.     

 
C. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 

The basic requirements for the budget process are as follows: 
 

1. Formulation of subsequent year budget requirements by internal District officials and personnel. 
2. Perusal of formulated budgets by District officials. 
3. Presentation of preliminary and final budget requirements in formal news media of the District. 
4. Open hearings to permit taxpayer input before such budgets are formally adopted. 

 
Subsequent control of the budget following adoption is accomplished through a budget-expenditures 
control system with interim status accounting and reporting made available to officials and employees for 
management purposes.  Budgets are adopted on the cash basis of accounting. 

 
D. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets include District owned land, buildings, improvements, and equipment used in the operation 
of the District.  Depreciation is recognized by the District on assets on a straight-line basis with lives 
ranging from 3 to 50 years.  The following limits for capitalization have been established by management: 
electrical equipment over $4,000, mechanical equipment over $20,000, other equipment over $10,000, 
buildings, improvements, and land over $50,000, infrastructure over $250,000, or other significant assets as 
determined by management. 
 

E. COMPENSATED ABSENCES AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 Accumulated unpaid vacation and other employee benefits are accrued when incurred in proprietary funds 

on the accrual basis of accounting.  A liability for unpaid vacation and accrued wages of $33,209 was 
recorded as of September 30, 2023. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023  
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

F. ENCUMBRANCE ACCOUNTING 
Encumbrance accounting methods were not used in the preparation of the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer 
District’s financial statements. Uncommitted appropriations lapse at year-end and commitments are 
reappropriated in next year’s budget. 

 
G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as bank demand deposit 
accounts, short term liquid certificates of deposit, and short-term investments. 

 
H. REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

In proprietary fund accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the 
related liability is incurred. 
 
The principal revenues of the District are assessment fees.  Operating expenses for the District include the 
costs of maintaining the wastewater treatment system, administration, and depreciation on capital assets.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
When an expenditure or expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted resources 
are available, the District generally uses restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources. 
 

I. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/DEFERRED INFLOWS 
On the Statement of Net Position, there is a separate section of deferred outflows of resources.  This separate 
financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources until then. 
 
In addition, there is also a separate financial statement section for deferred inflows.  This financial statement 
element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized until that time. 
 

J. PENSIONS 
 For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 

position of the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions 
to/deductions from the Base Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
report by the Base Plan.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair 
value. 
 

K. USE OF ESTIMATES 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023  
 
 
 
2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
     Cash deposits and investments by the District as of September 30, 2023, totaled $11,623,700, of which 

$2,324,407 represented demand deposits including cash on hand and $9,299,293 represented investments.  
 

Deposits 
At year end, the carrying amount of the District’s deposits in financial institutions was $2,324,407 and the bank 
balance was $2,205,649. The amount not covered by FDIC insurance was $1,955,649. 
 
Investments 
The fair value of the District’s investments at year end was $9,299,293.  The amount not covered by SIPC or 
FDIC insurance was $8,797,593. 
 
The deposits by the District are not collateralized nor are they required to be by Idaho State statute. The District 
follows the requirements of the Idaho Public Depository Law (Idaho Code Section, Title 57-111), and applicable 
investment rights and restrictions cited by Idaho Code Section, Title 67, 67-1210, 67-1210A, and Idaho Code 
Section, Title 50, 50-1013. 
 
At year end, the District had the following investments and maturities: 

    Investment Maturities 
(in Years) 

  

Investment 
Type 

  
Fair Value 

  
< 1 

  
1 - 5 

  
> 5 

 
Rating 

 
Percent 

           
US Treasury $ 9,297,593 $ 9,297,593 $ - $ - Aaa 99.9% 

Money Market  1,700  1,700  -  - N/A .1% 

           

Total Investments $ 9,299,293 $ 9,299,293 $ - $ -  100.0% 

 
The District has a written investment policy addressing credit risk, custodial credit risk, concentration of credit 
risk and interest risk.  The District minimizes credit risk by limiting the investments to the safest types of 
securities, pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and advisers, and by 
diversifying the investment portfolio.  The District minimizes custodial credit risk by limiting the investments to 
financial institutions and broker/dealers who have proof of National Association of Securities Dealers 
certification, State of Idaho proof of registration, and are willing to provide certification of having read and 
understood and agree to comply with the District’s investment policy.   

 
Concentration of credit risk is limited by diversifying its investments by security type and institution.  With the 
exception of U.S. Treasury securities and authorized pools, no more than 50% of the total investment portfolio 
will be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution. The District’s investment policy 
reduces interest risk by structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements 
for ongoing operations and investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, money market mutual 
funds, or similar investment pools. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023  
 
 
 
2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value accounting guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair value 
guidance also establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires a government to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.  Based on the inputs used to 
determine fair value, a three-level hierarchy is used as follows: 
 

 Level 1: fair value is determined using quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active 
markets that the government can access at the measurement date. 

 Level 2: fair value is determined using inputs – other than quoted prices included within Level 1 – that are 
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not 
active and inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data. 

 Level 3: fair value is determined using unobservable inputs for an asset or liability and requires the 
government to develop its own assumptions, based on the best information available in the circumstances, 
about the considerations market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

 
The following table represents the City’s investments that are measured or disclosed at fair value on a recurring 
basis.  The City does not have any financial assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 
 
 Fair Value Hierarchy   
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 
Debt Securities         

US Treasury notes $ 9,297,593 $ - $ - $ 9,297,593 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
3.  CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
The following assets included in buildings, equipment and infrastructure have been entered at historical cost 
from depreciation records.  Changes in capital assets for the year ended September 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

  Balance 
10-01-2022 

  
Additions 

  
Deletions 

 Balance 
09-30-2023 

Capital assets, not being depreciated 
     Land $ 1,975,776 $ - $ - $ 1,975,776 
     Easements 239,200 - - 239,200 
     Construction in progress 5,248,518 2,015,672 (4,324,470) 2,939,720 
     
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 7,463,494 2,015,672 (4,324,470) 5,154,696 
     
Capital assets, being depreciated     
     Equipment 4,006,004 4,590,761                                - 8,596,765 
     Buildings and improvements 12,898,883 62,835 - 12,961,718 
     Infrastructure 31,916,973 - - 31,916,973 
    
Total capital assets, being depreciated 48,821,860 4,653,596                             - 53,475,456 
    
Less accumulated depreciation for    
     Equipment (2,247,039) (550,417) - (2,247,039)
     Buildings and improvements (6,609,179) (518,469) - (6,609,179)
     Infrastructure (10,649,693) (876,198) - (10,649,693)
  
Total accumulated depreciation (19,505,911) (1,945,084) - (21,450,891)
  
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 29,315,949 2,708,512                 32,024,461 
    
Total capital assets, net $ 36,779,443 $ 4,724,184 $ (4,324,470) $ 37,179,157 

 
 
Depreciation expense for the year ended September 30, 2023 was $1,945,084. 

 
4.  PENSION PLAN 

 
Plan Description 
 
The District contributes to the Base Plan, which is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI or System) that covers substantially all 
employees of the State of Idaho, its agencies and various participating political subdivisions.  The cost to 
administer the plan is financed through the contributions and investment earnings of the plan.  PERSI issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information 
for PERSI.  That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at www.persi.idaho.gov. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 
4.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

Responsibility for administration of the Base Plan is assigned to the Board comprised of five members appointed 
by the Governor and confirmed by the Idaho Senate.  State law requires that two members of the Board be active 
Base Plan members with at least ten years of service and three members who are Idaho citizens not members of 
the Base Plan except by reason of having served on the Board. 
 
Pension Benefits 
 
The Base Plan provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits of eligible members or beneficiaries.  
Benefits are based on members’ years of service, age, and highest average salary.  Members become fully vested 
in their retirement benefits with five years of credited service (5 months for elected or appointed officials).  
Members are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their employment 
classification.  The annual service retirement allowance for each month of credited service is 2.0% (2.3% for 
police/firefighters) of the average monthly salary for the highest consecutive 42 months.   
 
The benefit payments for the Base Plan are calculated using a benefit formula adopted by the Idaho Legislature.  
The Base Plan is required to provide a 1% minimum cost of living increase per year provided the Consumer 
Price Index increases 1% or more.  The PERSI Board has the authority to provide higher cost of living increases 
to a maximum of the Consumer Price Index movement of 6%, whichever is less; however, any amount above the 
1% minimum is subject to review by the Idaho Legislature. 
 
Member and Employer Contributions 
 
Member and employer contributions paid to the Base Plan are set by statute and are established as a percent of 
covered compensation.  Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limitations, as defined by 
state law.  The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee contribution rates (expressed as 
percentages of annual covered payroll) that are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due. 
 
The contribution rates for employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for general employees and 
74% for police and firefighters.  As of June 30, 2023, it was 7.16% for general employees and 9.13% for police 
and firefighters.  The employer contribution rate of covered payroll is set by the Retirement Board and was 
11.94% for general employees and 12.28% for police and firefighters.  The District’s contributions were $29,551 
for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At September 30, 2023, the District reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  
The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to calculate the 
net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The District’s proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on the District’s share of contributions in the Base Plan pension plan relative to the 
total contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan employers.  At June 30, 2023, the District’s proportion 
was .00582081 percent. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 
4.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2023, the District recognized pension expense/(revenue) of $64,345. At 
September 30, 2023, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
  Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

     
Differences between expected and actual experience $                    39,816 $ - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs                    23,002  - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
   pension plan investments 

                         
21,804 

  
                  -              

Changes in the employer’s proportion and differences 
  between the employer’s contributions and the 
  employer’s proportionate contributions 

  
 

        9,307 

  
 

 - 
District’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date   

                    6,725 
  

- 
     
Total $                  100,654 $ - 

 
$6,725 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Employer contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ending September 30, 2023. 

 
The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through the 
System (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2023, the beginning of the measurement period 
ended June 30, 2022 is 4.6 and 4.4 for the measurement period June 30,2023. 

 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expenses/(revenue) as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:   
   
2024 $ 30,093 
2025  14,142 
2026      43,992 
2027       (3,606) 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups.  Level percentages of 
payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method.  Under the Entry Age Normal 
Cost Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial 
valuation is allocated as a level percentage of each year’s earnings of the individual between entry age and 
assumed exit age.  The Base Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued liability based on a level percentage 
of payroll.  The maximum amortization period for the Base Plan permitted under Section 59-1322, Idaho Code, 
is 25 years. 



 

14 
 

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
4.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
  
Inflation 2.30% 
Salary increases 3.05% 
Salary inflation 3.05% 
Investment rate of return (net of investment expenses) 6.35% 
Net Cost-of-living adjustments 1.00% 
 
Contributing Members, Service Retirement Members, and Beneficiaries 
General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Males Pub-2010 General Tables, increased 11% 
General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Females Pub-2010 General Tables, increased 21% 
Teachers – Males Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 12% 
Teachers – Females Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 21% 
Fire & Police – Males Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 21% 
Fire & Police – Females Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 26% 
Disabled Members – Males Pub-2010 Disable Tables, increased 38% 
Disabled Members – Females Pub-2010 Disable Tables, increased 36% 
 
An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2020 which reviewed all 
economic and demographic assumptions including mortality.  The total pension liability as of June 30, 2023 is 
based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2023. 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using the building block 
approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real 
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
 
Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return assumption, the System 
relies primarily on the approach which builds upon the latest capital market assumptions.  Specifically, the 
System uses consultants, investment managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in analyzing 
the System’s asset allocation. The assumptions and the System’s formal policy for asset allocation are shown 
below.  The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more conservative than the current allocation of System’s 
assets. 
 
The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to 
expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions 
are as of 2023. 

 
Asset Class 2023 
Cash 0.00% 
Fixed Income 30.00% 
US/Global Equity 55.00% 
International Equity 15.00% 
  
Total 100.00% 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 

 
4.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.05%.  The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rate.  Based on these assumptions, the pension plans’ net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability.  The long-term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment expense 
but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense. 
 
Sensitivity of the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. 
 
The following presents the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.35%, as well as what the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be 
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.35%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(7.35%) than the current rate: 
 
 
 

 
1% Decrease 

(5.35%) 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.35%) 

 
1% Increase 

(7.35%) 
Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) 

 
$417,782 

 
$232,289 

 
$80,684 

 
Pension plan fiduciary net position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued PERSI 
financial report. 
 
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI.  That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at 
www.persi.idaho.gov. 
 
Payables to the pension plan 
 
At September 30, 2023, the District reported payables to the defined benefit pension plan of $0 for legally 
required employer contributions and $0 for legally required employee contributions which had been withheld 
from employee wages but not yet remitted to PERSI. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 

 
5.  LONG-TERM DEBT 

 
Melaleuca, Inc. paid for some of the infrastructure development of the Northern Interceptor section of the 
District’s infrastructure.  The District entered into an agreement with Melaleuca, Inc. to reimburse them for 
$745,000 of the costs. This is a non interest bearing agreement.  These payments are to be collected from 50% of 
all connection fees the District collects for new connections to the Northern Interceptor section of the 
infrastructure.  As of September 30, 2023, there is a remaining liability balance of $550,971 payable to 
Melaleuca, Inc. of which, $56,390 is due within the next fiscal year. 
 
During the year ended September 30, 2023, the following changes occurred in long-term debt: 
   

Balance 
10-01-2022 

  
 

Additions 

  
 

Reductions 

  
Balance 

09/30/2023 

 Amounts 
due within 
one year 

           
Compensated absences $ 22,583 $ 10,626 $ - $ 33,209 $ 33,209 
Melaleuca note payable  541,346  9,625  -  550,971  56,390 
Net pension liability (Asset) 203,619  28,670  -  232,289  - 
           
Total $ 767,548 $ 48,921 $ - $ 816,469 $ 89,599 

 
6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
      

The District has not been directly involved in related party transactions that would violate the Idaho Code or 
Federal Regulations. 

 
7. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of this report.   

 
8.  MATERIAL VIOLATION OF FINANCE-RELATED LEGAL AND CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS 

 
There are no known violations of direct finance-related legal and contractual provisions. 
 

9.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The District is exposed to various risks related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and 
omissions, and natural disasters.  The District’s risk management program encompasses various means of 
protecting the District against loss by obtaining property, casualty, and liability coverage through commercial 
insurance carriers. 

 
10. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

 There are no claims against the District at September 30, 2023 that would expose the District beyond amounts 
covered by insurance. 

 
11. INVENTORY 
 

Inventory is stated on a cost basis determined by the first-in-first-out (FIFO) method. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 
12. NOTE RECEIVABLE 
 
 During the 2019 fiscal year, the District made an agreement with the City of Ammon to allow them to pay for 

connections fees in the amount of $800,800 from an apartment complex development in four equal annual 
payments.  The first payment of $200,200 was received in June 2019, the second in October 2019, and the third 
in October of 2020.  The final payment of $200,200 was paid in the current fiscal year in October 2022. 

 
13. CREATION OF SEWER DISTRICT  
 
 On May 17, 2022, a ballot measure was approved to create a new sewer district to take over and replace the 

existing Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (EIRWWA) entity. EIRWWA was organized through a joint 
powers agreement between the City of Ammon, the City of Shelley, Bingham County, and Bonneville County. 

 
  The new sewer district was officially organized with a new board put in place on August 16, 2022. The financial 

information will be transferred from EIRWWA to the new district, Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District 
(EIRSD) along with all assets and liabilities. The new district will have the authority to bond and will transfer 
and be responsible for the existing debt now held by the cities of Ammon and Shelley. Operations will continue 
as in the past. Financial records were for the most part kept under EIRWWA through the current fiscal year. The 
decision was made to audit and report the financial information as EIRWWA up to the end of September 30, 
2023, at which time all assets and liabilities will be transferred to the new entity for financial reporting purposes. 
This decision allows continuity of reporting for trend analysis and future comparison as the operations are 
ongoing without substantial changes. 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER'S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
PERSI - BASE PLAN
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Fiscal Year

Employer's 
portion of net 

pension 
liability

Employer's 
proportionate 
share of the 
net pension 

liability

Employer's 
covered 

employee 
payroll

Employer's 
proportional 
share of the 
net pension 
liability as a 

percentage of 
its covered 

payroll

Plan fiduciary 
net position as 
a percentage 
of the total 

pension 
liability

2015 0.00604140% 79,555 169,219 47.01% 91.38%
2016 0.00601100% 121,852 175,799 69.31% 87.26%
2017 0.00577400% 90,757 179,335 50.61% 90.68%
2018 0.00549570% 81,063 176,816 45.85% 91.69%
2019 0.00529660% 60,459 179,894 33.61% 93.79%
2020 0.00520310% 120,823 185,641 65.08% 88.22%
2021 0.00524704% (4,144) 195,812 -2.12% 100.36%
2022 0.00516962% 203,619 203,865 99.88% 83.09%
2023 0.00582081% 232,289 257,547 90.19% 83.83%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full
trend is compiled, the Authority will present information for those years for which information is available.

Data reported is measured as of June 30.

PERSI BASE PLAN
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
PERSI - BASE PLAN
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Fiscal Year

Statutorily 
Required 

Contribution

Contribution 
in Relation to 
the Statutorily 

Required 
Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

Covered 
Payroll

Contribution 
as a % of 
Covered 
Payroll

2015 $ 19,393         $ 19,393         $ -                  $ 171,311        11.32%
2016 $ 20,684         $ 20,684         $ -                  $ 182,716        11.32%
2017 $ 20,138         $ 20,138         $ -                  $ 177,900        11.32%
2018 $ 20,150         $ 20,150         $ -                  $ 178,005        11.32%
2019 $ 20,759         $ 20,759         $ -                  $ 181,117        11.46% 1

2020 $ 22,720         $ 22,720         $ -                  $ 190,282        11.94%
2021 $ 23,185         $ 23,185         $ -                  $ 194,183        11.94%
2022 $ 25,273         $ 25,273         $ -                  $ 211,665        11.94%
2023 $ 30,403         $ 30,403         $ -                  $ 257,770        11.79% 2

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full
trend is compiled, the Authority will present information for those years for which information is available.

Data reported is measured as of September 30.

1 Contribution rates increase, effective for payroll periods beginning on or after July 1, 2019.
2 Contribution rates decrease, effective for payroll periods beginning on or after July 1, 2023.

PERSI BASE PLAN
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  
PERSI-BASE PLAN 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
Methods and Assumptions Used in Calculations of Actuarily Determined Contributions  
 
The actuarially determined contribution rates in the employer’s contributions are calculated as of June 30, 2023.  
The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine contribution rates reported in that 
schedule. 
 
 PERSI  

Base Plan 
Valuation date June 30, 2023 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 
Amortization method Level percentage of 

projected payroll open 
Remaining amortization period 13.5 years 
Asset valuation method Fair Market value 
  
Actuarial assumptions:  
Investment Rate of Return * 6.35% 
Projected salary increases including inflation 3.05% 
Postretirement benefit increase 1.00% 
Implied price inflation rate 2.30% 
Discount Rate – Actuarial Accrued Liability 6.35% 
 
* net of investment expenses 
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

BUDGETARY
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS

REVENUES
Fees and fines $ -                       $ -                       $ 88                        
Licenses and permits -                       -                       12,600                 
Intergovernmental 140,000               140,000               1,011,122            
Charges for services 1,423,231            1,423,231            4,643,109            
Investment earnings -                       -                       286,429               
Miscellaneous -                       -                       11,194                 

TOTAL REVENUE 1,563,231            1,563,231            5,964,542            

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government -                       -                       -                       
Public safety -                       -                       -                       
Public works 25,147,231          25,147,231          3,985,467            
Health and sanitation -                       -                       -                       
Conservation/economic development -                       -                       -                       
Education -                       -                       -                       

Debt service:
Principal -                       -                       -                       
Interest and other charges -                       -                       -                       

Capital outlay -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 25,147,231          25,147,231          3,985,467            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (23,584,000)         (23,584,000)         1,979,075            

Grant revenue (capital contributions) -                       -                       -                       
Gain (Loss) on sale of assets -                       -                       -                       

Net change in fund balances (23,584,000)         (23,584,000)         1,979,075            

Net Position, October 1, 2022 44,659,093          44,659,093          44,659,093          

NET POSITION, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 21,075,093          $ 21,075,093          $ 46,638,168          

BUDGETED AMOUNTS
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GAAP GAAP
DIFFERENCES BASIS

$ -                       $ 88                        
-                       12,600                 

(27,775)                983,347
-                       4,643,109            
-                       286,429
-                       11,194                 

(27,775)                5,936,767            

-                       -                       
-                       -                       

(364,076)              3,621,391            
-                       -                       
-                       -                       
-                       -                       
-                       
-                       -                       
-                       -                       
-                       -                       

(364,076)              3,621,391            

336,301               2,315,376            

-                       -                       
-                       -                       

336,301               2,315,376            

-                       44,659,093          

$ 336,301               $ 46,974,469          
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EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
 
1. The budget was adopted on the cash basis of accounting 

 
2. Higher operating expenses may be reflected on the GAAP basis if equipment was purchased at year-end with a 

partial payment budgeted in the current year and an account payable booked to reflect the final payment in the 
subsequent year’s budget. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
The Honorable Board of Directors 
Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District – State of Idaho 
Shelley, Idaho 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of the Eastern Idaho Regional 
Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, as listed in the table of 
contents, and have issued our report thereon dated January 16, 2024. 
  
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Shelley, Idaho’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.   
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control, as defined above, that we consider to be a material weakness.  
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests did not disclose any instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 

 
Idaho Falls, Idaho 
January 16, 2024 
 



44 

APPENDIX C 
City of Shelley 2023 Annual Audit 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

             CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
SHELLEY, IDAHO 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
and 

COMPLIANCE REPORTS 
with  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Item Page No.

Independent Auditor's Report

FINANCIAL SECTION
Management's Discussion and Analysis 1 - 6

Statement of Net Position 7 - 8

Statement of Activities 9 - 10

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 11 - 12

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement
of Net Position 13

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 
Governmental Funds 14 - 15

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 16

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund Types 17 - 18

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position - 
Proprietary Fund Types 19 - 20

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 21 - 22

Statement of Net Position - Fiduciary Fund Types 23

Statement of Changes in Net Position - Fiduciary Fund Types 24

Index to Notes to the Financial Statements 25

Notes to the Financial Statements 26 - 45

Index to the Notes to the Financial Statements - Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area 46

Notes to the Financial Statements - Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area 47 - 53



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Item Page No.
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - General Fund 54 - 55

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - Street Fund 56 - 57

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - State Revenue Sharing Fund 58 - 59

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - Bond Repayment Fund 60 - 61

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - ARPA Fund 62 - 63

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information -Budget and Actual 64

Budget and Actual (With Budget to GAAP Differences) - Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area 65 - 66

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information -Budget and Actual - 
Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area 67

Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability - Persi - Base Plan 68

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Persi - Base Plan 69

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information - Persi - Base Plan 70

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Combining Balance Sheet - Special Revenue Funds - Nonmajor 71

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Special Revenue Funds - Nonmajor 72

Combining Balance Sheet - Debt Service Funds - Nonmajor 73

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 
Debt Service Funds - Nonmajor 74

Combining Balance Sheet - Proprietary Funds - Nonmajor 75

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 
Proprietary Funds - Nonmajor 76

Combining Balance Sheet - Fiduciary Fund Types - Private Purpose Trust Funds 77

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Fiduciary Fund Types - Private Purpose Trust Funds 78

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Statements and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Basic Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
with Government Auditing Standards 79 - 80



 

 

 
 
  
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Shelley - State of Idaho 
Shelley, Idaho 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund balances of the City of 
Shelley, Idaho, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023 and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Shelley, Idaho, as of September 30, 2023, and the respective changes in 
financial position and cash flows, where applicable, for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of City of Shelley, Idaho, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Shelley’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may 
raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 



 

   

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the 
financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
City of Shelley’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about City of Shelley’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 
identified during the audit. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require supplementary information, such 
as management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and pension related schedules be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
response to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.   
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City of Shelley’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. 
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 



 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 12, 2023, on our 
consideration of City of Shelley, Idaho's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 
 

 
 
Idaho Falls, Idaho 
March 12, 2024 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
This discussion and analysis of the City of Shelley, Idaho’s (City) financial performance provides an overall review 
of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.  The intent of the discussion and analysis 
is to look at the City’s financial performance as a whole.  Readers should also review the basic financial statements to 
enhance their understanding of the City’s financial performance. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The assets plus deferred outflows of the City exceeded its liabilities plus deferred inflows at the close of the 
fiscal year 2023 by $12,167,010 (net position).  The City had a negative governmental unrestricted net 
position of $277,282 at year end due to the City’s debt associated with the regional wastewater facility. 

 The City’s total net position increased by $1,541,803 in comparison with the prior year mainly due to capital 
improvements. 

 As of the close of the fiscal year 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $4,953,087, an increase of $832,426 in comparison with the prior year.  Approximately 
$1,422,985 of this total amount is available for spending at the City’s discretion (unassigned fund balance). 

 At the end of the fiscal year 2023, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $1,422,985. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
The financial section of this annual report consists of three parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the basic 
financial statements, and the required supplementary information.  The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is 
intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s 
finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and 
deferred inflows, with the difference between them reported as net position.  Over time, increase or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most recent 
fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some 
items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned, but unused personal 
leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by 
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all 
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and changes (business-type activities). 
 
The governmental activities of the City of Shelley include general government, public safety, streets, parks and 
recreation, building and animal control.  The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer, and sanitation. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Shelley itself (known as the primary 
government), but also, the legally separate Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area (CCRURA), for which the City 
is financially accountable.  Financial information of these component units are reported separately from the financial 
information presented for the primary government itself.  The water, sewer, and sanitation services function as 
departments of the City and have been included as an integral part of the primary government. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for 
specific activities or objectives.  The City of Shelley, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to 
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City of Shelley 
can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds:  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, 
as well as balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in 
evaluating the City’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is 
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand the 
long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet and 
the government fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City of Shelley maintains four major individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
government fund statements for the General, Street, State Revenue Sharing and the Bond Repayment funds which 
meet the criteria for major governmental funds.  Governmental funds considered non-major are aggregated in a single 
column on the government fund statements. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all of its funds.  Budgetary comparison statements have been 
provided to demonstrate compliance with the budget for the major governmental funds. 
 
Proprietary Funds:  Proprietary funds are used to account for business-type activities such as internal service funds 
and enterprise funds.  The City of Shelley maintains enterprise funds.  Enterprise funds are used to report the same 
functions as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The City of Shelley uses these 
funds to account for its water, sewer, and sanitation operations. 
 
Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail.  The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the water, 
sewer, and sanitation, each of which are considered to be major funds of the City.  All non-major proprietary funds 
are aggregated in a single column on the proprietary Statement of Net Position. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements:  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  In the 
case of the City, assets plus deferred outflows exceeded liabilities plus deferred inflows by $12,167,010 as of 
September 30, 2023. 
 
A large portion of the City’s net position is reflected in its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, infrastructure, 
buildings, machinery, and equipment).  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, 
these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net 
of related debt, if any, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt, if any, must be provided from 
other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate those liabilities. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the City’s net position for 2023 compared to 2022: 
 

  2023  2022 
Assets:     
   Current and other assets $ 10,576,146 $ 9,110,452 
   Capital assets (net of depreciation)  6,706,282  6,795,769 
     
      Total assets  17,282,428  15,906,221 
     
Deferred outflows:  541,720  652,190 
     
Liabilities:     
   Current and other liabilities  626,157  592,620 
   Long-term liabilities  5,030,981  5,335,128 
     
      Total liabilities  5,657,138  5,927,748 
     
Deferred inflows:  -  5,456 
     
Net position:     
   Net investment in capital assets  6,698,710  6,787,408 
   Restricted  964,898  763,394 
   Unrestricted  4,503,402  3,074,405 
     
      Total net position $ 12,167,010 $ 10,625,207 

 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City was able to report positive balances in two of the three categories of net 
position, for the government as a whole.  The governmental-type activities had a negative net position due to the debt 
associated with the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District (EIRSD).  The assets for the wastewater project were 
transferred to EIRSD; however, the debt remains an obligation of the City. 
 
The restricted portion of the City’s net position, $964,898 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions 
on how they may be used. 
 
 
 
 



 

4 

 

CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
The net position of the City, as a whole, increased $1,541,803 from $10,625,207 at September 30, 2022 to $12,167,010 
at September 30, 2023.   
 
Governmental Activities:  Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $1,064,261.  A decrease in the 
long-term liabilities and an increase in the restricted cash were the main reasons for this increase. 
 
Business-type Activities:  Business-type operating activities increased the City’s net position by $477,542.  The City’s 
business-type revenues increased more than their expenses increased, resulting in an increase in net position. 
 
The following table shows the changes in net position for the fiscal years 2023 and 2022: 
 

   
2023 

Governmental 
Activities 

  
2022 

Governmental 
Activities 

 2023 
Business-

Type 
Activities 

 2022 
Business-

Type 
Activities 

Revenue:         
  Program revenue:         
    Fees, fines & charges for services $ 293,426 $ 366,545 $ 2,491,719 $ 2,399,793 
    Operating grants & contributions  388,170  347,460  -  29,397 
    Capital grants & contributions  300,000  368,000  55,000  - 
  General revenues:         
    Property taxes  1,320,647  1,241,031  -  - 
    Assessments for debt service  688,854  669,980  -  - 
    Franchise taxes  150,800  151,988  -  - 
    Public services taxes  374,281  341,981  -  - 
    Grants/contributions, unrestricted  254,903  250,057  -  - 
    Unrestricted investment earnings  215,311  (289,062)  12,628  (19,055) 
    Miscellaneous  191,398  97,428  7,214  6,643 
    Gain (loss) on sale of assets  -  2,779  -  - 
    Capital distributions  -  (840,000)  -  - 
    Transfers  (5,802)  (35,624)  5,802  35,624 
         
      Total Revenue and Transfers  4,171,988  2,672,563  2,572,363  2,452,402 
         
Expenses:         
  General government  670,040  578,577  -  - 
  Public safety  1,285,601  1,016,115  -  - 
  Public works/streets  740,113  1,155,816  -  - 
  Health, welfare and sanitation  -  -  -  - 
  Culture and recreation  332,884  349,583  -  - 
  Interest on long-term debt  79,089  80,611  -  - 
  Water  -  -  754,200  525,720 
  Sewer  -  -  850,653  770,191 
  Sanitation  -  -  478,329  493,093 
Other business type funds  -  -  11,639  - 

         
      Total expenses  3,107,727  3,180,702  2,094,821  1,789,004 
         
Change in net position $ 1,064,261 $ (508,139) $ 477,542 $ 633,398 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds:  The City uses governmental funds to provide information on near-term receipts, disbursements, 
and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements.  In 
particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s net resources available for spending 
at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of September 30, 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $4,953,087, an 
increase of $832,426 in comparison with the prior year.  Approximately 28% of this total amount, $1,422,985, 
constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the City’s discretion.  The remainder of fund 
balance is restricted, committed, or assigned to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already 
been obligated for a variety of restricted purposes. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  At September 30, 2023, the fund balance of the General 
Fund was $1,422,985, while total fund balance was $4,953,087.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may 
be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total expenditures.  The General Fund’s 
fund balance is 42% of the annual expenditures while total governmental fund balance is 149% of total expenditures. 
 
The fund balance of the City’s General Fund increased by $25,211 during the current fiscal year.  The main factor of 
the increase was an increase in investment earnings. 
 
Proprietary Funds:  The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
The Water, Sewer, and Sanitation funds at September 30, 2023, had a combined net position of $8,423,629.  The total 
increase in net position for the funds was $477,542.  Other factors concerning the finances of these funds have already 
been addressed in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities. 
 
Budgetary Highlights:  The City did not amend the 2022 – 2023 budget. 
 

   
 

Budgeted 

 Expended -
Budgetary 

Basis 

General Fund $ 3,327,767 $ 1,981,600 
Street Fund  1,552,773  644,000 
Revenue Sharing Fund  1,087,005  109,405 
Bond Repayment Fund  684,739  487,350 
ARPA Fund  592,620  - 
Other Special Revenue Funds  198,498  61,994 
Other Debt Service Funds  686,660  - 
Sanitation Fund  989,715  443,043 
Water Fund  1,962,868  618,854 
Sewer Fund  1,751,905  796,231 

     
Total Expenditures/Expenses $ 12,834,550 $ 5,162,477 

 
The above amounts include transfers, but exclude the change in fair value of the City’s investments because changes 
in fair value of the City’s investments are reflected in revenues. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets:  The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of 
September 30, 2023, was $6,706,282 (net of accumulated depreciation).  Capital assets include land, water rights, 
infrastructure, buildings, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, and when applicable, 
construction in process. 
 
The major capital transactions during the year were, a building inspector vehicle, improvements to the Senior Citizen 
building and City Hall. Street improvement projects for N. Park, S. Byron, S. Park, and Milton streets. Well projects 
and continuing work on the water system updates. Additional information about the City’s capital assets can be found 
in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Debt Administration:  In 2011, the City incurred $8,000,000 in loans payable related to the EIRSD project.  The City 
has continued paying the DEQ loan payment regarding this note and paid $409,495 of principle and $78,766 of paid 
and accrued interest during the fiscal year.  The outstanding balance as of September 30, 2023 was $3,586,891. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
The City is continually trying to recruit new business to our area.  The Golden Valley Natural Plant opened in May of 
2015 and brings over 300 employees to our area.  Currently they are designing a wastewater pre-treatment facility 
which will allow the company to expand.  Our tax base has increased substantially, but has been mainly due to the 
residential growth that has occurred.  The largest employers in the City are Golden Valley Natural and the Shelley 
School District. 
 
We have had major construction of residential homes and twin homes in the city.  Three new subdivisions with various 
phases have been or are being added to the city.  Once all of the phases have been built out it will increase the 
residential units by 719 homes.  Building has slowed down mainly due to the unavailability of ERU’s through the East 
Idaho Regional Sewer District.  EIRSD is currently designing the improvements needed to increase the availability of 
ERU’s to allow continued growth. 
 
COMPONENT UNITS 
 
The financial statements include the Shelley Urban Renewal Agency and the Country Club Road Urban Renewal 
Area, component units of the City.  The financial statements for urban renewal areas are available at the City office.  
The Shelley Urban Renewal Area was established in 1998 and then amended in 2011.  It was retired in November of 
2013, and has been closed out.   
 
Another urban renewal area known as the Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area was established in October of 
2013. This urban renewal area encompasses Golden Valley Natural.  A TIF was established to reimburse this business 
for public infrastructure they expended.  This TIF should be paid off by July of 2021.  The URA plan was amended 
to create another TIF to help Golden Valley with an environmental concern which is disposal of their waste water.  
This new TIF will expire in about eight years. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
The financial reports are designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an interest in 
the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional information should be addressed to Sandy Gaydusek, City Clerk/Treasurer, City of Shelley, 101 South 
Emerson Avenue, Shelley, Idaho, 83274. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2023

Business- Urban Renewal
Governmental type Component

Activities Activities Total Units
ASSETS

Cash and investments $ 4,352,219    $ 4,850,645     $ 9,202,864        $ 482,547
Taxes receivable 57,147         -                    57,147             -                     
Receivables 14,674         24,220          38,894             -                     
Due from other funds -                   -                    -                       -                     
Due from other governmental

agencies 241,743       -                    241,743           -                     
Inventories -                   -                    -                       -                     
Prepaid expenses -                   70,600          70,600             -                     
Restricted cash and investments 964,898       -                    964,898           -                     

Capital Assets
Land and other assets not

being depreciated 792,088       444,915        1,237,003        -                     
Construction in progress -                   -                    -                       -                     
Infrastructure 2,707,079    5,039,076     7,746,155        -                     
Buildings 1,178,698    320,449        1,499,147        -                     
Equipment and furniture 1,542,180    1,280,859     2,823,039        -                     
Less: accumulated depreciation (3,156,708)   (3,442,354)    (6,599,062)       -                     

Total Capital Assets 3,063,337    3,642,945     6,706,282        -                     

TOTAL ASSETS 8,694,018    8,588,410     17,282,428      482,547          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS - Pension $ 446,106       $ 95,614          $ 541,720           $ -                     

7 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Business- Urban Renewal
Governmental type Component

Activities Activities Total Units
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses $ 33,538         $ -                    $ 33,538             $ -                     

Due to other governmental 
agencies 592,619       -                    592,619           -                     

Due to other funds -                   -                    -                       -                     
Long-term liabilities

Due within one year
Bonds, capital leases and contracts, net

of unamortized bond costs 417,527       -                    417,527           -                     
Accrued interest 7,572           -                    7,572               -                     
Compensated absences 60,259         17,589          77,848             -                     
Claims and judgments -                   -                    -                       -                     

Due in more than one year
Bonds, capital leases and contracts, net

of unamortized bond costs 3,169,364    -                    3,169,364        -                     
Accrued interest -                   -                    -                       -                     
Compensated absences 37,742         11,733          49,475             -                     
Net pension liability 1,078,122    231,073        1,309,195        -                     

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,396,743    260,395        5,657,138        -                     

DEFERRED INFLOWS - Pension -                   -                    -                       -                     

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 3,055,765    3,642,945     6,698,710        -                     
Restricted for:

Capital projects -                   -                    -                       -                     
Debt service 964,898       -                    964,898           -                     
Other projects -                   -                    -                       482,547          

Unrestricted (277,282)      4,780,684     4,503,402        -                     

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 3,743,381    $ 8,423,629     $ 12,167,010      $ 482,547          

8



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government

Governmental activities:
General government $ 670,040       $ 178,488       $ 4,225           $ -                   
Public safety 1,285,601    -                   55,829         -                   
Public works 740,113       -                   328,116       300,000       
Health, welfare and sanitation -                   -                   -                   -                   
Culture and recreation 332,884       114,938       -                   -                   
Education -                   -                   -                   -                   
Interest on long-term debt 79,089         -                   -                   -                   

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 3,107,727    293,426       388,170       300,000       

Business-type activities:
Sanitation 478,329       558,001       -                   -                   
Water 754,200       696,596       -                   30,000         
Sewer 850,653       1,026,303    -                   25,000         
Other business-type activities 11,639         210,819       -                   -                   

TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 2,094,821    2,491,719    -                   55,000         

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT $ 5,202,548    $ 2,785,145    $ 388,170       $ 355,000       

TOTAL COMPONENT UNITS $ 16,104         $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

General revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Assessments for debt service
Franchise taxes
Public service taxes

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Unrestricted investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Special item  - gain (loss) on sale of asset
Special item - capital distributions
Transfers

TOTAL GENERAL REVENUES, SPECIAL ITEMS, 
AND TRANSFERS

Change in net position

Net Position, October 1, 2022

NET POSITION, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Program Revenue

9 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Business- Urban Renewal
Governmental type Component

Activities Activities Total Units

$ (487,327)      $ (487,327)      
(1,229,772)   (1,229,772)   

(111,997)      (111,997)      
-                   -                   

(217,946)      (217,946)      
-                   -                   

(79,089)        (79,089)        

(2,126,131)   (2,126,131)   

$ 79,672         79,672         
(27,604)        (27,604)        
200,650       200,650       
199,180       199,180       

451,898       451,898       

(2,126,131)   451,898       (1,674,233)   

$ (16,104)        

1,320,647    -                   1,320,647    191,211       
688,854       -                   688,854       -                   
150,800       -                   150,800       -                   
374,281       -                   374,281       -                   
254,903       -                   254,903       -                   
215,311       12,628         227,939       -                   
191,398       7,214           198,612       -                   

-                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   

(5,802)          5,802           -                   -                   

3,190,392    25,644         3,216,036    191,211       

1,064,261    477,542       1,541,803    175,107       

2,679,120    7,946,087    10,625,207  307,440       

$ 3,743,381    $ 8,423,629    $ 12,167,010  $ 482,547       

Changes in Net Position
Net (Expense) Revenue and

10



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

State Bond
General Street Revenue Repayment

Fund Fund Sharing Fund
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,329,787    $ 1,112,419    $ 1,085,795    $ -                   
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -                   -                   -                   268,718       
Investments -                   -                   -                   -                   
Taxes receivable, net 39,868         16,503         -                   -                   
Due from other funds -                   -                   -                   -                   
Receivable from other governments 93,900         84,303         70,877         -                   
Other receivables -                   -                   -                   -                   
Inventories -                   -                   -                   -                   
Prepaid expenses -                   -                   -                   -                   

TOTAL ASSETS 1,463,555    1,213,225    1,156,672    268,718       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -                   -                   -                   -                   

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 1,463,555    $ 1,213,225    $ 1,156,672    $ 268,718       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 4,660           $ 28,878         $ -                   $ -                   
Due to other funds -                   -                   -                   -                   
Payable to other governments -                   -                   -                   -                   
Other accrued expenses -                   -                   -                   -                   
Other payables -                   -                   -                   -                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,660           28,878         -                   -                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Revenue unavailable for use 35,910         14,830         -                   -                   

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable -                   -                   -                   -                   
Restricted

Debt Service -                   -                   -                   268,718       
Urban Renewal -                   -                   -                   -                   

Assigned
Streets -                   1,169,517    -                   -                   
Recreation -                   -                   -                   -                   
Capital Outlay -                   -                   1,156,672    -                   

Unassigned 1,422,985    -                   -                   -                   

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 1,422,985    1,169,517    1,156,672    268,718       

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCES $ 1,463,555    $ 1,213,225    $ 1,156,672    $ 268,718       

September 30, 2023

11 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Shelley Country
Other Total Urban Club Total

ARPA Governmental Governmental Renewal Urban Urban
Fund Funds Funds Area Renewal Renewal

$ 592,619       $ 231,599       $ 4,352,219    $ -                   $ 482,547 $ 482,547
-                   696,180       964,898       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   776              57,147         -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   7,337           256,417       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

592,619       935,892       5,630,681    -                   482,547       482,547       

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

$ 592,619       $ 935,892       $ 5,630,681    $ -                   $ 482,547       $ 482,547       

$ 592,619       $ -                   $ 626,157       $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

592,619       -                   626,157       -                   -                   -                   

-                   697              51,437         -                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

-                   696,180       964,898       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   482,547       482,547       

-                   213,227       1,382,744    -                   -                   -                   
-                   12,341         12,341         -                   -                   -                   
-                   13,447         1,170,119    -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   1,422,985    -                   -                   -                   

-                   935,195       4,953,087    -                   482,547       482,547       

$ 592,619       $ 935,892       $ 5,630,681    $ -                   $ 482,547       $ 482,547       

12
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2023

Governmental 
Funds

Component 
Units

Total fund balance, governmental funds: 4,953,087$      482,547$         

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position 
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial 
resources and therefore are not reported in this fund financial statement, but 
are reported in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Position. 3,063,337        -                       

A net pension liability for the measured portion of the present value of 
projected benefit payments is reported on the Statement of Net Position, but 
not in the fund financial statements.

Net pension liability (1,078,122)       -                       
Deferred outflows associated with the net pension liability 446,106           -                       
Deferred inflows associated with the net pension liability -                       -                       

Some of the City's taxes will be collected after year-end, but are not 
available soon enough to pay for current period's expenditures, and therefore 
are reported as deferred inflows in the funds statements. 51,437 -                       

Some liabilities, (such as notes payable, capital lease contract payable, long-
term compensated absences, and bonds payable), are not due and payable in 
the current period and are not included in the fund financial statement, but 
are included in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Position. (3,692,464)       -                       

Net position of governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position: 3,743,381$      482,547$         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 13



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

State Bond
General Street Revenue Repayment

Fund Fund Sharing Fund
REVENUES

Property taxes $ 906,525       $ 380,983       $ -                   $ -                   
Fees and fines 30                -                   -                   -                   
Licenses and permits 153,147       -                   -                   -                   
Intergovernmental revenues 462,453       670,478       254,903       -                   
Charges for services 89,104         -                   -                   626,242       
Investment earnings 215,198       -                   -                   -                   
Miscellaneous 170,630       52,748         -                   -                   

TOTAL REVENUES 1,997,087    1,104,209    254,903       626,242       

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 457,232       -                   3,800           -                   
Public safety 1,239,488    -                   11,964         -                   
Public works -                   454,504       -                   -                   
Health and sanitation -                   -                   -                   -                   
Culture and recreation 272,590       -                   2,000           -                   
Education -                   -                   -                   -                   
Economic development -                   -                   -                   -                   

Debt Service:
Principal 1,701           -                   -                   409,495       
Interest and other charges 323              -                   -                   77,855         

Capital outlay 14,927         218,374       97,803         -                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,986,261    672,878       115,567       487,350       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 10,826         431,331       139,336       138,892       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital debt -                   -                   -                   -                   
Other uses -                   -                   -                   -                   
Transfers in -                   -                   -                   -                   
Transfers out -                   -                   (5,802)          -                   

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                   -                   (5,802)          -                   

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of assets 14,385         11,760         -                   -                   

Net change in fund balances 25,211         443,091       133,534       138,892       

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 1,397,774    726,426       1,023,138    129,826       

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 1,422,985    $ 1,169,517    $ 1,156,672    $ 268,718       

14 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Jace Perry
Highlight

Jace Perry
Sticky Note
Revenue received by the City on behalf of the District to pay DEQ loan payments for 2023 and prior



Shelley Country
Other Total Urban Club Total

ARPA Governmental Governmental Renewal Urban Urban
Fund Funds  Funds Area Renewal Renewal

$ -                   $ 17,627         $ 1,305,135    $ -                   $ 191,211       $ 191,211       
-                   -                   30                -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   153,147       -                   -                   -                   
-                   27,136         1,414,970    -                   -                   -                   
-                   46,204         761,550       -                   -                   -                   
-                   113              215,311       -                   -                   -                   
-                   62,612         285,990       -                   -                   -                   

-                   153,692       4,136,133    -                   191,211       191,211       

-                   -                   461,032       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   1,251,452    -                   -                   -                   
-                   18,816         473,320       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   43,178         317,768       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   16,104         -                   16,104         

-                   -                   411,196       -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   78,178         -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   331,104       -                   -                   -                   

-                   61,994         3,324,050    16,104         -                   16,104         

-                   91,698         812,083       (16,104)        191,211       175,107       

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   (5,802)          -                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   (5,802)          -                   -                   -                   

 
-                   -                   26,145         -                   -                   -                   

-                   91,698         832,426       (16,104)        191,211       175,107       

-                   843,497       4,120,661    16,104         291,336       307,440       

$ -                   $ 935,195       $ 4,953,087    $ -                   $ 482,547       $ 482,547       

15
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Governmental Component
Funds Units

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds: 832,426$       175,107$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are 
different because:

Governmental funds report outlays for capital assets as expenditures because such 
outlays use current financial resources.  In contrast, the Statement of Activities 
reports only a portion of the outlay as expense.  The outlay is allocated over the 
assets' estimated useful lives as depreciation expense for the period.

This is the difference between capital outlays of $331,104 and depreciation of 
$332,283 in the current period. -                     

Governmental funds report the entire net sales price (proceeds) from sale of an asset 
as revenue because it provides current financial resources.  In contrast, the Statement 
of Activities reports only the gain on the sale of the assets.  Thus, the change in net 
position differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of the asset sold. -                     -                     

Governmental funds do not present revenues that are not available to pay current 
obligations.  In contrast, such revenues are reported in the Statement of Activities 
when earned.  This is the net change in revenue unavailable for use. 15,512           -                     

Governmental funds report long term debt proceeds as current financial resources.  
In contrast, the Statement of Activities treats such issuance of debt as a liability.  
Governmental funds report repayment of long term debt principal as an expenditure. 
In contrast, the Statement of Activities treats such repayments as a reduction in long-
term liabilities. 411,196         -                     

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and these are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds: 

Net change in accrued interest not reflected on governmental funds (911)               -                     
Net change in pension expense not reflected in the governmental funds (172,064)        -                     

Governmental funds do not recognize compensated absences as expenditures until 
they are paid.  In contrast, the Statement of Activities treats compensated absences as 
a long-term liability.  This amount is the net change in the compensated absence 
liability. (20,719)          -                     

Change in net position of governmental activities: 1,064,261$    175,107$       

(1,179)            

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 16



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES

Other
Sanitation Water Sewer Enterprise

Fund Fund Fund Funds
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 579,690       $ 1,527,719     $ 1,190,557        $ 1,552,679    
Receivables 1,463           7,156            15,601             -                   
Prepaid expenses -                   -                    70,600 -                   
Restricted cash and equivalents -                   -                    -                      -                   
Construction in progress -                   -                    -                      -                   
Land and water rights 36,915         408,000        -                      -                   
Buildings 181,633       66,195          72,621             -                   
Enterprise system assets -                   2,947,707     2,091,369        -                   
Equipment 590,446 206,342 484,071 -                   
Accumulated depreciation (638,762)      (1,487,568)    (1,316,024)      -                   

TOTAL ASSETS 751,385       3,675,551     2,608,795        1,552,679    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS - Pension 37,541         32,991          25,082             -                   

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -                   -                    -                      -                   
Due to other funds -                   -                    -                      -                   

Long - term liabilities
Due within one year

Bonds, capital leases and contracts -                   -                    -                      -                   
Accrued interest -                   -                    -                      -                   
Accrued compensation 5,517           8,584            3,488               -                   

Due in more than one year
Bonds, capital leases and contracts -                   -                    -                      -                   
Accrued interest - - -                      -
Accrued compensation 3,823           5,595            2,315               -                   
Net pension liability 90,727         79,730          60,616             -                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 100,067       93,909          66,419             -                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS - Pension -                   -                    -                      -                   

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 170,232       2,140,676     1,332,037        -                   
Restricted for

Capital projects -                   -                    -                      -                   
Debt service -                   -                    -                      -                   
Other projects -                   -                    -                      -                   

Unrestricted 518,627       1,473,957     1,235,421        1,552,679    

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 688,859       $ 3,614,633     $ 2,567,458        $ 1,552,679    

September 30, 2023

17 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Total

$ 4,850,645      
24,220           
70,600           

-                     
-                     

444,915         
320,449         

5,039,076      
1,280,859      

(3,442,354)     

8,588,410      

95,614           

-                     
-                     

-                     
-                     

17,589           

-                     
-                     

11,733           
231,073         

260,395         

-                     

3,642,945      

-                     
-                     
-                     

4,780,684      

$ 8,423,629      
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Sanitation Water Sewer
Fund Fund Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 558,001       $ 696,596       $ 1,026,303    
Miscellaneous operating revenues 3,144           1,070           2,250           

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 561,145       697,666       1,028,553    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services 156,813       137,874       98,780         
Contractual and professional services 4,038           16,762         10,270         
Other supplies and expense 259,609       348,859       158,443       
Repairs and maintenance 28,786         26,148         11,320         
Utilities 1,459           97,993         399,383       
Depreciation 27,566         126,403       59,778         

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSE 478,271       754,039       737,974       

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 82,874         (56,373)        290,579       

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest revenue 1,450           5,589           5,589           
Grants -                   30,000         25,000         
Miscellaneous revenue -                   -                   -                   
Miscellaneous expense -                   -                   -                   
Gain(loss) on sale of assets -                   -                   750              
Interest expense (58)               (161)             (103)             

TOTAL NON-OPERATING 
REVENUES (EXPENSES) 1,392           35,428         31,236         

INCOME  (LOSS)  BEFORE OTHER REVENUES,
EXPENSES, GAINS, LOSSES, AND TRANSFERS 84,266         (20,945)        321,815       

OTHER REVENUE, EXPENSES, GAINS, LOSSES,
AND TRANSFERS

Capital contributions -                   -                   -                   
Capital distributions -                   -                   -                   
Operating transfers in -                   2,901           2,901           
Operating transfers out -                   -                   -                   

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 84,266         (18,044)        324,716       

NET POSITION - October 1, 2022 604,593       3,632,677    2,242,742    

NET POSITION - September 30, 2023 $ 688,859       $ 3,614,633    $ 2,567,458    

19 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Other
Enterprise

Funds  Total 

$ 210,819       $ 2,491,719    
-                   6,464           

210,819       2,498,183    

-                   393,467       
-                   31,070         

124,215       891,126       
-                   66,254         
-                   498,835       
-                   213,747       

124,215       2,094,499    

86,604         403,684       

-                   12,628         
-                   55,000         
-                   -                   
-                   -                   
-                   750              
-                   (322)             

-                   68,056         

86,604         471,740       

-                   -                   
-                   -                   
-                   5,802           
-                   -                   

86,604         477,542       

1,466,075    7,946,087    

$ 1,552,679    $ 8,423,629    
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Sanitation
Fund

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers $ 561,062       
Cash payments for goods and services (293,892)      
Cash payments to employees (148,787)      

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 118,383       

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer in -                   
Grants -                   
Miscellaneous revenue -                   
Miscellaneous expenses -                   

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                   

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Gain or (loss) on sale of assets -                   
Capital contributions -                   
Purchases and construction of capital assets -                   
Principal payments on bond /leases payable -                   
Payments on capital debt (364)             

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES (364)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 1,450           

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 1,450           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 119,469       

BEGINNING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 460,221

ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 579,690       

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
Operating income (loss) $ 82,874         
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided (used)
by operating activities:

Depreciation 27,566         
Pension expense associated with net pension liability 8,567           

(Increase) decrease in:
Utility receivables (83)               
Prepaid ERU's -                   

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable -                   
Accrued compensation (541)             

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 118,383       

21 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Other
Water Sewer Enterprise
Fund Fund Funds Total

$ 693,600       $ 1,023,728      $ 210,819       $ 2,489,209      
(489,762)      (579,416)       (124,215)      (1,487,285)     
(128,081)      (96,530)          -                   (373,398)        

75,757         347,782         86,604         628,526         

2,901           2,901             -                   5,802              
30,000         25,000           -                   55,000            

-                   -                     -                   -                     
-                   -                     -                   -                     

32,901         27,901           -                   60,802            

-                   750                -                   750                 
-                   -                     -                   -                     

(2,900)          (122,538)       -                   (125,438)        
-                   -                     -                   -                     

(1,011)          (647)               -                   (2,022)            

(3,911)          (122,435)       -                   (126,710)        

5,589           5,589             -                   12,628            

5,589           5,589             -                   12,628            

110,336       258,837         86,604         575,246         

1,417,383 931,720 1,466,075 4,275,399      

$ 1,527,719    $ 1,190,557      $ 1,552,679    $ 4,850,645      

$ (56,373)        $ 290,579         $ 86,604         $ 403,684         

126,403       59,778           -                   213,747         
9,086           2,027             -                   19,680            

(4,066)          (4,825)            -                   (8,974)            
-                   -                     -                   -                     

-                   -                     -                   -                     
707              223                -                   389                 

$ 75,757         $ 347,782         $ 86,604         $ 628,526         
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES
September 30, 2023

PRIVATE
PURPOSE

TRUST FUNDS
ASSETS

Cash $ 426                    
Receivables -                        
Due from other governments -                        

Capital Assets
Land and improvements not being depreciated -                        
Construction in process -                        
Infrastructure -                        
Buildings -                        
Equipment and furniture -                        
Less: accumulated depreciation -                        

TOTAL ASSETS 426                    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -                        

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable -                        
Deferred revenue -                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES -                        

DEFERRED INFLOWS -                        

NET POSITION 426                    

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 426                    

23 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

PRIVATE
PURPOSE

TRUST FUNDS
ADDITIONS

Intergovernmental $ -                        
Charges for services -                        
Interest -                        
Miscellaneous -                        

TOTAL ADDITIONS -                        

DEDUCTIONS
General government -                        
Public safety -                        
Public works -                        
Parks and recreation -                        

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS -                        

Excess of additions over (under) deductions -                        

Change in net position -                        

NET POSITION - October 1, 2022 426                    

NET POSITION - September 30, 2023 $ 426                    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 24
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
INDEX TO NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTES INDEX 
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A. General 
B. Reporting Entity 
C. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
E. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances/Net Position 
F. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
G. Compensated Absences and Post-Employment Benefits 
H.  Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses 
I. Expenditure/Expense Recognition 
J. Interfund Activity and Balances 
K. Pensions 
L. Use of Estimates 
 

2. Cash and Investments 
 
3. Prepaid ERU’s 
 
4. Capital Assets 
 
5. Pension Plan 
 
6. Litigation and Contingent Liabilities 
 
7. Long-Term Debt  
 
8. Related Party Transactions 
 
9.  Material Violation of Finance-Related Legal and Contractual Provisions 
 

10. Risk Management 
 

11. Deficits and Interfund Transactions 
 
12. Interfund Transfers 
 
13. Subsequent Events 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City of Shelley is organized and operates under the provisions of the Idaho Constitution and the accounting 
policies and practices of the City conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America as applied to governments, except for the exceptions noted hereafter: the City budgets and operates on a 
cash basis, but the financial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
A. GENERAL 

The financial statements listed in the table of contents have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental entities.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial reporting principles. 

 
The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide financial statements, including a Statement 
of Net Position and a Statement of Activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed 
level of financial position. 
 

B. REPORTING ENTITY 
The reporting entity does not include those funds under the direct jurisdiction of other governing boards, 
elected or appointed, that exercise substantial or total administrative and supervisory authority in their own 
name and are considered to be autonomous from City of Shelley’s government.  Two component units are 
reported for the City of Shelley. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
In conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, the basic financial statements of the Shelley 
Urban Renewal Area and the Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area have been included in the financial 
reporting entity as discretely presented component units, emphasizing their nature as legally separate entities 
from the City.  They are combined in one column in the government-wide statements and presented in 
separate columns within the fund-based financial statements. 
 
Shelley Urban Renewal Area:  This component unit has a board, which is appointed by the Mayor of the 
City with the advice and consent of the City of Shelley Council.  The Shelley Urban Renewal Area 
rehabilitates deteriorating or deteriorated areas and constructs infrastructure needed for economic 
development.  It has a fiscal year end of September 30. 
 
Complete financial statements for Shelley Urban Renewal Area can be obtained from their administrative 
office at 101 S. Emerson, Shelley, Idaho 83274.   
 
Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area: This component unit has a board, which is appointed by the 
Mayor of the City with the advice and consent of the City of Shelley Council.  The Country Club Road 
Urban Renewal Area rehabilitates deteriorating or deteriorated areas and constructs infrastructure needed for 
economic development.  It has a fiscal year end of September 30. 
 
Complete financial statements for Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area can be obtained from their 
administrative office at 101 S. Emerson, Shelley, Idaho 83274. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 

 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The City’s basic financial statements consist of both government-wide statements and fund statements.  The 
government-wide statements focus on the City as a whole, while the fund statements focus on individual 
funds. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide statements present information on all non-fiduciary activities of the government and 
its component units.  The City’s activities are distinguished between governmental and business-type 
activities.  Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other non-exchange revenues.  Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to 
external parties for goods or services.  The effects of interfund activity have been eliminated from the 
government-wide statements unless there are residual amounts due between governmental and business-type 
activities. 

 
The Statement of Net Position presents the City’s non-fiduciary assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows, with the difference reported as net position.  Net position is restricted when constraints 
placed upon it are either externally imposed or are imposed by constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable within a 
specific function.  The City does not allocate general government (indirect) expenses to other functions.  
Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function; and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted 
to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function.  Taxes and other revenues not 
meeting the definition of program revenues are reported as general revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds.  A fund is a separate accounting 
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  Fund accounting is used to demonstrate legal compliance and to 
aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain government functions or activities.  
Separate statements are provided for governmental and proprietary funds.  For governmental and 
proprietary funds, the emphasis is on major funds, with each displayed in a separate column. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
 General Fund -  The general fund is the principal operating fund of the City.  It is used to account 

for all financial resources not required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
 Street Fund – The street fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the City’s highways 

and streets and is primarily funded by highway user funds from the State of Idaho. 
 

 State Revenue Sharing – The state revenue sharing fund accounts for operating activities of the 
City, and is funded by state revenue sharing funds from the State of Idaho.  The City generally uses 
these funds for capital expenditures though they are not legally restricted in their use. 

 
 Bond Repayment Fund – The bond repayment fund accumulates and distributes resources for the 

repayment of long-term debt. 
 
 American Recovery Plan Act Fund (ARPA) – The ARPA fund accounts for funds received under 

the federal grant and expenditures of the federal grant money. 
 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 
 
 Sanitation Fund – The sanitation fund accounts for the operation of the City’s sanitation department 

and is primarily funded by fees charged to residents and businesses. 
 
 Water Fund – The water fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the water system and 

is primarily financed by fees charged to residents and businesses. 
 
 Sewer Fund – The sewer fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the waste disposal 

system of the City and is primarily financed by fees charged to residents and businesses. 
 

Governmental Fund Types 
 
Governmental funds account for the City’s general activities including current expendable financial 
resources (except for those accounted for in proprietary funds), and are those through which most 
governmental functions of the City are financed.  The following are the City’s governmental fund types: 
 
General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City.  It is used to account for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds – Special Revenue Funds account for proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. 
 
Debt Service Funds – Debt Service Funds are used to service the interest and principal payments for the 
City’s long-term debt.  They are funded by special assessments. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Proprietary Fund Types – Enterprise Funds 
 
Enterprise Funds – Enterprise Funds account for operations that meet one of two criteria: 1) the activity runs 
in a manner similar to private business enterprises.  Moreover, the intent of the governing body is that the 
ongoing operating costs (including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the public are financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges, or 2) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital 
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 
Fiduciary Fund Types 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary Funds account for assets held in a trustee capacity or as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.   
 
Trust and Custodial Funds – Private Purpose Trust Funds account for funds held in a trustee capacity.  
Custodial funds are primarily used to collect and remit funds for other governmental agencies. The City 
currently has one private purpose trust fund and does not have any custodial funds. 
 

D. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
the related liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Other revenues are recognized in the year in which the 
related sales or other activity has occurred.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue when all 
eligibility requirements have been met. 
 
The proprietary and fiduciary fund statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting.  Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from 
non-operating items.  Operating revenues generally result from exchange transactions associated with the 
principal activity of the fund.  Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up 
essentially equal values.  Non-operating items, such as interest expense and investment earnings, result from 
non-exchange transactions or ancillary activities.  
 
The governmental fund financial statements are prepared and reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are 
both measurable and available.  Expenditures are generally recorded when the related liability is incurred. 
 

E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 
NET POSITION 
The following are the City’s significant policies regarding recognition and reporting of certain assets, 
deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, and equity: 
 
Cash and Investments  
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of demand deposits with financial institutions and short-term 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the purchase date.  Investments include 
pooled investments and certificates of deposit with original maturities greater than three months. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 

E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 
NET POSITION (Continued) 
 
Receivables 
 
Receivables from other governments include amounts from state revenues.  Receivables from other 
governments are reasonably assured; no allowance for uncollectible accounts has been established. 
 
Receivables in the proprietary funds include utility accounts receivable.  The City has a delinquent fee 
policy that limits the uncollectible accounts; therefore, no allowance for uncollectible accounts has been 
established.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
 
Taxes Receivable 
 
Property taxes are levied in September of each year and become payable on December 20 of the current year 
and June 20 of the following year. 
 
Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien as of December 20 following levy in September.  Therefore, no 
amount has been set aside for an allowance of doubtful accounts.  Property taxes not collected within 60 
days after year end are classified as revenue unavailable for use. 

 
Capital Assets 
 
The City defines a capital asset as an asset with an initial cost of $10,000 or more for equipment, land, 
buildings, and infrastructure and an estimated useful life or more than one year.  Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost or estimated historical cost.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value 
on the date of acquisition. 
 
Capital assets purchased by governmental funds are recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund 
statements.  Interest expense for capital asset construction related to governmental activities is not 
capitalized.  Interest expense incurred during construction of capital assets related to business-type activties 
is capitalized.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend the asset’s life are not capitalized. 

 
Equipment, buildings and infrastructure, and other depreciable assets are depreciated using the straight line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets from 5 to 40 years. 
 
Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide financial statements.   
 
Deferred Outflows 
 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position and the fund-based Balance Sheet will display a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources.  This financial statement element represents a consumption of net 
position or fund balance that applies to a future period, or periods, so it will not be recognized as an outflow 
of resources until that time.  The City currently reports deferred outflows related to net pension liability on 
the Statement of Net Position. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 

NET POSITION (Continued) 
 
Long-term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, long-term debt and other long-term 
obligations are reported as liabilities.  Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life 
of the bonds using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method.  Issuance 
costs are expensed in the year they are incurred.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond 
premium or discount. 
 
In the governmental fund financial statements, bond premiums, discounts, and issuance costs are recognized 
as expenditures in the current period.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
sources, while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or 
not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.  The face 
amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 
 
Deferred Inflows 
 
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position and the fund-based Balance Sheet will display a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources.  This financial statement element represents an acquisition 
of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period, or periods, so it will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources until that time.  This amount is deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the 
period that amounts become available.  The City currently reports revenue unavailable for use as a deferred 
inflow on the governmental fund-based Balance Sheet and deferred outflows related to the net pension 
liability on the Statement of Net Position. 
 
Net Position/Fund Balances 
 
The difference between assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows is net position on the 
government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary fund statements, and fund balance on the governmental 
fund statements. 
 
Nonspendable and Spendable Fund Balances 
 
Fund balance is separated into nonspendable and spendable fund balances.  Nonspendable fund balance 
includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either: (1) not in spendable form; or (2) legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact.  Spendable amounts are classified into restricted, committed, 
assigned, and unassigned.  The following is a list of nonspendable and spendable fund balance designations 
for the City of Shelley: 

 
Nonspendable:  Fund balances associated with inventories, prepaids, long-term loans and notes receivable, 
and property held for resale (unless the proceeds are restricted, committed, or assigned). 
 
Restricted:  Fund balances that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by constitution, 
external resource providers, or through enabling legislation. 
 
 



 

32 
 

CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 

E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 
NET POSITION (Continued) 
 
Nonspendable and Spendable Fund Balances (Continued) 
 
Committed:  Fund balances that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of 
the city council (the City’s highest level of decision-making authority).  Additional action is essential to 
either remove or revise the commitment. 
 
Assigned:  Fund balances that are intended to be used by the City for specific purposes but do not meet the 
criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.  The City Council has by resolution authorized 
management to assign fund balance.  Assignments generally only exist temporarily and do not require 
additional action for the removal of the assignment. 
 
Unassigned:  Fund balances that include all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. 

 
F. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 

The Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Department of Revenue and Taxation prescribe the budget process and 
procedures for governmental subdivisions. The City of Shelley has satisfied the basic requirements outlined 
in the following particulars: 

 
1) Formulation of subsequent year budget requirements by internal City officers and personnel. 
 
2) Perusal of formulated budgets by the City Council and its clerk. 

 
3) Presentation of preliminary and final budget requirements in formal news media of the City. 
 
4) Open hearings to permit taxpayer input before such budgets are formally adopted. 

 
Subsequent control budgets following adoption are accomplished through a budget-expenditures control 
system with interim status accounting and reporting made available to officers and employees for 
management purposes.  Budgets are adopted on a cash basis of accounting. The City does not maintain a 
formal encumbrance accounting system. 
 

G. COMPENSATED ABSENCES AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
Accumulated unpaid vacation and other employee benefits are accrued when incurred in proprietary funds 
on the accrual basis of accounting. Such amounts are not accrued in governmental funds on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. At September 30, 2023, unrecorded fund liabilities included approximately 
$98,001 of total leave time and employee benefit accumulations and are considered normal to the City 
operation.  
 
Vacation and other employee benefits are recorded as an expenditure when used in governmental funds and 
as an expense when earned in proprietary funds and in the government-wide statements.  A liability for 
unused leave and other accumulated employee benefits is recorded in the government-wide Statement of Net 
Position. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

 
H. REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES 

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in governmental funds when 
“measurable and available.”  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the 
current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  City 
of Shelley considers property tax revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days after year-end.  
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue when all eligibility requirements have been met.  All 
other revenues, including sales taxes, are considered to be available if they are collected within 30 days after 
year-end.  Proceeds of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing 
sources. 

 
In proprietary funds and government-wide statements, revenues are recognized when earned.  Operating 
revenue consists of income derived from charges from services and other miscellaneous fees.  All revenues 
not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues. 

 
I. EXPENDITURE/EXPENSE RECOGNITION 

In governmental funds, expenditures are generally recorded when the related liability is incurred.  However, 
debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.  Capital asset acquisition and construction are reported 
as expenditures in the period they are acquired. 
 
In proprietary funds and government-wide statements, expenses are recorded when the related liability is 
incurred. 
 
Operating expenses for the enterprise fund, if applicable, include the cost of services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses. 
 
When an expenditure or expense is incurred for purposes for which there are restricted, committed, assigned 
and/or unassigned resources available, the City generally uses restricted resources first, then committed, next 
assigned and then unassigned resources. 

 
J. INTERFUND ACTIVITY AND BALANCES 

Government-wide Statements 
 
See note 11 for interfund activity. 
 
Governmental Fund Statements 
 
Interfund transactions for goods and services provided and used are reported as revenues and 
expenditures/expenses in the funds involved.  Cash transfers between funds of the City are reported as other 
financing sources and uses in the governmental fund statements.  See note 11 for interfund activity. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  

 
K. PENSIONS 
 For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 

position of the Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions 
to/deductions from the Base Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by the Base Plan.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair 
value. 

 
L. USE OF ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
 Cash deposits and investments by the City as of September 30, 2023, totaled $10,168,188, of which $1,868,259 

represented demand deposits and $8,299,929 represented investments. Of the total deposits of the City, 
$5,317,117 was allocated to governmental funds, $4,850,645 to the proprietary funds, and $426 to fiduciary 
funds. 

 
Deposits 
At year end, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits in financial institutions was $1,868,259 and the bank 
balance was $2,273,301. The amount not covered by FDIC or NCUA insurance was $2,023,301. 
 
Investments 
The fair value of the City’s investments at year end was $8,299,929. Of the investments, $7,523,945 was not 
covered by FDIC, MBIA, or SIPC insurance. 
    Investment Maturities (in Years)  

Investment Type  Fair Value  < 1  1 – 5  > 5 Rating Percent 
           

Certificates of Deposit $ 2,551,778 $ 690,332 $ 1,861,446 $ - N/A 30.74% 

Corporate Bonds  149,382  149,382  -  - AA3 1.80% 

Corporate Bonds  147,074  -  147,074  - A1 1.78% 

Corporate Bonds  344,803  344,803  -  - A3 4.15% 

US Treasury  5,106,892  1,929,307  3,177,585  - Aaa 61.53% 
           

Total Investments $ 8,299,929 $ 3,113,824 $ 5,186,105 $ -  100.00% 

 
Restricted Cash 
Fees collected for the retirement of debt that have not been remitted are classified as restricted at year end.  
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

Investment Rate Risk 
The City of Shelley has a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities to five years as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  Sufficient cash and cash 
equivalents will be maintained to satisfy liquidity requirements of the City. 
 
Credit Risk 
The City has a formal written investment policy that addresses credit risk.  The City follows the requirements of 
the Idaho Public Depository Law (Idaho Code Section, Title 50-1013) and applicable investment rights and 
restrictions cited by Idaho Code Sections, Title 67, 67-1210. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
The City has a formal written investment policy that addresses custodial credit risk by investing amounts that 
keep the funds within FDIC insurance or government faith and backing, or Corporate bonds with an A rating or 
higher by a commonly known rating service.   

 
Concentration of Credit  Risk 
Corporate bond exposure is limited to 50% of the market value of the investment accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value accounting guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair value 
guidance also establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires a government to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.  Based on the inputs used to 
determine fair value, a three-level hierarchy is used as follows: 
 

 Level 1: fair value is determined using quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active 
markets that the government can access at the measurement date. 

 Level 2: fair value is determined using inputs – other than quoted prices included within Level 1 – that are 
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not 
active and inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data. 

 Level 3: fair value is determined using unobservable inputs for an asset or liability and requires the 
government to develop its own assumptions, based on the best information available in the circumstances, 
about the considerations market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 

 
The following table represents the City’s investments that are measured or disclosed at fair value on a recurring 
basis.  The City does not have any financial assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 
 
 Fair Value Hierarchy   
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 
Debt Securities         

US Treasury notes $ 5,106,892 $ - $ - $ 5,106,892 
Certificates of deposit  -  2,551,778  -  2,551,778 
Corporate bonds  -  641,259  -  641,259 

         
 $ 5,106,892  3,193,037 $ -  8,299,929 

 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
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3. PREPAID ERU’S 
 

At year end, the City had 21 prepaid ERU’s valued at $70,600 that can be used in future years. 
 
 
4. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 

  Balance 
10-01-2022 

  
Additions 

  
Deletions 

 Balance 
09-30-2023 

Governmental Activities         
Capital assets, not being depreciated     

Land $ 792,088 $ - $ - $ 792,088 
Construction in Progress  -  -  -  - 

         
Total capital assets, not being depreciated  792,088  -  -  792,088 
         
Capital assets, being depreciated         

Infrastructure  2,488,705  218,374  -  2,707,079 
Buildings and improvements  1,178,698  -  -  1,178,698 
Machinery and equipment  1,429,450  112,730  -  1,542,180 

        
Total capital assets, being depreciated  5,096,853  331,104  -  5,427,957 
        
Less accumulated depreciation for        

Infrastructure  (1,048,177)  (218,918)  -  (1,267,095)
Buildings and improvements  (712,822)  (24,189)  -  (737,011)
Machinery and equipment  (1,063,426)  (89,176)  -  (1,152,602)
Leased equipment  -  -  -  - 

     
Total accumulated depreciation  (2,824,425)  (332,283)  -  (3,156,708)
     
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net  2,272,428  (1,179)  -  2,271,249 
       
Governmental activity, capital assets, net $ 3,064,516 $ (1,179) $ - $ 3,063,337 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to the current functions of the primary government as follows: 
 
Governmental activities  

General government $ 17,308 
Public works  275,154 
Public safety  24,705 
Parks and recreation  15,116 
   
Current depreciation expense  $ 332,283 

 
 



 

37 
 

CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 
4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

  Balance 
10-01-2022 

  
Additions 

  
Deletions 

 Balance 
09-30-2023 

Business-type Activities      
Sanitation: 
  Capital assets, not being depreciated     

Land $ 36,915 $ - $ - $ 36,915 
     
  Total capital assets, not being depreciated 36,915 - - 36,915 
     
  Capital assets, being depreciated     

Buildings and improvements 181,633 - - 181,633 
Equipment 590,446 - - 590,446 

     
  Total sanitation assets, being depreciated 772,079 - - 772,079 
     
  Less accumulated depreciation for     

Buildings and improvements (112,767) (4,562) - (117,329)
Equipment (498,430) (23,003) - (521,433)

     
  Total sanitation accumulated depreciation (611,197) (27,565) - (638,762)
     
  Total sanitation capital assets, being      

depreciated, net 160,882 (27,565) - 133,317 
     
  Total sanitation capital assets, net 197,797 (27,565) - 170,232 
     
Sewer:     
  Capital assets, not being depreciated     
    Construction in progress 887,292 - (887,292) - 
     
  Total capital assets, not being depreciated 887,292 - (887,292) - 
     
  Capital assets, being depreciated     

Buildings 72,621 - - 72,621 
Equipment 481,170 2,901 - 484,071 
Sewer system 1,084,439 1,006,930 - 2,091,369 

     
  Total sewer capital assets, being depreciated $ 1,638,230 $ 1,009,831 $ - $ 2,648,061 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

Water:     
Capital assets, not being depreciated    

Land 100,000 - - 100,000 
Water rights and easements 308,000 - - 308,000 
Construction in progress - - - - 

    
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 408,000 - - 408,000 
    
  Capital assets, being depreciated    

Buildings 66,195 - - 66,195 
Equipment 203,441 2,901 - 206,342 
Water system 2,947,707 - - 2,947,707 

     
  Total water capital assets, being depreciated 3,217,343 2,901 - 3,220,244 
     
  Less accumulated depreciation for    

Buildings (62,039) (260) - (62,299)
Equipment (183,911) (3,237) - (187,148)
Water system (1,115,214) (122,907) - (1,238,121)

  
  Total water accumulated depreciation (1,361,164) (126,404) - (1,487,568)
  
  Total water capital assets being depreciated, net 1,856,179 (123,503) - 1,732,676 
  
  Total water capital assets, net 2,264,179 (123,503) - 2,140,676 
  
   Total business-type capital assets, net $ 3,731,253 $ 798,984 $ (887,292) $ 3,642,945 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  Balance 
10-01-2022 

  
Additions 

  
Deletions 

 Balance 
09-30-2023 

  Less accumulated depreciation for         
Buildings $ (67,699) $ (993) $ - $ (68,692) 
Equipment  (464,074)  (2,629)  -  (466,703) 
Sewer system  (724,472)  (56,157)  -  (780,629) 

         
  Total sewer accumulated depreciation  (1,256,245)  (59,779)  -  (1,316,024) 
         
  Total sewer capital assets being         

depreciated, net  381,985  950,052  -  1,332,037 
         
   Total sewer capital assets, net  1,269,277  950,052  (887,292)  1,332,0377
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to current function of the proprietary funds as follows: 
 
Business-type activities  
Sanitation $ 27,565 
Sewer  59,779 
Water  126,404 
   
     Total proprietary activities $ 213,748 

 
5. PENSION PLAN 

 
Plan Description 

 
The City contributes to the Base Plan, which is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI or System) that covers substantially all 
employees of the State of Idaho, its agencies and various participating political subdivisions.  The cost to 
administer the plan is financed through the contributions and investment earnings of the plan.  PERSI issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information 
for PERSI.  That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at www.persi.idaho.gov. 
 
Responsibility for administration of the Base Plan is assigned to the Board comprised of five members appointed 
by the Governor and confirmed by the Idaho Senate.  State law requires that two members of the Board be active 
Base Plan members with at least ten years of service and three members who are Idaho citizens not members of 
the Base Plan except by reason of having served on the Board. 
 
Pension Benefits 
 
The Base Plan provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits of eligible members or beneficiaries.  
Benefits are based on members’ years of service, age, and highest average salary.  Members become fully vested 
in their retirement benefits with five years of credited service (5 months for elected or appointed officials).  
Members are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their employment 
classification.  The annual service retirement allowance for each month of credited service is 2.0% (2.3% for 
police/firefighters) of the average monthly salary for the highest consecutive 42 months.   
 
The benefit payments for the Base Plan are calculated using a benefit formula adopted by the Idaho Legislature.  
The Base Plan is required to provide a 1% minimum cost of living increase per year provided the Consumer 
Price Index increases 1% or more.  The PERSI Board has the authority to provide higher cost of living increases 
to a maximum of the Consumer Price Index movement of 6%, whichever is less; however, any amount above the 
1% minimum is subject to review by the Idaho Legislature. 
 
Member and Employer Contributions 
 
Member and employer contributions paid to the Base Plan are set by statute and are established as a percent of 
covered compensation.  Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limitations, as defined by 
state law.  The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee contribution rates (expressed as 
percentages of annual covered payroll) that are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due. 
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5. PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

The contribution rates for employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for general employees and 
72% for police and firefighters.  As of June 30, 2023, it was 7.16% for general employees and 9.13% for police 
and firefighters.  The employer contribution rate of covered payroll is set by the Retirement Board and was 
11.94% for general employees and 12.28% for police and firefighters.  The City’s contributions were $166,551 
for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At September 30, 2023, the City reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The 
net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions in the Base Plan pension plan relative to the total 
contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan employers.  At June 30, 2023, the City’s proportion was 
.0328064 percent. 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense/(revenue) of $364,272.  At 
September 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 
 
  Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 
 Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 
     

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 224,406 $ - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs  129,638  - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
   pension plan investments 

  
122,887 

  
- 

Changes in the employer’s proportion and differences 
  between the employer’s contributions and the 
  employer’s proportionate contributions 

  
 

18,702 

  
 

- 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date  46,087  - 
     
Total $ 541,720 $ - 

 
$46,087 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Employer contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ending September 30, 2023. 
 
The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through the 
System (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2023, the beginning of the measurement period 
ended June 30, 2022 is 4.6 and 4.4 for the measurement period June 30,2023. 
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Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expenses/(revenue) as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:   
   
2024 $ 169,607 
2025  79,703 
2026  247,944 
2027  (20,323) 
   

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups.  Level percentages of 
payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method.  Under the Entry Age Normal 
Cost Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial 
valuation is allocated as a level percentage of each year’s earnings of the individual between entry age and 
assumed exit age.  The Base Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued liability based on a level percentage 
of payroll.  The maximum amortization period for the Base Plan permitted under Section 59-1322, Idaho Code, 
is 25 years. 
 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
  
Inflation 2.30% 
Salary increases 3.05% 
Salary inflation 3.05% 
Investment rate of return (net of investment expenses) 6.35% 
Net Cost-of-living adjustments 1.00% 
 
Contributing Members, Service Retirement Members, and Beneficiaries 
General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Males Pub-2010 General Tables, increased 11% 
General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Females Pub-2010 General Tables, increased 21% 
Teachers – Males Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 12% 
Teachers – Females Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 21% 
Fire & Police – Males Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 21% 
Fire & Police – Females Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 26% 
Disabled Members – Males Pub-2010 Disable Tables, increased 38% 
Disabled Members – Females Pub-2010 Disable Tables, increased 36% 
 
An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2020 which reviewed all 
economic and demographic assumptions including mortality.  The total pension liability as of June 30, 2023 is 
based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2023. 
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using the building block 
approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real 
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
 
Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return assumption, the System 
relies primarily on the approach which builds upon the latest capital market assumptions.  Specifically, the 
System uses consultants, investment managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in analyzing 
the System’s asset allocation. The assumptions and the System’s formal policy for asset allocation are shown 
below.  The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more conservative than the current allocation of System’s 
assets. 
 
The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to 
expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions 
are as of 2023. 

 
Asset Class 2023 
Cash 0.00% 
Fixed Income 30.00% 
US/Global Equity 55.00% 
International Equity 15.00% 
  
Total 100.00% 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.05%.  The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rate.  Based on these assumptions, the pension plans’ net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability.  The long-term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment expense 
but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense. 
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Sensitivity of the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. 
 
The following presents the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.35%, as well as what the Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be 
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.35%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(7.35%) than the current rate: 
 
 

 
1% Decrease 

(5.35%) 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.35%) 

 
1% Increase 

(7.35%) 
Employer’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) 

 
$2,354,642 

 
$1,309,195 

 
$454,739 

 
Pension plan fiduciary net position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued PERSI 
financial report. 
 
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the required 
supplementary information for PERSI.  That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at 
www.persi.idaho.gov. 

 
Payables to the pension plan 
 
At September 30, 2023, the District reported payables to the defined benefit pension plan of $0 for legally 
required employer contributions and $0 for legally required employee contributions which had been withheld 
from employee wages but not yet remitted to PERSI. 

 
6. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
No claims or lawsuits are pending against the City. 
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7. LONG-TERM DEBT  
 
 Long-term Obligation Activity: 
 

 General long-term obligations of the City include a bond payable to the Department of Environmental Quality 
(DEQ), and a purchase agreement with IBM for an AS400 system. This DEQ bond will be transferred to Eastern 
Idaho Regional Sewer District (EIRSD) in fiscal year 2024. During the year ending September 30, 2023, the 
following changes occurred in long-term debt:  
 

Governmental Activities 
 Balance 

10-01-2022 
  

Additions 
  

Reductions 
 Balance 

09-30-2023 
 Amounts due 
within one year 

Accrued interest $ 6,661 $ 911 $ - $ 7,572 $ 7,572 
Accrued compensation  77,282  20,719  -  98,001  60,259 
Sewer bond payable  3,996,386  -  (409,495)  3,586,891  417,527 
Net pension liability  976,628  101,494  -  1,078,122  - 
IBM purchase agreement  1,701  -  (1,701)  -  - 
          
Total governmental activities  5,058,658  123,124  (411,196)  4,770,586  485,358 

          

Business-type Activities          
Accrued compensation  28,933  389  -  29,322  17,589 
Net pension liability  245,837  -  (14,764)  231,073  - 
IBM Purchase Agreement  1,700  -  (1,700)  -  - 
          
Total business-type activities  276,470  389  (16,464)  260,395  17,589 
          
Total long-term activities $ 5,335,128 $ 123,513 $ (845,187) $ 4,613,454 $ 502,947 

 
Debt Service Requirements: 

 
 Debt service requirements for the DEQ bond and IBM note payable on September 30, 2023, are as follows: 
  

   DEQ Bond – 2%  
Year  Principal  Interest  

2024  $ 417,527 $ 69,823  
2025   426,118  61,232  
2026  434,683  52,667  
2027  443,420  43,930  
2028  452,230  35,120  
2029 – 2031  1,412,149  49,772  
      
 $ 3,586,891 $ 312,544  
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The City has not been directly involved in related party transactions that would violate the Idaho code or 
Federal Regulations. 

 
9. MATERIAL VIOLATION OF FINANCE-RELATED LEGAL AND CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS 
 

There are no known violations of direct finance-related legal and contractual provisions. 
 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The City is exposed to various risks related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and 
omission, and natural disasters.  The City’s risk management program encompasses various means of protecting 
the City against loss by obtaining property, casualty, and liability coverage through commercial insurance 
carriers. 

 
11. DEFICITS AND INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 

There were no funds with as deficit as of September 30, 2023.   
 
There were no interfund receivables or payables as of September 30, 2023. 
 

12.  INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 

Interfund transfer for the year ended September 30, 2023, consisted of the following: 
 

Transfer from: Revenue Sharing  Totals 
Transfer to:    
   Water 2,901  2,901 
   Sewer 2,901  2,901 
Total 5,802  5,802 

  
       
13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
  

Subsequent events have been considered through the report date of March 12, 2023.  There are no known 
subsequent events that will have a material impact on the operation of the City. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area (Area) is organized and operates under the provisions of the Idaho 
Constitution and the accounting policies and practices of the Area conform to accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America as applied to governments, except for the exceptions noted hereafter.  
The City of Shelley (City) appoints the voting members of the Board and the Area provides a financial benefit to 
the City.  For these reasons, the Area is considered a component unit of the City. 
 
A. GENERAL 

The financial statements listed in the table of contents have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental entities.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles. 
 
The Area’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide financial statements, including the 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more 
detailed level of financial reporting. 

 
B. REPORTING ENTITY 

The scope of the reporting entity is intended to cover those funds under the direct jurisdiction of the Area.  
Other governing boards, elected or appointed, that exercise substantial or total administrative and supervisory 
authority in their own name are considered to be substantially autonomous from the Country Club Road Urban 
Renewal Area government and are not included in this report.  
 

C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The Area’s financial statements consist of both government-wide and fund financial statements.  The 
government-wide statements focus on the Area as a whole, while the fund statements focus on the individual 
funds. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide statements present information on all non-fiduciary activities of the government.  The 
Area’s activities are governmental in nature.  Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues.  
  
The Statement of Net Position presents the Area’s non-fiduciary assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows with the difference reported as net position.  Net position is restricted when constraints placed 
upon it are either externally imposed or are imposed by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable within a 
specific function.  The Area does not allocate general government (indirect) expenses to other functions.  
Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function; and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted 
to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function.  Taxes and other revenues not 
meeting the definition of program revenues are reported as general revenues. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
C. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
Fund Financial Statements 
The financial transactions of the Area are recorded in individual funds.  A fund is a separate accounting entity 
with a self-balancing set of accounts.  Fund accounting is used to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid 
financial management by segregating transactions related to certain government functions or activities.  
Separate statements are provided for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds.  For governmental and 
proprietary funds, the emphasis is on major funds, with each displayed in a separate column. 
 
Governmental Fund Types 
 
Governmental funds account for the Area’s general activities including current expendable financial resources 
and are those through which most governmental functions of the Area are financed.   
 
The Area reports the following major governmental fund: 
 
 General Fund - This fund is the principal operating fund of the Area.  It is used to account for all 

financial resources not required to be accounted for in another fund and is supported primarily through 
property taxes. 

 
Proprietary Fund Types – Enterprise Funds 
 
The Area does not have any proprietary funds. 
 
 Fiduciary Fund Types 
 
The Area does not have any fiduciary funds. 
 

D. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when the 
related liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Other revenues are recognized in the year in which the related 
sales or other activity has occurred.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue when all eligibility 
requirements have been met. 
 
The governmental fund financial statements are prepared and reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are 
both measurable and available.  Expenditures are generally recorded when the related liability is incurred. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 

NET POSITION 
Following are the Area’s significant policies regarding recognition and reporting of certain assets, deferred 
outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, and equity. 
 
Cash and Investments  
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits with financial institutions. The Area does not have any 
investments. 
 
Taxes Receivable 
 
Property taxes are levied in September of each year and become payable on December 20 and June 20 of the 
following year for real property taxes and December 20 for personal property taxes. 
 
Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien as of December 20 following levy in September.  Therefore, no 
amount has been set aside for an allowance for doubtful accounts.  Property taxes not collected before 
December 1 are classified as revenue unavailable for use. 

 
Deferred Outflows 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position and the fund-based Balance Sheet will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This financial statement element represents a consumption 
of net position/fund balance that applies to a future period, or periods, so it will not be recognized as an outflow 
of resources until that time.  The Area does not have any deferred outflows at this time. 
 
Long-term Obligations 
 
The Area does not have any long-term obligations. 
 
Deferred Inflows 
The Statement of Net Position and the Balance Sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources in addition to liabilities. This financial statement element represents an acquisition of net 
position/fund balance that applies to a future period, or periods, so it will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources until that time.  The Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area recognizes property taxes receivable 
that will not be collected within 60 days as a deferred inflow. 
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COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 

 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
E. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND FUND BALANCES/ 

NET POSITION (Continued) 
 
Net Position/Fund Balances 
 
The difference between assets plus deferred outflows and liabilities plus deferred inflows is reported as net 
position on the government-wide and fund balance on the fund-based financial statements. 
 
Nonspendable and Spendable Fund Balances 
 
Fund balance is separated into nonspendable and spendable fund balance.  The following is a list of 
nonspendable and spendable fund balance designations for the Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area. 
 

Nonspendable: This designation segregates fund balances that cannot be spent because they are either not in 
spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.   
 
Restricted:  This designation segregates a portion of the fund balance when constraints have been placed on 
the use of the resources either externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.   
 
Committed:  This designation indicates a portion of the fund balance which can only be used for specific 
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the Area’s board. It cannot be used for any other 
purpose unless the Board removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed 
to previously commit it. 
 
Assigned:  This designation indicates a fund balance that can only be spent for purposes officially delegated 
by authority (such as the budget process) or is constrained by governmental intent, but is not restricted or 
committed. 
 
Unassigned:  This designation indicates a fund balance is not assigned to any specific purpose or is a negative 
fund balance.  The Area may use the positive unassigned fund balance for expenditures in subsequent fiscal 
years. 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is 
available, the Area generally uses restricted fund balance first, then unrestricted. 
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COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
F. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 

The Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Department of Revenue and Taxation prescribe the budget process and 
procedures for governmental subdivisions. The Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area has satisfied all of 
the basic requirements prescribed in the following particulars: 
 

1) Formulation of subsequent year budget requirements by internal Area directors and personnel. 
 
2) Perusal of formulated budgets by the Board members and management. 
 
3) Presentation of preliminary and final budget requirements in formal news media of the Area. 
 
4) Open hearings to permit taxpayer input before such budgets are formally adopted. 

 
Subsequent budget controls following adoption are accomplished through a budget-expenditure control 
system with interim status accounting and reporting made available to board members for management 
purposes.  Budgets are adopted on a cash basis of accounting.  The Area does not maintain a formal 
encumbrance accounting system. 

 
G. COMPENSATED ABSENCES AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

There were no compensated absences or post-employment benefits payable at September 30, 2023. 
 

H. REVENUE RECOGNITION 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in governmental funds when 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the current 
period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  Country Club 
Road Urban Renewal Area considers property tax revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days 
after year-end.  All other revenues, including sales taxes, are considered to be available if they are collected 
within 30 days after year-end.  Proceeds of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported 
as other financing sources. 
 
In proprietary funds and government-wide statements, revenues are recognized when earned.  Operating 
revenue consists of income derived from charges for services and other miscellaneous fees.  All revenues not 
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues. 
 

I. EXPENDITURE/EXPENSE RECOGNITION 
In governmental funds, expenditures are generally recorded when the related liability is incurred.  However, 
debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, 
are recorded only when payment is due.  Capital asset acquisition and construction are reported as expenditures 
in the period in which they are acquired or the construction takes place. 
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COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
I. EXPENDITURE/EXPENSE RECOGNITION (Continued) 

In proprietary funds and government-wide statements, expenses are recorded when the related liability is 
incurred.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds, if applicable, include the cost of services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating expenses. 
 
When an expenditure or expense is incurred for purposes for which restricted, committed, assigned and 
unassigned resources are available, the Area generally uses restricted resources first, and then committed, 
assigned and unassigned resources. 

 
J. USE OF ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 
2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as those financial instruments that have a maturity date of three months or 
less from the date of acquisition. 

 
Cash deposits and investments of the Area as of September 30, 2023, totaled $482,547 all of which represented 
demand deposits.  All of the deposits were allocated to governmental funds. 
 
The deposits and simple investments by the Area are not collateralized nor are they required to be by Idaho statute.  
The Area follows the requirements of the Idaho Public Depository Law (Idaho Code Section, Title 57-100), and 
applicable investment rights and restrictions cited by the Idaho Code Section, Title 67, 67-210. 
 
Deposits 
At September 30, 2023, the carrying amount of the Area’s deposits in financial institutions was $482,547.  The 
bank balance at year end was $482,547.  At September 30, 2023, $232,547 of the demand deposits were not 
covered by the FDIC. 
 
The Area does not have a written policy addressing credit risk, custodial credit risk or interest risk. 
 

4. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
 No claims or lawsuits are pending against the Area. 
 
5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
The Area has not been directly involved in related party transactions that would violate the Idaho Code or Federal 
Regulations. 
 

6. MATERIAL VIOLATION OF FINANCE-RELATED LEGAL AND CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS 
 

There are no known violations of direct finance-related legal and contractual provisions. 
 



 

53 
 

 
COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 7. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Area is exposed to various risks related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and 
omissions, and natural disasters.  They have retained the risk of loss.  They have not purchased commercial 
insurance nor do they participate in a public entity risk pool.  There currently are no liabilities for unpaid claims 
or outstanding annuity contracts nor are there any asserted claims.  The Area is not aware of any unasserted claims 
as of September 30, 2023 

 
8. DEFICIT FUND BALANCE 

 
The General Fund did not have a deficit fund balance as of September 30, 2023. 
 

9.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

Subsequent events have been considered through the report date of March 12, 2024. 
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CITY OF SHELLEY
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
GENERAL FUND
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 914,327                  $ 914,327                  $ 906,053                  
Fees and fines -                              -                              30                           
Licenses and permits 122,425                  122,425                  153,147                  
Intergovernmental 308,500                  308,500                  463,940                  
Charges for services 80,626                    80,626                    89,104                    
Investment earnings -                              -                              215,198                  
Miscellaneous 136,632                  136,632                  170,630                  

TOTAL REVENUES 1,562,510               1,562,510               1,998,102               

EXPENDITURES
General government 644,725                  644,725                  443,061                  
Public safety 1,331,400               1,331,400               1,197,057               
Public works -                              -                              -                              
Health, welfare and sanitation -                              -                              -                              
Culture and recreation 381,851                  381,851                  261,022                  
Education -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal -                              -                              -                              
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay 969,791                  969,791                  80,460                    

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,327,767               3,327,767               1,981,600               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (1,765,257)              (1,765,257)              16,502                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              14,385                    

Net change in fund balances (1,765,257)              (1,765,257)              30,887                    

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 1,397,774               1,397,774               1,397,774               

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ (367,483)                 $ (367,483)                 $ 1,428,661               

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ 472                         $ 906,525                  
-                              30                           
-                              153,147                  

(1,487)                     462,453                  
-                              89,104                    
-                              215,198                  
-                              170,630                  

(1,015)                     1,997,087               

14,171                    457,232                  
42,431                    1,239,488               

-                              -                              
-                              -                              

11,568                    272,590                  
-                              -                              

1,701                      1,701                      
323                         323                         

(65,533)                   14,927                    

4,661                      1,986,261               

(5,676)                     10,826                    

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              14,385                    

(5,676)                     25,211                    

-                              1,397,774               

$ (5,676)                     $ 1,422,985               
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CITY OF SHELLEY
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
STREET FUND
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 385,000                  $ 385,000                  $ 381,037                  
Fees and fines -                              -                              -                              
Licenses and permits -                              -                              -                              
Intergovernmental 599,000                  599,000                  665,789                  
Charges for services -                              -                              -                              
Investment earnings -                              -                              -                              
Miscellaneous 40,000                    40,000                    53,142                    

TOTAL REVENUES 1,024,000               1,024,000               1,099,968               

EXPENDITURES
General government -                              -                              -                              
Public safety -                              -                              -                              
Public works 879,004                  879,004                  543,393                  
Health, welfare and sanitation -                              -                              -                              
Culture and recreation -                              -                              -                              
Education -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal -                              -                              -                              
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay 673,769                  673,769                  100,607                  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,552,773               1,552,773               644,000                  

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (528,773)                 (528,773)                 455,968                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              11,760                    

Net change in fund balances (528,773)                 (528,773)                 467,728                  

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 726,426                  726,426                  726,426                  

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 197,653                  $ 197,653                  $ 1,194,154               

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ (54)                          $ 380,983                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

4,689                      670,478                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(394)                        52,748                    

4,241                      1,104,209               

-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(88,889)                   454,504                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              

117,767                  218,374                  

28,878                    672,878                  

(24,637)                   431,331                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              11,760                    

(24,637)                   443,091                  

-                              726,426                  

$ (24,637)                   $ 1,169,517               
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CITY OF SHELLEY
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
STATE REVENUE SHARING
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ -                              $ -                              $ -                              
Fees and fines -                              -                              -                              
Licenses and permits -                              -                              -                              
Intergovernmental 180,000                  180,000                  255,430                  
Charges for services -                              -                              -                              
Investment earnings -                              -                              -                              
Miscellaneous -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL REVENUES 180,000                  180,000                  255,430                  

EXPENDITURES
General government 70,800                    70,800                    3,800                      
Public safety 57,000                    57,000                    -                              
Public works -                              -                              -                              
Health, welfare and sanitation 235,000                  235,000                  5,802                      
Culture and recreation 57,000                    57,000                    2,000                      
Education -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal -                              -                              -                              
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay 667,205                  667,205                  97,803                    

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,087,005               1,087,005               109,405                  

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (907,005)                 (907,005)                 146,025                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              -                              

Net change in fund balances (907,005)                 (907,005)                 146,025                  

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 1,023,138               1,023,138               1,023,138               

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 116,133                  $ 116,133                  $ 1,169,163               

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ -                              $ -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(527)                        254,903                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(527)                        254,903                  

-                              3,800                      
11,964                    11,964                    

-                              -                              
(5,802)                     -                              

-                              2,000                      
-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              97,803                    

6,162                      115,567                  

(6,689)                     139,336                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(5,802)                     (5,802)                     

(5,802)                     (5,802)                     

-                              -                              

(12,491)                   133,534                  

-                              1,023,138               

$ (12,491)                   $ 1,156,672               
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CITY OF SHELLEY
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
BOND REPAYMENT FUND
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ -                              $ -                              $ -                              
Fees and fines -                              -                              -                              
Licenses and permits -                              -                              -                              
Intergovernmental -                              -                              -                              
Charges for services 575,000                  575,000                  626,242                  
Investment earnings -                              -                              -                              
Miscellaneous -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL REVENUES 575,000                  575,000                  626,242                  

EXPENDITURES
General government -                              -                              -                              
Public safety -                              -                              -                              
Public works -                              -                              -                              
Health, welfare and sanitation -                              -                              -                              
Culture and recreation -                              -                              -                              
Education -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal 487,350                  487,350                  487,350                  
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay 197,389                  197,389                  -                              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 684,739                  684,739                  487,350                  

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (109,739)                 (109,739)                 138,892                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              -                              

Net change in fund balances (109,739)                 (109,739)                 138,892                  

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 129,826                  129,826                  129,826                  

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 20,087                    $ 20,087                    $ 268,718                  

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ -                              $ -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              626,242                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              626,242                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

(77,855)                   409,495                  
77,855                    77,855                    

-                              -                              

-                              487,350                  

-                              138,892                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              138,892                  

-                              129,826                  

$ -                              $ 268,718                  
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CITY OF SHELLEY
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
ARPA FUND
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ -                              $ -                              $ -                              
Fees and fines -                              -                              -                              
Licenses and permits -                              -                              -                              
Intergovernmental -                              -                              -                              
Charges for services -                              -                              -                              
Investment earnings -                              -                              -                              
Miscellaneous -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL REVENUES -                              -                              -                              

EXPENDITURES
General government -                              -                              -                              
Public safety -                              -                              -                              
Public works 592,620                  592,620                  -                              
Health, welfare and sanitation -                              -                              -                              
Culture and recreation -                              -                              -                              
Education -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal -                              -                              -                              
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 592,620                  592,620                  -                              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (592,620)                 (592,620)                 -                              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              -                              

Net change in fund balances (592,620)                 (592,620)                 -                              

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 -                              -                              -                              

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ (592,620)                 $ (592,620)                 $ -                              

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ -                              $ -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

$ -                              $ -                              
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
 
1. The legally adopted budget for City of Shelley – State of Idaho is based on the cash basis of accounting.  

Adjustments to the modified accrual basis of accounting are listed as GAAP differences. 
 
2. Debt payments are reclassified from general operating expense to show principal and interest portions of cash 

payments. 
 
3. Higher operating expenses may be reflected on the GAAP basis if equipment was purchased at year-end with 

a partial payment budgeted in the current year and an account payable booked to reflect the final payment in 
the subsequent year’s budget. 
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COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (WITH BUDGET TO GAAP DIFFERENCES)
COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO
For the year ended September 30, 2023

Budgetary
Original Final Basis

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 191,211                  $ 191,211                  $ 191,211                  
Fees and fines -                              -                              -                              
Licenses and permits -                              -                              -                              
Intergovernmental -                              -                              -                              
Charges for services -                              -                              -                              
Investment earnings -                              -                              -                              
Miscellaneous -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL REVENUES 191,211                  191,211                  191,211                  

EXPENDITURES
General government -                              -                              -                              
Public safety -                              -                              -                              
Public works -                              -                              -                              
Health, welfare and sanitation -                              -                              -                              
Culture and recreation -                              -                              -                              
Education -                              -                              -                              
Economic development -                              -                              -                              

Debt Service:
Principal -                              -                              -                              
Interest and other charges -                              -                              -                              

Capital outlay -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES -                              -                              -                              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 191,211                  191,211                  191,211                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases -                              -                              -                              
Other sources -                              -                              -                              
Transfers in -                              -                              -                              
Transfers out -                              -                              -                              

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES AND USES -                              -                              -                              

SPECIAL ITEM
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                              -                              -                              

Net change in fund balances 191,211                  191,211                  191,211                  

Fund Balances, October 1, 2022 291,336                  291,336                  291,336                  

FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 $ 482,547                  $ 482,547                  $ 482,547                  

Budgeted Amount
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GAAP GAAP
Differences Basis

$ -                              $ 191,211                  
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              191,211                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              191,211                  

-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              
-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              -                              

-                              191,211                  

-                              291,336                  

$ -                              $ 482,547                  
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COUNTRY CLUB ROAD URBAN RENEWAL AREA - STATE OF IDAHO 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF SHELLEY, IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. The legally adopted budget for the Country Club Road Urban Renewal Area – State of Idaho is based on the cash 
basis of accounting.  Adjustments to the modified accrual basis of accounting are listed as GAAP differences. 

 
2. Higher operating expenses may be reflected on the GAAP basis if equipment or infrastructure was purchased at 

year-end with a partial payment budgeted in the current year and an account payable booked to reflect the final 
payment in the subsequent year’s budget. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER'S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
PERSI - BASE PLAN
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Fiscal Year

Employer's 
portion of net 

pension liability

Employer's 
proportionate 

share of the net 
pension liability

Employer's 
covered 

employee 
payroll

Employer's 
proportional 

share of the net 
pension liability 
as a percentage 
of its covered 

payroll

Plan fiduciary 
net position as 
a percentage 
of the total 

pension 
liability

2015 0.0334878% $ 440,980 $ 930,663 47.38% 91.38%
2016 0.0325563% $ 659,966 $ 961,875 68.61% 87.26%
2017 0.0310210% $ 487,597 $ 951,425 51.25% 90.68%
2018 0.0295223% $ 435,459 $ 943,574 46.15% 91.69%
2019 0.0300260% $ 342,738 $ 1,013,147 33.83% 93.79%
2020 0.0310074% $ 720,033 $ 1,055,504 68.22% 88.22%
2021 0.0318779% $ (25,177) $ 1,175,426 -2.14% 100.36%
2022 0.0310368% $ 1,222,465 $ 1,209,849 101.04% 83.09%
2023 0.0328064% $ 1,309,195 $ 1,381,459 94.77% 83.83%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full trend is
compiled, the City will present information for those years for which information is available.

Data reported is measured as of June 30.

PERSI BASE PLAN
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
PERSI - BASE PLAN
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Fiscal Year

Statutorily 
Required 

Contribution

Contribution 
in Relation to 
the Statutorily 

Required 
Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

Covered 
Payroll

Contribution 
as a % of 
Covered 
Payroll

2015 $ 106,654       $ 106,654       $ -                  $ 930,663        11.46%
2016 $ 107,572       $ 107,572       $ -                  $ 939,016        11.46%
2017 $ 106,540       $ 106,540       $ -                  $ 929,319        11.46%
2018 $ 108,951       $ 108,951       $ -                  $ 950,685        11.46%
2019 $ 120,351       $ 120,351       $ -                  $ 1,040,015     11.57%
2020 $ 135,423       $ 135,423       $ -                  $ 1,120,735     12.08%
2021 $ 143,009       $ 143,009       $ -                  $ 1,183,715     12.08%
2022 $ 148,332       $ 148,332       $ -                  $ 1,227,671     12.08%
2023 $ 173,049       $ 173,049       $ -                  $ 1,429,293     12.11%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until
a full trend is compiled, the City will present information for those years for which information is
available.

Data reported is measured as of September 30.

PERSI BASE PLAN
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
PERSI – BASE PLAN 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 
Methods and Assumptions Used in Calculations of Actuarily Determined Contributions  
 
The actuarially determined contribution rates in the employer’s contributions are calculated as of June 30, 2023.  
The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine contribution rates reported in that 
schedule. 
 
 PERSI  

Base Plan 
Valuation date June 30, 2023 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 
Amortization method Level percentage of 

projected payroll open 
Remaining amortization period 13.5 years 
Asset valuation method Fair Market value 
  
Actuarial assumptions:  
Investment Rate of Return * 6.35% 
Projected salary increases including inflation 3.05% 
Postretirement benefit increase 1.00% 
Implied price inflation rate 2.30% 
Discount Rate – Actuarial Accrued Liability 6.35% 
 
* net of investment expenses 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - NONMAJOR
September 30, 2023

Combined
Street L.I.D.

Lighting Assessment Recreation
Fund Fund Fund Totals

ASSETS
Cash $ 193,920    $ 13,589       $ 24,090     $ 231,599    
Receivables (net) -               

Property taxes 776           -                 -              776           
Sales tax 7,337        -                 -              7,337        
State motor users -               -                 -              -               
Franchise tax -               -                 -              -               
Assessments - -                 - -               

TOTAL ASSETS 202,033    13,589       24,090     239,712    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -               -                 -              -               

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 202,033    $ 13,589       $ 24,090     $ 239,712    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ -               $ -                 $ -              $ -               
Accrued compensation -               -                 -              -               

TOTAL LIABILITIES -               -                 -              -               

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Revenue unavailable for use 697           -                 -              697           

FUND BALANCES
Assigned 201,336    13,589       24,090     239,015    

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 201,336    13,589       24,090     239,015    

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCES $ 202,033    $ 13,589       $ 24,090     $ 239,712    
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - NONMAJOR
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Combined
Street L.I.D.

Lighting Assessment Recreation
Fund Fund Fund Totals

REVENUES
Taxes $ 17,627      $ -               $ -               $ 17,627      
Fees and fines -               -               -               -               
Licenses and permits -               -               -               -               
Intergovernmental revenues 27,136      -               -               27,136      
Entitlement -               -               -               -               
Charges for services -               -               46,204      46,204      
Investment earnings -               113           -               113           
Miscellaneous -               -               -               -               

TOTAL REVENUES 44,763      113           46,204      91,080      

EXPENDITURES
Administration -               -               805           805           
Maintenance -               -               -               -               
Parks and recreation -               -               42,373      42,373      
Snow and ice control -               -               -               -               
Trash -               -               -               -               
Street cleaning -               -               -               -               
Street lights 17,467      -               -               17,467      
Traffic lights 1,349        -               -               1,349        
Capital outlay -               -               -               -               

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 18,816      -               43,178      61,994      

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 25,947      113           3,026        29,086      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -               -               -               -               
Operating transfers out -               -               -               -               

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -               -               -               -               

Excess of revenues and other sources over
  (under) expenditures and other uses 25,947      113           3,026        29,086      

FUND BALANCES - October 1, 2022 175,389    13,476      21,064      209,929    

FUND BALANCES - September 30, 2023 $ 201,336    $ 13,589      $ 24,090      $ 239,015    
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DEBT SERVICE FUNDS - NONMAJOR
September 30, 2023

Sewer
Bond

Reserve
Fund Totals

ASSETS
Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 696,180    $ 696,180    
Receivables (net)  

Due from other funds -               -               
Deferred assessments -               -               
Delinquent assessments -               -               

TOTAL ASSETS 696,180    696,180    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -               -               

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 696,180    $ 696,180    

LIABILITIES
Due to other funds $ -               $ -               

TOTAL LIABILITIES -               -               

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Revenue unavailable for use -               -               

FUND BALANCE
Restricted 696,180    696,180    

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 696,180    696,180    

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 696,180    $ 696,180    
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS - NONMAJOR
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Sewer
Bond

Reserve
Fund Totals

REVENUES
Interest $ -               $ -               
Bond reserve revenue 62,612      62,612      
Current assessments -               -               

TOTAL REVENUES 62,612      62,612      

EXPENDITURES
Bond interest -               -               
Bond principle -               -               
Other -               -               

TOTAL EXPENDITURES -               -               

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 62,612      62,612      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -               -               
Operating transfers out -               -               

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -               -               

Excess of revenues and other sources over
  (under) expenditures and other uses 62,612      62,612      

FUND BALANCE - October 1, 2022 633,568    633,568    

FUND BALANCE - September 30, 2023 $ 696,180    $ 696,180    
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - PROPRIETARY FUNDS - NONMAJOR
September 30, 2023

Water Sewer
Reserve Reserve

Fund Fund Totals
ASSETS

Cash $ 990,413    $ 562,266    $ 1,552,679 
Receivables (net)  

Due from other funds -               -               -               
Deferred assessments -               -               -               
Delinquent assessments -               -               -               

TOTAL ASSETS 990,413    $ 562,266    1,552,679 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS -               -               -               

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 990,413    562,266    $ 1,552,679 

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ -               $ -               $ -               

TOTAL LIABILITIES -               -               -               

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Revenue unavailable for use -               -               -               

FUND BALANCE
Restricted 990,413    562,266    1,552,679 

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 990,413    562,266    1,552,679 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 990,413    $ 562,266    $ 1,552,679 
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
PROPRIETARY FUNDS - NONMAJOR
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Water Sewer
Reserve Reserve

Fund Fund Totals
REVENUES

Bond reserve revenue $ 60,400      $ 150,419    $ 210,819    

TOTAL REVENUES 60,400      150,419    210,819    

EXPENDITURES
Administration 5,000        6,639        11,639      
Miscellaneous -               112,576    112,576    
Capital outlay -               -               -               

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 5,000        119,215    124,215    

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 55,400      31,204      86,604      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -               -               -               
Operating transfers out -               -               -               

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -               -               -               

Excess of revenues and other sources over
  (under) expenditures and other uses 55,400      31,204      86,604      

FUND BALANCE - October 1, 2022 935,013    531,062    1,466,075 

FUND BALANCE - September 30, 2023 $ 990,413    $ 562,266    $ 1,552,679 

76



CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES - PRIVATE PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS
September 30, 2023

Shelley
Riverwalk

Trust
Fund Totals

ASSETS
Cash $ 426           $ 426           
Receivables (net) -               -               
Due from other funds -               -               
Construction in progress -               -               

TOTAL ASSETS $ 426           $ 426           

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ -               $ -               
Deferred revenue -               -               

TOTAL LIABILITIES -               -               

FUND BALANCES
Unreserved 426           426           

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 426           426           

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 426           $ 426           
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CITY OF SHELLEY - STATE OF IDAHO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES - PRIVATE PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Shelley
Riverwalk

Trust
Fund Totals

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ -  
Fees and fines - -  
Licenses and permits - -  
Intergovernmental revenues - -  
Entitlement - -  
Charges for services - -  
Investment earnings - -  
Miscellaneous - -  

TOTAL REVENUES -  -  

EXPENDITURES
Administration -  -  
Maintenance -  -  
Parks and recreation -  -  
Snow and ice control -  -  
Trash -  -  
Street cleaning -  -  
Street lights -  -  
Traffic lights -  -  
Trust remittances -  -  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES -  -  

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures -  -  

Other financing sources (uses):
Capital distributions -  -  
Operating transfers in -  -  
Operating transfers out -  -  

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -  -  

Excess of revenues and other sources over
 (under) expenditures and other uses -  -  

FUND BALANCES - October 1, 2022 426  426  

FUND BALANCES - September 30, 2023 $ 426  $ 426  
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
 COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL  

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 
The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Shelley – State of Idaho 
Shelley, Idaho 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Shelley, State of Idaho, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents, and 
have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2023.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Shelley, Idaho’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the City of Shelley’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Shelley’s internal control.   
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control, as defined above, that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.   
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Shelley, Idaho’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those  provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests did 
not disclose any instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
 
Idaho Falls, Idaho 
March 12, 2023 
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lndependent Auditor's Report

Honorable Mayor and City Council

City of Ammon
Ammon, ldaho

Repoft on the Audit ol the Finoncial Stotements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type

activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Ammon (the "City"), as of
and for the year ended September 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

ln our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial statements

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position ofthe governmental

activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City

of Ammon as of September 30 ,2022, and respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash

flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of Ammon Urban Renewal Agency, the discretely presented component

unit, as of September 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows

thereof. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Ammon Urban Renewal Agency, is based solely on the
report ofthe other auditors.

Bdsis tor Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GMS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 6ovem ment Auditing Stondordt issued by the
Comptroller General ofthe United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audito/s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be

independent of City of Ammon and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our unmodified audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management lor the Financiol Statemen6

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), and for the design,

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentaiion of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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ln preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise su bstantial doubt about City of Ammon's ability to continue as a

going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information
that may raise substantialdoubt s hortly thereafter.

Auditot's Responsibility fot the Audit ol the Finoncidl Stdtements

Our objeciives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a

Buarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and oovernm ent Auditing Stqndards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a

substantial likelihood that, individually or in ihe aggregate, they would influence the iudgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financialstatements.

ln performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and 6overnment Auditing Stondords, we:

Exercise professiona I judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financlal statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to deslgn audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of City of Ammon's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of signlficant accountlng

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation ofthe financial statements.

Conclude whether, in ou r judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about City of Ammon's ability to continue as a Boing concern for a reasonable period of
time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing ofthe audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.
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Re q u i red Su ppl eme nta ry I nform atio n

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management's discussion

and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of employer's share of net pension liability, and

schedule of employer contributions as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic

financial statements. such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part ofthe basic

financial statements, is required by the Governmenta lAccounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting fo. placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic,
or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the financialstatements, and other knowledge we

obtained during our audit ofthe financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on

the information because the Iimlted procedures do noi provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion

or provide any assurance,

Su pple me nta ry I nformoti on

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic fina ncia I statements. The combining non majo r fu nd financial statements, are presented

for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information
is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the u nderlying accounting and

other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjeded to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. ln our
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statemenls as a

whole.

Othet Repofting Reguired by Government Auditing Standards

ln accordance with Government Auditing Stdndords, we have also issued our report dated February 10, 2023 on

our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and

the results ofthat testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe City of Ammon's internal
control over financial reportinB or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in coosidering the City's internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

LLP
Wipfli LLP

ldaho Falls, ldaho
February 10, 2023
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Managernent's Discussion and Analysis



City of Ammon
Management's Discussion and Analysis

September 30, 2022

This discussion and analysis ofthe City ofAmmon, ldaho's (the "City"'s), financial performance provides an
overall review of the city's financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022.Ihe intent of
the discussion and analysis is to look at the city's financial performance as a whole. Readers should also
review the basic financial statements to enhance their understanding of the City's financial performance.

FINANCIAL HIGHTIGHTS

. The City's assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources

at the close of the fiscal year by 565,055,351 (net position). Of this amount, 59,109,011 (unrestricted net
position) may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations.

. The City's total net position increased by 53,346,304 in comparison with the prior year mainly due to payoff of
debt and receipt of several grant funds during the year related to ARPA funds that facilitated infrastructure
and development within the City.

. At of the close of fiscal year 2022, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
S13,763,201, an increase by S1,059,917 in comparison to the prior year.

. At the end of fisca I yea r 2022, the u nassigned fu nd balance in the Genera I Fu nd was S L2,484,426.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements. The

City's basic financial statements comprise three components: (1) government-wide financialstatements (2lfund
financial statements, and (3) notes to the basic financial statements. This report also contains required
supplementary and supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

These statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner
similar to private-sector business, using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting.

The stotement ol net posltlo, presents information on all of the City's assets including deferred outflows of
resources and liabilities including deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between the amount reported
as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position mayserveasa useful indicator of improvements
or deterioration of the financial position of the City.

fhe stotement oI act vitres presents information that shows how the City's net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless ofthe timing of related cash flows. Thus revenues and expenses are reported in this
statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal years(e.g. uncollected taxes and earned but
unused paid time off).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Ammon that are principally

supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type

activities.)



City of Ammon
Management's Discussion and Analysis

September 30, 2022

The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, streets, parks and recreation,
buildings, the LlDs, and technology (an internal service fund). The business-type activities ofthe City include
water, wastewater, sanitation, fiber optic, and pressurized irrigation services.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Ammon itself (known as the primary
government), but also the legally separate Ammon Urban Renewal Agency for which the City is financially
accountable. Financial information ofthis component unit is reported separately from the financial information
presented for the primary government itself, The water, wastewater, sanitation and fiber services function as

departments of the clty and have been included as an integral part of the primary government.

Fund Financial Statements

A/und is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated
for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City of
Ammon can be divided into two categories: govern mental fu nds and proprietary funds.

Governmentol funds. Governmental fu nds are used to account for essentially the same fundions reported as

governmental activitles in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of
spendoble resources, as well as on bolo nces of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 5uch

information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is

useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmentalactivities in the government-wide financialstatements, Bydoingso, readers may better understand
the long-term impactofthe City's near-term financial decisions. Both the governmenta I fu nds ba la nce sheet and

the governmentalfunds statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a

reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and government-wide activities.

The City maintains three major individ ual govern menta I fu nds. lnformation is presented separately in the
governmental funds balance sheet and in the govern menta I fu nds statement of revenues, expenditures, and

changes infund ba la nces for major funds, (the General, Streets, and Parkand Recreation). AII other non-major
governmentalfunds are combined and presented in one column. lndividualfund data for each ofthe non-major
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. The City's internal
service fund accounts for the technical support for City departments.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all of its funds. A budgetary comparison statement has been
provided to demonstrate compliance with this budget for the major funds.

Proprietory Funds. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial

statements. The City maintains one kind of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same

function presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.

I
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The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Water, Wastewater, and Fiber

Optic, which are considered to be majorfunds ofthe City.

Notes to the Financial Statements
These provide additional informatlon that is essential to Baining a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

The largest portion ofthe City's net position is reflected in its investments in capital assets (i.e., land, buildings,

equipment, and infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The

City uses these assets to provide services. Therefore, these assets are not available for future spending. Although
the City's investments in its capital assets are reported net of available debt, it is important to note that u nder this
consideration the resources required to repay this type of debt must be provided from other sources, since the
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these types of liabilities.

As previously addressed, net position may serve the purpose over time as a useful indicator of a government's

financial position. Tothat end,the City ofAmmon's assets exceeded its liabilities by S65,056,351for FY2022.

The following table provides a summary of the city's net position for 2022 compared to 2021:

Current and other essets 5 *217,543 5 35,530,722

capital assets 63,249,7L7 59,480,420

Total assets 96,46!,260 96,rn,r42

Deferred outflows of resources 7,523,09r 882,948

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 97,984,351 95,994,090

Current and other liabilities 3,827,073 5,29r,747
24,o32,34rLong-term liabilities 29,094,275

Total liabilities 32,s7s,348 93,3??,4q8

Deferred inflows of resources 72,652 1,960,5ss

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 32,92A,000 35,284,043

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted

53,985,928 40,190,511
!,960,412 r,202,493

Total net 65
Unrestricted 9

2022 2021
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The restricted portion of the City's net position, $1,960,412, represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $9,109,011, may be

used to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City was able to report positive balances in all three categories of net
position for the tovernment as a whole, and for 2 of the categories for the business-type activities. ln the prior
year, the City also reported positive balances in all three categories of net position, for the government as a whole
and sim ila rly for 2 of the 3 business-type activities.

The net position ofthe City, as a whole, increased 53,346,304 from 561,710,047 at September 30,2021,to
S65,056,351 at September 30, 2022. Governmental activities increased 5262,394 over the prior year while
business-type activities increased S3,083,910 over the same period.

Govenmentdl Activities. Governmental activities increasedthe City's net position by 5262,394. Keyelements of
this increase are as follows:

. The state revenue sharing allocation changes.

. An increase in charges for services due to new construction and people moving in.

. Receipt of ARPA and other state and federal project grants.

The following table shows the changes in net position for fiscal years 2022 and 202!.:

2027 2022 2027 2022

Governmental Governmental Business-Type Business-Type

Activities Activities Activities Activities
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

General revenues:
Property taxes
lntergovernmental revenues

Unrestricted investment earnings (loss)

Miscellaneous
Transfers

s 2,362,628 s L,982,076 s 8,990,868
r'*4'447- 87 '6s4- 

423,68;

3,156,191 2,332,808
2,609,243 3.990,708

- (235,s19)

631,60s 5ffi,976 196,965
(26,2sO1 - 26,2sO

5 L0,26O,O32

3,561,,842

(433,94;)

Total revenues r0,L77,864 8,717,703 s 9,631,777 5 13,387,92s

10
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202L 2022
Governmental Governmental

Activities Activities

202L 2022
Business-Type Business-Type

Activities Activities

Expenses:
Generalgovernment
Law enforcement
Fire protection
Planning and zoning
Engineering
Building
Parks

Recreation
Pool

Highway and streets
Fiber optic LID

Capital outlay
Water
Wastewater
Sanitation
Fiber optic

t,339,266
L,740,839
L,224,584

L37 ,506
131,495

487 ,522
483,62t
165,188
L77 ,880

L,939,454
L,30L,37 5

41,476_

L,603,7 L2

L,889,452
L29,969
183,055

L37,695
586,571
s04,001
254,492
222,237

2,O79,O20
865,095

2,53L,389
2,1U,663

5t3,787
5M,?94

2,747,548
6,106,46L

583,777
866,229

Pressurized irrigation 4,1,40

Totalexpenses 9,L70,15O 8,455,309 5,978,273 10,304,015

chanse in net position 5 L,oo7,7L4 5 262,394 S 3,659,498 S 3,083,910

Business-Tvpe Activ!ties
Business-type operating activities increased the City's net position by 53,083,910. Key elements of this increase

are as follows:

. Continued strength in charges for services and interest earnings (ignoring market adjustments. ln addition

significant infrastructure grants were received through ARPA funding, which makes up most ofthe difference
between 2O21and 2022,

o Total expenses increased by 54,325,742 for the year ended September 30, 2022, most due to investments in

Pump Station #13 and ARPA infrastructure improvements.

Financial Analysis Of The Government's Funds

The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances

ofspendable resources. Such information is usefulin assessing the City's financing requirements. ln particular,

unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending
at the end ofthe fiscal year.

1L
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As of the end of the cu rrent fiscal year the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
513,753,201, an increase of $1,059,917 in comparison with the previous fiscal year. The general fund is the
primary operatingfund ofthe City. Attheend of the current fiscal yea r, the unassigned fund balance ofthe
general fund was $ 12,484,426, which is approximately 97.4% of the total fund balance. The remainder of fund
balance is nonspendable, restricted, committed, or assigned to indicate that it is not available for new spending
because it has already been obligated for a variety of restricted purposes.

Thefund balance ofthe City's General Fund increased by $938,745 du ring the current fiscalyear. The keyfactors
in this are:

. Revenues decreased by 51,248,982 which stems from decreased propertytax collections and a large

decreased in federalgrant awards.
. Expenditures decreased, mostly in the general government category.

Proprietarv Funds. The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Net position of the Water, Wastewater, Sanitation, Fiber Optic, and Pressurized lrrigation Funds at September 30,
2022, amounted to 53L,62O,917. The total increase in net position for the funds including the internal services

fund was 53,083,9L0. Other factors concerning the finances ofthesefunds have already been addressed in the
discussion of the City's business-type activities.

Budsetarv Hishliehts

The City's budget is prepared according to ldaho law and is based on accounting for certain transactions on a

modified accrual basis ofaccounting. A budget to actualschedule is provided as required supplementary
information for the General Fund and major special revenue funds. The City did not amend the 202L-2022
Governmental Fund budget, but did amend the 202L-2022 budget forthe Wastewaterfund.

Budgeted Expended

General government 5 2,1o4,7L2 $ L,747,7o9
Enforcement
Fire
Bu ilding
Parks and recreation
Sanitation
Wastewater
Street
Water
Pressurized irrigation
Technology
Fiber optic

L,920,5r2 L,889,452
- L,97L

568,127 551,110
t,208,7L2 930,668
L,6L9,528 5a3,O79

5,573,344 5,7t9,087
6,938,532 L,s!!,702
4,530,27a 2,650,30L

10,000
684,475

5,458,540
626,O4;

865,060
Fiber optic Llc - 7,L87,O37

Total expenditures S 30,616,760 S 4.?!E,6!8
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The General Government category includes transfers but excludes the budgetary expense category for interest

transferred to the various funds based on the cash allocation of those funds as this is reflected in revenues. The

budgeted amounts include capital items in the proprietary funds, which are recognized as increases to assets for
presentation purposes. The expended funds are less than the budgetary funds in the Fiber Optic Department
because infrastructure and other expenditures related to the Fiber Optic UDs are budgeted to be spent in the fiber
department who oversees the LlDs. The Parks Department did not expend a portion ofwhat was budgeted to
them, choosing instead to wait on certain expenditures, thus they underspent compared with their budget.

The Street department came in less than budget as part of a budget tool to save for future infrastructure, and

because a S5.3 million grant was anticipated for road expansion, but was not awarded untilthe next fiscalyear.

Budgets for the business-type activity are created on the same basis as the governmental funds, meaning items
like principal repayments of debt and capital outlays are tludgeted as expenditures in the year they are anticipated
to be paid or purchased. This allows the City to set a better expectation of anticipated cash needs.

Capital Asset And Long-Term Debt Activity

CaDital Assets

The City's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of September 30, 2022,

amounts to S63,249,717 (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.) Capital assets include land,

infrastructure, buildings, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, and when applicable,
construction in process. Under the new GASB 87 standard, right of use assets, such as leased equipment, have

been presented separately, but is included in total capital assets.

Additional information about the City's capital assets can be found in Note 3 of the financial statements.

Major capital transactions/events during the year were:

The City is working on its fifth Local lmprovement District (LlD) which will pass some 1,200 homes and add

over 500 participants to the network. LID # 5 includes north Centennial subdivision, Briar Creek, north Tie

Breaker, Georgia to Sunnyside, and Rawson. Over half ofthe city now has access to the municipal fiber
system. There are 1",645 homes and businesses conflected on the fiber. Residents have four internet providers

they can choose from on the portal. The overall rates, including installation, are some ofthe lowest in the
nation, the quality/service is superior, and the future possibilities are endless.

The City of Ammon had several successful events, the lcy Inferno (bonfire to burn donated used Christmas

trees), Freezin for a Reason (Polar plunge fund raiser for the pool), 4th of July fireworks, Movies in the Park,

Ammon Days, Mayo/s Community Service Awards, Pumpkin Walk, and the Winter Lightapalooza (the Winter
Light Parade and Mccowin Park lighting). The City of Ammon has continued to grow, and we have added staff,

needing us to start a design for a City Hall addition and remodel. We are hopefulfor construction in 2023.

Ammon has started leasing vehicles, previously we primarily purchased vehicles. Ammon received American

Rescue Plan Act of 2021 funds to assist with the water pump station # 13, fiber connectivity, and wastewater
plant improvements. Ammon purchases street right of ways and water rlghts as they become available.

L5
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The Ammon Urban Renewal Agency pald off the original 1994 bond that launched groMh along Hitt Rd. The

Urban Renewal Agency 1st Street District received their first tax increment payment on the Lst Street District

and secured two Owner Participation Agreements for new projects that will create jobs, investment, and

increased tax base.

This was the first year to contract parks maintenance services to a private company. We hired a new Parks and
Recreation Director, Josh Embrey. Staff conducted a 100% online tree inventory for City owned/maintained
trees reflecting biodiversity and overall management needs. The Ammon Little League has continued to grow

and expand. We initiated the Adult Co-Ed Kickball as a new community program opportunity. Ammon Days

was exciting with a hot air balloon night glow event. The hot air balloons flew away Sunday morning.
ln May 2022 residents voted to transition the Eastern ldaho Regional wastewater Authority (EIRWWA) to the
Eastern ldaho Regional Sewer District (EIRSD). Becoming a sewer district was very important to the City of
Ammon because a district is eligible for grants and loans, whereas an authority is not. Ammon will now have

greater representation on the board, and all who are serviced by the district will be treated the same.

Water Meter lnstallation Project. Finished installation of all residential meters in the City of Ammon.
ln 2022, the City annexed approximately 250 acres of primarily residential property. One of the parcels

annexed is along Lincoln Road that will enable further commercial annexations north of Lincoln Road. We

adopted a new Multi-Family ordinance that more effectively regulates the location and intensity of multi-
family developments. The Planning and zoning Department processed 5l applications that included

commercial site plans, annexations, preliminary and final plats, and rezones. 165 residential site plans were
reviewed as part of the building permit process.

Community Recycling. Distributed ten more community recycle bins to keep up with the cardboard recycling

demand in Ammon.

Debt Administration

At September 30, 2022, the City had S26,259,825 in long term debt which consisted of general obligation bonds,

notes payable, and financed purchases via lease agreements. Amounts due next year on these obligations are

S1,522,168. See Note 6 for details of debt.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budqet and Rates

One of the City's main concerns is the higher than normal inflation rate. The City wants to make sure Ammon can
provide quality services at a reasonable rate, and that resldents can afford their daily expenses. Fuel, construction,
and used vehicle price increases are not sustainable. Home values in Ammon have continued to increase at a

higher than normal rate. Due to inflation, interest rates increased multlple times in 2022 and this is affecting
construction, Ammon used America Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds for water, wastewater, and fiber projects.

COVID-19 has had some variants that have impacted schools, businesses, and residents. Social distancing and
sanitizing have normalized. The politics at the federal level are definitely having an impact on the local level. For

fiscal year 2022 there were minimal rate changes, and we are trying to get capital projects done before prices

increase too much further.
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COMPONENT UNITS

. The financial statements include the Ammon Urban Renewal Agency, a component unit of the City. The

financial statements for the Agency are available at the City office.
. There are ten LiBhting Districts throughout the City, they are;

" #1 Hawkes Landing

" #2 Bridgewater Divisions # 3 and 4

' # 3 Woodland Hills Divisions # 8 and Successive

' fi4 Highland Springs

' # 5 1st Street Community

" #6 Granite Creek

" #7 Bridgewater Divisions # 5 and 6 and successive divisionso # 8 Mountain Bend Estates

' #9 Olsen Park

' # 10 Hawks Landing Division 2

The Lighting Districts have minimal activity, each district pays for the lighting services for their individual
neighborhoods and therefore the City has elected not to include them in the financialstatements.

Requests For lnformation
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and potential creditors with a
general overview of the City's finances and to demonstrate the City's accountability for the money it receives.
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to Jennifer Belfield, Finance Director, City of Ammon, 2135 South Ammon Road,

Ammon, lD 83406.
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City of Ammon
Statement of Net Position

Primarv Government Comoonent Unit

Yeor Ended September 30, 2022
Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

Assels
cash and investments
Receivables

Prope.ty taxes
lntergovernmental
Accounts receivable
Other

lnternal balances
Prepaid expenses

Capital assets
Nondepreciable assets
Depreciable assets, net
Right of use asset, net

5 1s,874,399 S

65,500
182,761

2,!84,907
199,889
37,677

2,059,638
77,945,252

2,481

13,076,938 s

1,195,355

(199,889)

6,867,386
36,2AL984

52,976

28,951,337 s

65,500
782,767

1,195,355
2,784,907

3r,677

8,927,024
54,267,236

55,457

!68,312

831,218

Totalassets 39,186,s10 5-1 ,27 4 ,'/ 5A 96 ,467 ,260 999,590

Deferred outflow of resources
Related to pensions 992,97'7 530,r7 4 1,523,091

Liabllities
Current liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued salaries and benefits
Deposits payable

Compensated absences
Customer deposits
Grants received in advance
Accrued interest

Noncurrent liabilities
Pension Liability
Due within one year

2,977,494
131,858

9,986
80,458

23,250
87,966

7,902,357
r29,424

,r,rri

118,980

38,158
336,086

932,093
7,392,7 40

2,911,494
2!4,68r

9,986
80,458

118,980
61,408

424,O52

2,834,450
7,522,168

661

Due in more than one year f,68a,404 23,049,253 24,737,657 3,956,478
Total liabilities s 6,965,215 5 25,950,133 s 32,91s,348 s 3,957,085

Deferred inllow of resgurces
Related to pensions 8,489 4,!63 72,652

Net position
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted
East Hills
Development commitments
Unspent grants

Debt services

78,229,539

16,298
852,347
23,250

35,757,389

7,068,523

s3,986,928

76,298
852,347
23,250

1,068,523
Unrestricted t4 9

Total net

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement

55
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City of Ammon
Statement of Activities
Yeqr Ended September 30, 2022

Proqram Revenues Net (ExDense) Revenue and Chanses in Net Position

Functions/Programs Expenses

Operating
Charges for Grants and
Services Contributions

Capital
Grantsand Governmental

Contributions Activities
Business-type

Activities
Component

UnitTotal
Governmental activities

Generalgovernment
Law enforcement
Fire protection
Planning & zoning
Engineering
Buildings
Parks

Recreation
Pool

Highway and streets

s 1,603,712 s
7,AA9,452

729,969
183,065
137,695
546,577
s04,001
254,492

2,079,O20

(1,s1s,4ss) s
(1,879,480)

197,4341
369,773

(133,69s)

236,750

1437,7s2]
(168,29s)

192,O77],
(2,079,020]-

(594,954)

$ (1,s1s,4ss) $

IL,879,A8Ol
(s7,4341
369,773

(133,69s)
236,750

(437,7s2)
(168,29s)

(92,077)

12,079,02O)
(s94,9s4)

64,007 5
9,972

32,535
552,838

4,000
823,327

8,84s
46,797

730,220

270,74!

24,2s0 S

63,404

Fiber optic LID 865,095

Totalgovernmentalactivities 8,455,309 L,982,O76 81,654 (6,385,579) (6,38s,579)

Business-tvpe activities
Water Funds

Wastewater Funds

Sanitation
Fiber optic
Pressurized

Total business-tvpe activities 10,304,015 10,260,0!? 3,561,842 - 3,517,859 3,517,859
Total primary government 18,759,324 12,242,108 87,654 3,561,842 (6,385,579) 3,517,859 (2,867,720) -

Tot"l.o ^r^

2,747,54a
6,L06,467

583,777
856,229

4,667 ,6L0
4,065,O43

776,893
802,498

1,000,000
1,500,000

967,442

General revenue and transfers
Property taxes 2,332,AOA
Franchise fees 463,860
lntergovernmental 3,990,708
Other revenue 97,776

2p20,062 2,920 ,062
(441,418) (447,4781

733,176 733,776
898,111 898,111

- 2,332,408 241,441,
- 463,860
- 3,990,708

91,776
lnvestment earnings (236,519) (433,949) (670,4681 1

Totalgeneralrevenue 6,647,973 (433,949) 6,214,024 247,442
Change In net position 262.394 3,083,910 3,346,304 141,818

Net porition, beginning 32,943,329 2A,166,778 67,770,047 (3,099,313)

Net posltlon, endi

The accompanying notes are integralto this financial statement
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City of Ammon
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

Parks and
September 30, 2022 General Street Recreation Nonmajor Total

Assets

Cash and investments
Receivables

Property taxes
lntergovernmental
lnterfund
Other

id

Total assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and benefits
Accrued interest payable
Deposits payable
lnterfund payable

L2 774,172

283,9L0 989,909

2,071,294

8,665 27,555
61,009

9,686
L,998,328

LL,854,844

65,500
565,506

2,427,928
78,057
31,,677

2,068,843
s8,028

300

2,462,8O1

2L7,26L

,o,rri

842,6ss
8,O42

L5,591,,464

65,500
742,767

2,427,928
2,L44,907

2,91L,498
LO2,29r
51,009

9,986
L,998,328

Total liabilities 2,L27,L7L 850,697 8,666 2,096,578 5,O83,tr2

Deferred inflow of resources
Unavailable revenues 80,982 2s0,000 1,906,948 2,237,930

Fund balances
Nonspendable

lnterfund loans
Prepaid expenses

Restricted for
East Hills

Development commitments
Committed for

Street projects
Fire department
Other
Unassigned

4,927
31,677

t6,298
- 842,655

- 1,020,820
278,037

12,484,42; 
-- 26'6eo- 

,t,3ilill,

9,68;

4,927
3L,677

L6,298
852,347

L,O20,820
278,031
957,443

!0,60t,264
Total fund balances 12,815,359 L,863,47s 26,690 (942,323) 13,163,201
Total liabilities, deferred
!nflows of resources, and
tund balances $ !s,023,sL2 $ 2,7L4,L72 S 285,356 S 3,061,203 $ 2t,o84,243

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement
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Reconciliation
to

City of Ammon
of the Governmental
the Statement of Net

September 30, 2022

Funds Balance Sheet

Position

Total fund balances - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different due to the following items:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. lncluded
in this amount are right-to-use assets for leased capital items.

Property taxes receivable and LID assessments will be collected
but are not available soon enough to payforthe current period's

expenditures, and therefore are shown as unavailable in the
funds.

Some liabilities, including compensated absences, are not due and
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in
the funds.

Compensated absences
Accrued interest
Lease liability
Notes payable

Premium on note payable

The net pension liability (asset) and the deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

are only reported in the Statement of Net Position: Net pension

liability is S1,902,357, deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions is S8,489, and deferred outflows of resources related to
pensions is S992,917.

lnternal service funds are used by management to charge the
costs of certain activities to individual funds. The assets and

liabilities of internal service funds are included in governmental

(80,468)

l'26,9s7)
12,4921

(1,790,8s3)

124,487\

t3,763,201

19,892,889

2,2L4,680

i.7,925,251).

l9L7 ,929\

activities in the statement of net position. 178,139

Net position - governmental
activities, per statement of net
posirion 5 33,205,723

The accompanying notes are integralto this financial statement
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City of Ammon
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes ln Fund Balance -

Governmental Funds

Year Ended September i0, 2022 General Street
Parks and

Recreation
Nonmajor
Gov'tals Total

Revenues
Property Taxes

Franchise fees
Licenses and Permits
lntergovernmental revenue
Penalty and charges
Pla nn ing
Recreation Fees

Earnings on lnvestment
Grants and donations
Miscellaneous revenues

s 2,370,39s s
L57,849
106,514

2,707,654
(s)

a2,429

(244,677)

24,250

- 5 2,37O,39s
- 463,860

a23,32L 929,835
- 3,990,708- (s)

387 ,817 944,660
- 2\6,417

s9,s18 (236,s19)
_ 24,250

884 169,365

306,011

t,283,O54_

449,4r4

(51,360)

25,000
2!6,4L7_

79,628 14,630 74,223

Total revenues 5,284,037 2,001,749 315,640 7,271,s40 8,872,966

Expenditures
General government
Law enforcement
Fire protection
Planning & zoning
Engineering
Building
Parks

Recreation
Pool
Highways and streets

L,426,348
t,889,452

t,97r
183,065
t37,695

1,,51-1,,7 02

551,110

L,426,348
t,889,452

L,97 L

183,065
L37 ,695
551,L10
4s3,939
254,492
222,237

t,stt,702

453,939
254,492
222,237

Fiber optic LID L.!91Qq J,M,ou
Total expenditures 3,638,531 1,511,702 930,668 1,732,147 7,813,048

Revenues over (underl expenditures 1,545,505 490,047 (6L5,028) (450,607) 1,059,918

OtheJ financing sources (uses)

Transfers Out (706,761) - 706,767
Total other financing
sources (uses) (706,76L]. - 706,767

Net change in fund balance 938,745 490,046 9!,733 1460,607l t,Os9,9L7

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement
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City of Ammon
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes ln Fund

Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities

are different because:

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.
Under GASB 87, leased capital assets are included as right-of-use
assets and the costs are allocated over the remaining life of the lease

as amortization expense. ln the current period, these amounts are:

Capital outlay, including right of use assets

Depreciation and amortization expense

Because some property taxes and LID assessments will not be
collected until after the City's fiscal year ends, they are not
considered "available" revenues in the governmenta I funds.
Unavailable revenues increased by this amount this year.

Compensated absences are expended as used in the governmental
funds, However, they are expensed as earned on the statement of
activities.

Governmental funds report lease agreements as expenditures when
paid while the Statement of Activities reports these as liabilities
when incurred, and expenses as amortized over the life of the lease

according to GASB 87 standards. See also note 7. This is the amount
of amortization on lease and lease-like purchases for the year.

The pension benefits are reported in the govern menta I fu nds when
paid but in the Statement ofActivities when earned. The change in
the pension liability {asset) is S1,861,675. The change in deferred
outflows of resources related to pensions is 5429,535. The change in
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions is S(1,292,927).

Governmental funds report bond proceeds as current financial
resources. ln contrast, the Statement of Activities treats such
issuance of debt as a liability. Governmental funds report repayment
of bond principal as an expenditure. ln contrast, the Statement of
Activities treats such repayments as a reduction in long term
liabilities. This is the amount by which proceeds exceed repayments.

lnternal service funds are used by the City to charge the costs of
certain activities to the individual funds. The net revenue of internal
service funds applicable to governmental activities is reported with

L,059,9t7

\728,206l,

6,621

(22O,s77)

3L5,942

730,907
(t,4s9,tt3)

{1ss,263 )

17,497)

governmental activities. (8.5431

Change in net position of governmental activities 5 262,394

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement
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City of Ammon, ldaho
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Business-Tvoe Activities
Wastewater

As of September 30, 2022 Water Funds Funds Fiber Optic
Nonmajor

Funds

Governmental
Activities

lnternal Service
Total Funds

Assets
Cu rrent assets

lnvestments S r",s07,308 S 8,11s,019 S
Accounts Receivable 776,85L 340,952

383,624 53,070,927 S 13,076,938 S

33,960 43,592 1,195,355
282,935

Total current assets 2,284,219 8,455,97t 417,584 3,1L4,519 1,4,272,293 282,935

Capital assets

Nondepreciable assets

Depreciable assets, net
Right of use asset, net 33,129 L7,366

5,682,333 L,1,47,696 - 37,357 6,867,386
23,962,701 8,705,820 3,798,644 414,819 36,2A\9a4 1,54,482

- 2,487 52,976
Totalcapital assets 29,678,L63 9,870,Aa2 1,198,@4 454,657 43,202,346 154,482

Total assets 31-,962,382 18,326,853 3,6L6,228 3,569,176 57,474,639 437 ,417

Defurred outflow of resources
Related to pensions 185,696 96,902 163,399 84,177 530,t74

Liabilities and net position
Current

Accrued salaries and
benefits
Accrued interest payable
Deposits payable
Grants received in advance
Lease liability - current
Notes payable - current

37 ,095
38,768

110,920

L4,734
7A\674

L6,228
297 ,315

1,s50

7 ,409
s88,46s

13,O57_

38,158

76,443
3

5,500

1,058

82,823
336,086
118,980
38,158
22,507

- t,370,t39

29,567

Total current 982,591 910,977 5L,2-t 5 24,004 t,968,787 29,s67

Noncurrent
Pension liability
lnterfund payable
Lease liability

32s,889

L9,144

138,649

r.0,035
L6,4L3,267

365,528
429,600

to2,o27_

1,434

932,093
429,600
30,61.3

- 23,018,640Long-term debt 6,605,373
Total noncurrent 6,950,406 16,561,951 795,L28 LO3,46l 24,410,946

Total liabilities 5 7,932,997 S 17,472,928 S 846,343 5 127,465 S 26,379,733 S 29,567
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City of Ammon, ldaho
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds (Continued)

Business-TvDe Activities
Nonmajor

Funds

Governmental
Activities

lnternal Service

FundsAs of September 30, 2022

Wastewater
Water Funds Funds Fiber Optic

Deferred inflow of resources
Related to pensions 1,456 1,631 4,t63

Net position
Net investment in capital
assets
Restricted 1,068,523

22,257,838 9,848,742 3,L9a,644 452,165 35,757 ,389 754,482
- 1,068,s23

Assigned 863,504 3,000 866,504
unrestricted 1,092,283 (9,957,059) (266,991) 3,070,268 (6,071,499) 253,368

Total net positio.

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund
activities related to

Net position of

The accompanying notes are integralto this financialstatement

fu nds
pe activities
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City of Ammon
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Business-TvDe Activities
Governmental

lnternal ServiceYeor Ended September 30,
2022

Wastewater
Water Funds Funds Fiber Optic

Nonmajor
Funds Total Funds

Operating revenues

Charges for Services

Connection Fees

Penalties
Miscellaneous

5 3,73!,s73 5 3,636,L74 5
843,748 420,729
34,922

zao,rss 5 7Ls,$r 5 8,863,331 $ 624,475
L,264,477

35,229307

s7,367 8,!40 22,038 9,4s0 96,99s 1,000

Total operating revenues 4,667,510 4,065,043 802,498 724,881 10,260,032 625,475

Operating expenses
Power
Treatment
Operations and
Maintenance
Salaries and Benefits

310,079 75,732
- 970,605

32s,87t
970,605

867,729 3,994,390 423,352 2L9,478 5,504,949 268,272

568,353 372,9s4 233,L56 255,256 L,429,779 3t6,263
Depreciation 9o4,L4o 365,406 208,552 108,345 7,586,443 41,508

lncome (loss)from
Operations 2,OL7,3O9 (L,654,0441 (62,562\ 14L,802 442,!q! ,----

Total operatins expenses 2,650,301 5,779,087 855,060 583,079 9,8L7,527 626'043

Non-operating revenues (expenses)

Grants and Awards
Earnings on lnvestments

1,000,000 1,600,000 96L,842
(60,378) 1276,084) (16,363

- 3,56L,842

) (8L,t24) 1433,9491 (13,907)

lnterest Expense (94,793) (385,738) - (29) (480,560) -

Total non-operating
revenues (exoensesl 844,829 938,178 945.479

lncrease in net position 2,862,L38 (7L5,866) 882,9L7 60,649 3,089,838 1L4,4751

Net position, beginning of
vear 21,35L,487 597,549 2,048,736 3,464,784 27,462,556 422,325

Net position, end of year $24,213,625 s (118,317) s 2,931,653 5 3,525,433 s 30,552,394 s 407,850

Change in net position - enterprise funds
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund

3,089,838

activities related to enterprise funds (5,928)

Change in net position of business-type activities S 3,083,910

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement
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City of Ammon
Statements of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

5 4,570,16s s 4,109,438 s 908,920 5 126,s39 s 10,31s,062 5 62s'47s

$,r77,8O8) (s,180,927) 1423,ss2) 
,2ts,478) (7,001,s5s) (268'272)

Activities
Governmental

Activities

Water Wastewater Fiber optic Nonmaior lnternal

v.j: E.led Se.lelt'tber 30. 2422 Funds Funds Funds Funds Totals Service Funds

Cash flows from operating activities

cash received from customers
Cash payments to suPPliers for
goods and services
Cash payments to emPloyees for
servtceS

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Receipt of non-operating grant

funding
Purchase of property, Plant, and

equipment
lnterest paid on long-term debt

500,000 800,000

(3,730,044) (1,171,3s6)
(95,8e4) (340,612)

500,000

17,087,2r3_l (49,90s)

t'l)

1,800,000

(6,038,s18)

il437,s32]-

(30,234)

Net cash from capital and related

Cash flows from investing activities
sale (purchase) of investments r,297,535 3,L6"t,963 (129,88s) 4,708,488 6,336

78

3'72,875
(16,353 1.24lnterest income

Net cash from
Net change in cash and cash

equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents,

The accompanying notes are integralto this financial statement

besinnins of vear

Cash and cash equivalents, end of
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City of Ammon
Statements of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (Continued)

Governmental
Business-type Adivities Activities

Wastewater Fiber Nonmaior lnternalservice
Yeot Ended September 30,2022 Water Funds Funds Optic Funds Total Funds

Reconciliation of operating income
(loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities

operating income (loss) s 2,017,309 s (1,654,044) s (52,562) s 141,802 5 442,505 s (s68)
Ad.justment to reconcile operating
income (losslto net cash flows
from operating activities:
Depreclatlon 904,L40 365,406 20AF52 108,345 7,586,443 41,508
Decrease (increase) in accounts
receivable (95,070) 43,285 !2,737 {1,602) (41,650)
Decrease (increase) in lnventory 93,685 - 93,585
lncrease (decrease) in accrued
salaries and benefits 437 (4,024], 1L5,877]. (1,548) (21,018) (3,135)
lncrease (decrease) in

connection payable (200,200) (200,200)
lncrease (decrease) in deposits
payable (1,375) 7,170 - 3,260 2,995
lrcrease {decrease) in GASB 58
items 33,033 7,430 35,955 10,683 A1,772

Net cash (used) by operating
activities $ 2,851,468 5 17,44r,87) 5 272,501 5 260,940 S 7,949,872 5 37,80s

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash lnvesting and Financing Activities

During 2022, the City financed the purchase of capital equipment through a lease liability. This amount was
split between the water, street, and wastewater funds for a total purchase price of 571,301.

The accompanying notes are integral to this financial statement
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

lntroduction

The financial statements of the City of Ammon (the "City") have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental

accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant accounting principles and policies utilized by the City

are described below:

Reporting Entity

The City is a municipal corporation governed by an elected Mayor and 6-member city council which together
possess the final decision-making authority and is held primarily accountable forthose decisions. The City Council

is responsible for approving the budget, establishing spending limitations, funding and deficits, and borrowing
funds and/or issuing bonds to finance construction.

Discretelv Presented Component Unit. ln conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, the basic

financial statements ofAmmon Urban RenewalAgency have been included in the financial reporting entity as a

discretely presented component unit, emphasizing their nature as a legally separate entity from the City. lt is

presented as a separate column within the basic financial statements.

Ammon Urban Renewal Aaencv (the Asencv). This component unit has a board, which is appointed by the Mayor
of the City with the advice and consent of the Ammon Clty cou ncil. The Ammon Urban Renewal A8ency

rehabilitates deteriorating or deteriorated areas. lt has a fiscal year end of September 30. For financial reporting
purposes, the City of Ammon, ldaho, combines the general maintenance and operating accounts of the Agency

with all other funds which the management of the City has oversight responsibility and the governing authority to
significantly influence operations. A copy of the Agency audit may be obtained at the City office.

There are no other boa rds, councils, or component u nits for which the City of Ammon exercises authority.

Basis of Presentatlon

Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities)
display information about the reporting government as a whole. These statements include all nonfiduciary
activities of the City. Governmental activities, which are normally supported by taxes, interSovernmental
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely

to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

While separate government-wide and fund financialstatements are presented, they are interrelated. The

governmental activities column incorporates data from govern menta I fu nds and internalService funds, while

business-type activities incorporate data from the government's enterprise funds. Separate financial statements
are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities of
the City at year-end, The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with and are
clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the recipients for goods

or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational
or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including
alltaxes, are presented as general revenues.

The statement of net position presents the reporting entity's assets and liabilities, with the difference reported as

net position (net investment in capitalassets; restricted net position; or unrestricted net position). Net investment
in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and reduced by outstanding debt.
Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are imposed by third parties through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Program
revenues include (L) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods,

services, or privileges provided by a given function, and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting
the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items not included among
program revenues are reported as general revenues.

The City applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for a purpose for which both restricted and
unrestricted net position are available. Depreciation expense that can be specifically identified by function is

included in the direct expenses of each function. lnterest on general long-term debt is considered an indirect
expense and is reported separately on the statement of activities.

Fund Financial Statements
The fund statements provide information about the City's funds. separate statements for each fund
category-governmental and proprietary-are presented. The emphasis offund financialstatements is on major
funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmentalfunds are aggregated and reported as

other governmental funds.

Governmental Fund Types
Governmentalfunds are those funds through which most governmentalfunctions typically are financed. The

measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses, and balance of current financial resou rces,

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund -Thisfund is the city's primaryoperatintfund. lt accounts for allfinancial resources ofthegeneral
Bovernment, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. All general tax revenues and other
receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund.
General operating expenditures, fixed charges, and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other
funds are paid from the General Fund.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note L: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

Street Funds - These funds are used to account for funds received and expended for the construction and
renovation of thoroughfares, arterial streets, and other improvements in the City.

Parks & Recreation Funds - These funds are used to account for funds received and expended for the City parks
and other recreational facilities of the C:ty.

The City has six nonmajor govern mental fu nds. These include the Building Fund, and Fiber Local lmprovement
Districts #1, #2, #3, #4, and #5.

Proprietary Fund Types
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrua! basis of
accou nting. The accou nting objectives a re determinations of net income, fina ncial position, and cash flow- All
assets and liabilities are included on the Statement of Net Position. The City reports the following major
proprietary funds:

Water Fund - This fund accounts for the provision of water services to the residents of the City. Activities of the
fund include administration, operations, and maintenance ofthe water system, and billing and collection
activities.

Wastewater Fund - This fund accounts for the provision of wastewater services to the residents of the City.
Adivities of the fund include administration, operations, and maintenance of the wastewater system,
administration ofthe debt related to providing wastewater services, and billing and collection activities.

Fiber optic Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City's fiber optic system. All costs will be financed
through charges to fiber optic customers.

The City has 2 nonmajor proptietary funds. These include the Sanitation Fund and the Pressurized lrrigation Fund.

Sanitation Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of solid waste collection and disposal services. All costs
are financed through charges to sanitation customers.

Pressurized lrrigation Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of pressurized irrigation fund. All costs are
financed through charges to pressurized irrigation customers.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund type:

lnternol service funds account for data processing provided to other departments of the City on a cost
reimbursement basis.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

During the course of operations, the City has activity between funds for various purposes. Any residual balances

outstanding at year end are reported as lnterfund receivables and interfund payables. While these balances are
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide
financials statements. Balances between the funds included in governmental activities (i.e., the governmental and
internal service funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the
governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the
enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type
activities column.

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. ln fund financial
statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. While reported in fund financial
statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements.
Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is

included as transfers in the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in
business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the business-type
activities colu mn.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrualbasis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash transaction takes place.
Nonexchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receivang or giving equalvalue
in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants, entitlements,
and donations is recognized in the fiscalyear in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable
and available (susceptible to accrual). " Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be determined a nd
"available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilitles of the current
period. For this purpose, the City considers all imposed nonexchange revenues reported in the governm€ntal
funds to be available if the revenues are collected within 60 days after the end of the current fiscal year.

Expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general
long-term debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the
extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Proceeds ofgeneral long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant AccountinB Policies (continued)

Measurement Focus and Basis of AccountinB (continued)

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are

considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.

Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all eligibility requirements are met, including any time requirements,

and the amount is received during the period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 60

days ofyear end). Expenditu re-d riven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have

been incurred and all other etigibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period

or within the availability period for this revenue source {within 60 days of year end). All other revenue items are

considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financiai

statements.

Amounts reported as program revenues include (L) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or
privileges provided, (2) operating grants and contributions, and (3) capitalgrants and contributions. lnternally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenue rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general

revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and

expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a

proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City's enterprise funds are

charges to customers for services. operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of services,

administrative expenses, and depreciation on capltal assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition
are reported as nonoperating revenues.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed,

Budgetary Control

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Annual appropriated
budgets are adopted forthe General, Special Revenue, and Proprietary Funds. All annualappropriations lapse at
fiscal year end. The department heads submit the budget to the City Cou ncil and a pu blic hearing is held prior to
adoption of the budget. Prior to October 1, the budget is enacted through passage of an appropriation ordinance.
The budget includes the General, Special Revenue, and Enterprlse Funds. The level of control (level at which
expenditures should not exceed budget) is the fund. The legal level of control is the appropriation ordinance.

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or services. The City did not
have any encumbrances at September 30, 2022.

The General and Street Fund statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance present a

comparison of budgetary data to actual results. These reports utilize the same basis of accounting for both
budgetary purposes and actual results.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and lnvestments

The City considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash

equlvalents. Cash also includes amounts held in the local government investment pool and money market
accounts. State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.5. Treasu ry, commercial paper,
corporate bonds, and repurchase agreements. lnvestments of the primary govern ment consist of certificates of
deposits with original maturities of greater than three months, government agency bonds, corporate bonds, and
amounts held in the state's diversified bond fund.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-tier hierarchy priorltizes the inputs
used in measuring fair value. These tiers include:

Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs
other than quoted market prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3,
defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions.

The asset's or liability's fair value measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

lnventories and Prepaid ltems

lnventories are valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Prepaid items represent payments made
by the City for which benefits extend beyond September 30, 2022. The costs of inventory are expensed when
used. Prepaid items are recorded as expenditures when the cost is incurred.

Receivables

Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the period for which the taxes are levied. The tax levy is used to
finance operations of the City's fiscal year ended Septemb et 30,2022. All property taxes are considered due as of
the second Monday in January and are levied on the second Monday in September. Taxes are payable in two
installments on December 20 and June 20 ofthe following year. All taxes collected within 50 days ofSeptember
30, 2022, are considered available to pay current liabilities. Amounts not collected are deferred and recognized
when they become available to the City.
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City of Ammon
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Receivables (Continued)

The City's Water, Wastewater, Sanitation, and Fiber Funds' accounts receivable are reported at their gross

amount. The City estimates that the amount of uncollectible accounts would not be significant to the outstanding
balance, therefore no amounts have been accrued for bad debt.

other receivables in the governmental and proprietary funds are also recorded at gross. No allowance for
uncollectible accounts has been provided since it is believed that the amount of such allowance would not be

material.

Capital Assets and Right of Use Assets

Purchased or constructed capital assets, including property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure (roads, bridges,

and similar items) are reported at cost or estimated historical cost in the government-wide financial statements.
The City defines capital assets as assets with an initial cost of more than 55,000 and an estimated life in excess of
one year.

Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. Renewals and

betterments are capitalized. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the
asset or materially extend the life of the asset are not capitalized. There were no donations received for the
year ended Septembet 30,2022.

Additions or improvements that significantly extend the useful life of an asset, or that significantly increase the
capacity of an asset are capitalized. Expenditures in the governmental funds for equipment, vehicles, real property
acquisitions, improvements, and infrastructure are recorded as capital outlay. Maintenance and repairs of a

routine nature are charged to expenses/expenditures as incurred and are not capitalized.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings

lnfrastructure
Equipment
Vehicles

30 years

15-60 years

3-15 years

5-l yearc

Capital assets not being depreciated include land, water rights, and construction in progress.

With the implementation of GASB 87, the City now separately identifies Right of Use assets for leased items.
Amortization is recognized from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the lease term or the
end ofthe useful life ofthe asset. The value ofthe Right of Use asset is calculated as the net present value ofthe
lease payments discounted at either the explicit interest rate of the contract or the a ppropriate discou nt rate for
the circumstances,
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Compensated Absences

6overnm€ntal Accounting Standards Board codification specifies that a liability should be accrued for leave
benefits that meet the following conditions:

o The employer's obligation relative to employee rights to receive compensation for future absences is

attributable to employee services already rendered

' The obligation related to rights that vest or accumulateo Payment ofthe obligation is probable
o The amount can be reasonably estimated

The City records a liability for accrued paid time off (PTO) when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary
financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for
example, as a result ofemployee resignations and retirements. The City uses the vesting method to calculate the
compensated absence liability.

ln proprietary funds, compensated absences are expended when earned. The entire amount of compensated
absences is reported as a liability.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund statements, long-term debt
and other long-term obligations are reported as Iiabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type
adivities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bonds payable are reported net of applicable bond
premium or discount.

ln the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as otherfinancing sources while discounts are
reported as other financing uses. lssuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received,
are reported as debt service expenditures.

GASB 87 Lease Accountint

The City is a lessee in multiple noncancelable operating and financing leases. lf the contract provides the City the
riSht to substantially all the economic benefits and the right to direct the use of the identified asset, it is

considered to be or contain a lease. Right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease
commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the expected lease term. The
ROU asset is also adjusted for any lease prepayments made, lease incentives received, and initial direct costs
incu rred.

The lease liability is initially and subsequently recognized based on the present value of its future lease payments.
Variable payments are included in the future lease payments when those variable payments depend on an index
or a rate. lncreases (decreases) to variable lease payments due to subsequent changes in an index or rate are
recorded as variable lease expense {income) in the future period in which they are incurred.
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The discount rate used is the implicit rate in the lease contract, if it is readily determinable, or the City's

incremental borrowing rate. When the implicit rates of leases are not readily determinable, the City uses the
incremental borrowing rate based onthe information available atthe commencement date for all leases. The

City's incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the Diversified Bond Fund rate (DBF) from the State of ldaho for
the month of inception of the lease or group of leases of similar assets.

Operating ROU: The ROU asset for operating leases is subsequently measured throughout the lease term at the
amount of the remeasured lease liability (i.e., present value of the remaining lease payments), plus unamortized
initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid (accrued) lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease

lncentives received, and anyimpairment recognized. Finance ROU: The ROU asset for finance Ieases is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating leases with fluctuating lease payments; For operating
leases with lease payments that fluctuate over the lease term, the total lease costs are recognized on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

For all underlying classes of assets, the City has elected to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to
purchase the underlying asset that the City is reasonably certain to exercise. Leases containing termination clauses

in which either party may terminate the lease without cause and the notice period is less than 12 months are

deemed short-term leases with Iease costs included in short-term lease expense. The City recognizes short-term
lease cost on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Deferred Outflows/lnflows of Resources

ln addition to assets, the Statement of Financial Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a

consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has one item that qualifies for reporting in this category and
it occurs on the government-wide statement of net position. The City reports deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions for its proportionate shares of collective deferred outflows of resources related to pensions

and City contributions to pension plans subsequent to the measurement date of the collective net pension liability
(asset).

ln addition to liabilities, the Statement of Financial Position will sometimes report a separate section for de{erred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time. The City has one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of
accounting that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported
only in the governmentalfunds balance sheet.

The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from property taxes. This amount is deferred and recognized
as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. The City also reports deferred inflows
of resources for its proportionate share of the collective deferred inflows of resources related to pensions in the
government-wide statement of net position.
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Deferred Outf lows/lnf lows of Resources (continued)

Lease-related amounts are recognized at the inception of leases in which the City is the lessor. The deferred

inflow of resources is recorded in an amount equal to the corresponding lease receivable plus certain additional
amounts received from the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods,

less any lease incentives paid to, or on behalf of, the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term.
The inflow of resources is recognized in a systematic and rational manner of the term of the lease.

Pension Plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability(asset) and pension expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the Public Employee Retirement system of ldaho Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions
to/deductions from Base Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the Base Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. lnvestments are reported at fair value.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balance of any long-term debt used to build or acquire the capital
assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its use through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use externally
restricted resources first.

Fund Balances

ln the fund financial statements, governmental funds report aggregate amounts for five classifications of fund
balances based on the constraints imposed on the use ofthese resources. The nonspendable fund balance
classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form - prepaid
items or inventories or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

The spendable portion of the fund balance comprises the remaining four classifications: restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned.

Restricted lund bolonce; This classification reflects the constraints imposed on resources either (a) externally
by creditoB, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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Fund Balances (Continued)

Committed lund bolance: These amountscan onlybe used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by the ordinances of the City Council - the City's highest level of decision-making authority, Those
committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes the specified use

by taking the same type of action that imposed the origina I commitment. This classification also includes
contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for
use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned fund bdldncer This classification reflects the amounts constrained bythe City's "intent" to be used
for specific purposes, but the amounts are neither restricted nor committed. The City Council has the
authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes. Assigned fund balances include all remaining
amounts (except negative balances) that are reported in governmental funds, other than the General Fund,

that are not classified as nonspendable and are neither restricted nor committed.

Unassigned fund balonce: Thisfund balanceisthe residual class ification for the General Fund. ltisalso
used to report negative fund balances in other govern menta I fu nds.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use externally
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources - committed, assigned, and unassigned - in order as

needed.

Risk Management

The City is exposed to a considerable number of risks of loss, including: (a) damage to and loss of property and
contents; (b) employee torts; (c) professional liability, i.e. errors and omissions; (d) environmental damage; (e)

workers' compensation, i.e. employee injuries; and (f) medical insurance costs of employees. Commercial policies
transferring the risks of loss, except for relatively small deductible amounts, are purchased for property and
content damage, employee torts, and professional liabilities. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not
exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reponed amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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Adoption of GASB Pronouncements

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the City implemented the following GASB Pronouncements:

GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for lnterest Cost lncurred before the End of a Construction Period: lssued

June 2018, the objectives of this statement are to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about

capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and to simplify accounting for interest costs

incurred before the end of a construction period. This statement is effective for the fiscal year ending June 30,

2022. There was no impact on the City's financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 93, Replacement of lnterbank Offered Rates: lssued to address accounting and financial

reporting implications that result from the replacement of an interbank offered rate (IBOR). Effective forthe fiscal

year ending June 30, 2022. There was no impact on the City's flnancial statements.

The following GASB pronouncements have been issued, but are effective in the future:

GASB Statement No- 91, Conduit Debt Obligations: lssued lvlay 2019, the obiective of this statement is to provide

a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and elinate diversity in practice for presentation

and disclosures. This statement is effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021.

GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020: lssued January 2020, the obiective of this statement is to enhance

comparability in accounting and financial reporting and mprove consistency in practice for certain previously

implemented statements. This statement is effective for the fiscal years beginning after Jun e 15,2O2L.

GASB Statement No. 94 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability of Payment Arragnements:

lssued March 2020, the objective of this statement is to improve reporting related to private-public and public-

public partnerthip agreements (PPPs). This statement is effective forthe fiscalyears beginning after Jun e 15,2022.

GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based lnformation Technology Arrangements: lssued May 2020, the
objective of this statement is to provide guidance on accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based

information technlogy arrangements (SBlTAs) for government end users. This statement is effective for the fiscal

ye a rs begi n n in g aft et June 15, 2022.

Subsequent Events

The City has evaluated subsequent events through February 10, 2023, which is the date the financial statements
were available to be issued. There are no subsequent events required to be disclosed.
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Deposits with Financial lnstitutions

Custodiol credit risk-deposits. tn the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's

deposits may not be returned to it. The City has reduced its concentration of credit rlsk by using severalfinancial

institutions. The formal policy as of September 30, 2022 was to limit deposits with any one bank or credit union to

the maximu m FDlc/sPlc insurable amount. As of Septem ber 30, 2022,53,426,292, including the money market,

was not insured or collateralized.

lnvestments

The government utilizes a pooled investment concept for all its funds to maximize its investment program.

lnvestment income from this internal pooling is allocated to the respective funds based upon the sources of funds

invested. The carrying value of the city's investments at year end was s21,769,404 and the fair value was

521",7 69,404. The amount not covered by insurance was S 12,852,633.

The City invests in the Local Government lnvestment Pool {LGIP) through the ldaho State Treasurer. Allfunds are

invested by the ldaho State Treasure/s office in accordance with Sections 67-1210 and 67-1210A of the ldaho

Code. All investments for the LGIP are collateralized with securities held by the LGIP's safekeeping agent in the

LGlp's name. The investments held by the LGIP are carried at cost, which is not materially different than fair value

(determined by the ldaho State Treasurer's office). The investments are subject to risk from market and interest

rate fluctuations. The City has included this in cash since the average days of maturity is 15 days.

On September 30, 2022, City of Ammon had the following recurring fair value measurements

lnvestment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

StateDBFFund S - S 105,838 S S L05,838

Corporate Bonds

Agency Bonds

US Gov't Bonds

- 6,96L,371
997 ,788

4,893,474

6,961,371,
997,788

4,893,47 4

Certificates of Deposit - 8,810,93? ------
Total lnvestments 5 5,89r,262 S 1.s,87&142 S - 5 2L,769,4O4

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those

securities.
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For securities that generally have market prices from multiple sources, it can be challenging to select the best
individual price, and the best source one day may not be the best source on the following day. The solution is to
report a "consensus price" or a weighted average price for each security. City ofAmmon receives market prices
for these securities from a variety of industry-standard data providers (e.g., Bloomberg), security master files from
large financial institutions, and other third-party sources. Through the help of an investment advisor, City of
Ammon uses these multiple prices as inputs into a distribution-curve based algorithm to determine the daily
market value,

. U.S. Treasuries, Money Markets, U.S. Agencies: quoted prices for identical securities in markets that are
active;

. Loca I Govern ment lnvestment Pool" a pplication of the Se ptember 30, 2022, fair value factor, as calculated by
the State Treasurer to City of Ammon's average daily balance in the fund; and,

Debt securities classified in Level 2 are valued using the following approaches

. Corporate and Municipal Bonds and Commercial Paper: quoted prices for similar securities in active markets;
o Repurchase Agreements, Negotiable Certificates of Deposit, and Collateralized Debt Obligations: matrix

pricing based on the securities' relationship to benchmark quoted prices;
. Bond Mutual Funds: published fair value per share (unit) for each fund;
. Donated Real Estate: recent appraisals of the real estate's value.

The City invests in the Diversified Bond Fund (DBF)through the ldaho State Treasurer. Amounts held by the DBF

were held in the following investments: corporate securities, mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities,
commercial mortgage-backed securities, U.S. Government agency securities, U.S. Treasury securities money
market funds, and accrued interest. The City had $105,838 invested in the DBF at September 30, 2022.

The investments held by the DBF are carried at fair value (determined by the ldaho State Treasurer's office). These
investments are subject to risk from market and rate fluctuations. The weighted average duration was 3.02 years

at September 30, 2022.
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The City's investment accounts, including government agencies, commercial paper, corporate bonds, certlficates
of deposit, and money market funds, are held with Moreton Asset Management. The money market funds are
included as cash in the financial statements, The weighted average duration was 0.65 years. As of September 30,
2022, the City had the following investments showing the distribution by maturity and rating:

Remaining Maturity (in Years)

12 Months 1-5 5-10
lnvestment Type or Less Years Years Total Fair Value Rating

State DBF Fund
Corporate Bonds
Agency Bonds
US Gov't Bonds

S -S 10s,838S
1,908,288 5,053,083

- 99? ,7a8
910,550 3,982,924

s 105,838 AAA

6,e6L,37L p.}.-/A+/AlA-/BBB+

997,788 AAA
4,493,474

Certificates of Deposit 1.,591.,894 7,2L9,039 8,810,933 NA/NR/A-1+/A-2/A-3/D

Total lnvestments 5 4,410,732 5 L7,3s8,672 5 2t,769,404

Plus cash 7,I4L,933
Total cash and investments 5 28,9s1.,337

lnterest rate risk- lnterest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair
value to changes in market interest rates. The City manages its exposure to declines in fair values by limiting the
weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio.

Credit risk. Generally, credit rjsk is the risk that a n issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization. Presented above is the actual rating as of year-end for each investment type. The City's investmeot
policy requires investments to be in conformity with ldaho Statue Title 50 Chapter 10 section 13.

Concentrotion of credlt risk The City's investment policy does not allow for a n investment in any one issuer that is

in excess of 5 percent of the Cityrs total investments. The City utilizes a pooled investment concept for all its funds
to maximize its investment program. lnvestment income f ro m th is interna I pooling is allocated to the respective
funds based upon the sources of funds invested.
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On September 30, 2022, City of Ammon does not hold more than 5 percent of total investments in any single

security concentration other than U. S. Government Treasuries and Agencies.

Custodiol credit risk-investments. For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the

counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The City has a deposit policy to minimize custodial credit risk.

Foreign Currency Risk, The City has no foreign currency risk for investments at year end.

Note 3: Capital Assets

Capital asset balances and activity for the year ended September 30, 2022, were as follows:

Governmental Activities:
Balance

O9l3ol2l lncreases
Decreases and Balance

Transfers O9l3Ol22

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land

Construction in progress 436,638 485,082 - 921',720

Total capital assets, not belng depreciated 1,,507,235 552,403 - 2,059,638

5 1.,O7O,s97 5 61,32L S s 1,137,918

S 3,23s,482 S r4,7so S

47,65L,062 81,556
Machinery and equipment 4,42L,209 1t2,432 7,982 4,541",623

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
lnfrastructure

5 3,2so,232
47 ,732,618

Total capital assets, being depreciated 55,307,753 208,738 7,982 55,524,473

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements
lnfrastructure
Machinery and equipment (2,976,434) (319,151)

(1,s33,s96) lr21,s22l
(31,s6s,36s) (1,0s9,239)

- (1,65s,118)

- (32,624,6041

36,086 (3,259,499)

Total accumu lated 9L2 7,539,221
Tota I 174 r7 ,985,252
Right of use asset:

Right of use asset 55,085 3,190 (55,08s) 3,r90
Accumulated amortization (11,017) (709) 11,017 (709)

Total risht of use asset, net 44,068 2,481 (44,068) 2,48L
Governmentalactlvities capital assets, net 5 20,783,661, S (736,290) S - 5 20,047,37L
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Balance Decreases and Balance

Business-type Activities: O9l3ol2f lncreases Transfers O9/?O/22

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land and water rights 5 732,962 5 7o,ooo 5 5 soz,gez
Construction in progress 2,329,727 3,734,697 - 6,064,424

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 3,804,697 - 6,867,3863,062,689

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
lnfrastructure

- 8,393,131

Machinery and equipment 6,782,619 390,375 98,937
37,743,4A7

7,271,997

Total capital assets, being depreciated 57,090,451 2,279,22t 98,937 53,408,609

Accumulated depreciation:
Bu ildings and improvements
lnfrastructure

8,393,131
35,914,647 L,828,a46

(3,123,58s) 1248,327)

18,670,077) 1840,844)

- (3,377,912)

- (9,4s0,921)

Machinery and equipment (3,8L0,855) (482,136) (10,801) (4,303,792)

Total accumulated depreciation (15,544,517) (1,571.,307) (10,801) (17,126,625)

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 35,545,934 647,914 88,136 35,281,984

Right of use asset:
Right of use asset L10,L70 68,L12 (110,170) 68,L12
Accumulated amortization (22,034) (15,135) 22,034 (15,136)

Total risht of use asset. net 88.136 52,976
activities

Depreciation and amortization expense was charged to the governmenta I fu nctions as follows:

Governmental activities:
General government
Fire protection
Building
Parks and recreation
Highway and streets
Capital assets held by the government's internal service funds which are charged to the various

35,445
727,998

7,109
93,036

1.,195,525

functions based on their usage ofthe assets: 41,508

Total depreciation and amortization expense, governmental activities 1,500,621-

Business-Type activities:
Water
Wastewater
Sanitation
Fiber Optic

904,L40
355,406
108,345
208,552

Total depreciation and amortization expense, business-type activities 7,586,443
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Plan Description

The City contributes to the Base Plan which is a cost sharing muttiple-employer defined benefit pension plan

administered by Public Employee Retirement System of ldaho (PERSI or System) that covers substantially all

employees ofthe State of ldaho, its agencies and various participating political subdivisions. The cost to
administerthe plan is financed through the contributions and investment earnings ofthe plan. PERSI issues a

publicly available financial report thai includes financial statements and the required supplementary information

for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at Wly.p9!tL!!!9h9.g9!.

Responsibility for administration of the Base Plan is assigned to the Board comprised of five members appointed

by the Governor and confirmed by the ldaho Senate. State law requires that two members of the Board be active

Base Plan members with at least ten years of service and three members who are tdaho citizens not members of

the Base Plan except by reason of having served on the Board.

Pension Benefits

The Base Plan provides retirement, disability, death, and survivor benefits of eligible members or beneficiaries.

Benefits are based on members' years of service, age, and highest average salary. Mem bers become fully vested

in their retirement benefits with five years of credited service (5 months for elected or appointed officials).

Members are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their employment
classification. The annual service retirement allowance for each month of credited service is 2.0o/o 12.3o/o lor
policefirefighters) of the average monthly salary for the highest consecutive 42 months.

The benefit payments for the Base Plan are calculated using a benefit formula adopted by the ldaho Legislature.

The Base Plan is required to provide a 1% minimum cost of living increase per year provided the Consumer Price

lndex increases L% or more. The PERSI Board has the authority to provide higher cost of living increases to a

maximum of the Consumer Price lndex movement or 6%, whichever is less; however, any amount above the 1%

minimum is subject to review by the ldaho Legislature.

Member and Employer Contributions

Member and employer contributions paid to the Base Plan are set by statute and are established as a percent of
covered compensation. Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limltations, as defined by

state law. The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee contribution rates (expressed as

percentages of annual covered payrolllthat are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when

due.

The contribution rates for employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for general employees and

72% for police and firefighters. As of Ju ne 30,2022, it was 7.16% and 9.137o for police and firefighters. The

employer contribution rate is set by the Retirement Board and was 11.94% for general employees and L2,28% for
police and firefighters. The City's contributions were $346,795 for the year ended September 30, 2022
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Pension Liobilities (Assets), Pension Expense (Revenue), ond Deferred Outllows oI Resources ond Deferred lnflows

oI Resources Reloted to Pensions

At September 30, 2022, the City reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability- The net

pension liability(asset) was measured as ofJune 30, 2022, and the total pension liability(asset) used to calculate

the net pension liability(asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of

the net pension liability(asset) was based on the City's share of contributions in the Base Plan pension plan

relative to the total contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan employers. At June 30, 2022, the City's

proportion was .0719531 percent.

For the year ended September 30, 2022, the City reco8nized pension expense of 5734,765. At September 30,

2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of lnflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S

Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments

311,686
462,700
652,t7 4

72,652

contributions to the measurement date 97,13L

Total $ 1,s23,0s1 S 12,65:2

S97,131 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Employer contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability(asset) in the
year ending September 30,2022.

The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions th rough the

System (active and inactive employees) determined at.July 1, 2021, the beginning of the measurement period

ended June 30, 2021, is 4.6 years and 4.6 years for the measurement period J une 30, 2022.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Yeor Ended September 30,

2023
?o24
2025
2026

337,934
366,903
L69,692
538,740
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Actuariol Assumptions

Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee groups. Level percentages of
payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. Under the Entry Age Normal Cost

Method, the actuarial present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial valuation
is allocated as a level percentage of each yea/s earnings of the individual between entry age and assumed exit
age. The Base Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued liability based on a level percentage of payroll. The

maximu m amortization period for the Base Plan permitted under Section 59-1322, ldaho Code, is 25 years.

The total pension liability{asset) in the June 30, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

lnflation 2.3OoA

Salary increases 3.05%
Salary inflation 3.05%
lnvestment rate of return 6.35%, net of investment expenses
Cost-of-living adjustments L%

Contributing Members, Service Retirement Members, and Beneficiaries

General Employees and All Beneficiaries - Males Pub-2010 GeneralTables, increased LL%.

General Employees and All Beneficiaries - Females Pub-2010 GeneralTables, increased 2L%.
Teachers - Males Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 12%.

Teachers - Females Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 21%.

Fire & Police - Males Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 21%.
Flre & Police - Females Pub-20L0 Safety Tables, increased 26%.

5% of Fire and Police active member deaths are assumed to be duty related.
This assumptions was adopted July 1, 2021.

Disabled Members - Males Pub-2010 Disabled Tables, increased 38%.
Disabled Members - Females Pub-2010 Disabled Tables, increased 36%.

An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2020, which reviewed all
economic and demographic assumptions other than mortality. The Total Pension Liability (Asset) as ofJune 30,
2021, is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2021.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determlned using the building block
approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate rates or expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each maior asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
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Note 4r Pension Plan (Continued)

Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return assumption, the System

relies prlmarilyon an approach which builds uponthe latest capital market assumptions. Specifically, the System

uses consultants, investment managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in analyzing the

System's asset allocation. The assumptions and the System's formal policy{or asset allocation are shown below.

The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more conservative than the current allocation of System's assets.

The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to
expected long-term real retu rns a nd reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions

arc as of 2022.

copitql Mqrket Assumptions from Cqllqn 2027
Lont-Term

Expected Rate of
Target Return

Yeor Ended September 3O,2022 Allocatign (Arithmeticl

La rge Ca p

Small/Mid Cap

lnternational Equity
Emerging Markets Equity
Domestic Fixed
TIPS

Real Estate
Private Equity

LS.OO %

tt.00 %

15.OO o/o

10.00 %
20.00 %
70.oo %

8.OO %

8.00 0,4

4-5O o/o

4.70 %
4.50 %

4.90 0

(o.zsr%
(0.3o1%

3.75 o/o

6.00 %

Economic/Demographic Assumptions f rom Milliman 2021

Discount Rote

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability (asset) was 6.35%. The projection of cash flows used

to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current
contribution rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plans' net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of
return on pension plan investments was applied to all period of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability (asset). The long-term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment
expense but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense.
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Note 4: Pension Plan (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Employer's propottiondte shdre oI the net pension lidbility(asset) to chdnges in the discount rote.

The following presents the Emp'oyeds proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated using the

discount rate of 6.35 percent, as well as what the Employe/s proportionate share ofthe net pension liability
(asset) would be if itwere calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower(5.35 percent) or1-
percentage-point higher (7.35 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1016 Decrease Discount Rate l lncrease

(s.ss%l (6.35Yo1 l7.ts%l
Employer's proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) S s,ooz,s27 S 2,834,4s0 S 1,0s9,936

Pension plon Iiduciary net position

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued PERSI

financial report. PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the
required supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at
www.persi.idaho.oov.

Poyobles to the pension plan

At September 30, 2022, the City reported payables to the defined benefit pension plan of $0 for legally required
employer contributions and $0 for legally required employee contributions which had been withheld from
employee wages but not yet remltted to PERSI.

Note 5: lnterfund Balances and Activity

lnterfund receivable and payable balances in the fund financial statements on September 30, 2022, are as follows:

Receivable Payable

General Fund
LID #1 Fund
LID #5 Fund
Fiber optic fund - (429,500)

5 2,427,928 5
(424,673],

(1,s73,5s5)

Total 5 2,427,928 5 Q,427 ,9281

The City loaned funds to su pport the creation and infrastru€ture for the LID funds until the loans can be converted
into bonds or are repaid. The GeneGl fund also loaned money to the Fiber optic fund to cove. infrastructure costs

that will be reimbursed as additional users are brought onto the system. No repayment terms were set for the
LID#5 at Septembet 30,2022.
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Note 5: lnterfund Balances and Activity (continued)

Repayment of the Fiber loan will be facilitated through additional subdivision charges in the fiber optic fund
remitted annually as received.

Repayment terms for the LID fl from the general fund are set at annual principal and interest payments of
544,624 fot 20 years. lnterest for this loan is set at 3% per annum. The fourth payment was made during the 2022
fiscal year.

Repayment terms for the LID #5 from the general fund are not yet set because the LID #5 is not complete.
Payment terms will be set once all costs have been accrued.

ln the statement of net position, amounts reported in fund balance sheets as interfund balances have been

eliminated within the governmental activities columns.

lnterfund transfers at September 30, 2022, were as follows:

Fund Transfer ln Transfer Out

Generalfund
Parks and recreation

s - s 7o6,16t
706,7 67

Tota I

The General Fund transferred S706,761 to the Parks fund to assist cash flows within the city.

Note 5: Long-Term Obligations

Governmental Funds;

The City entered into a S570,000 bond through Neighborly Securities, lnc. on November 9, 2018. The bond, part of
the Fiber optic LID #2, requires annual payments for 20 years of 545,738 and has an interest rate of 5%. This bond

carries a premium in the amount of 527,067 that will be amortized over the life of the bond.

ln June 2020, the City entered into a bond agreement with Washington Federal Bank to finance the LID #3 in the
amount of 5783,195. The bond requires annual payments for L5 years of $65,038 and has an interest rate of
2.88%.

The City entered into a bond agreement with Zion Bank on September 1, 2021 in the amount of 5947,184. The

bond, part of the Fiber Optic LID #4, requires annual payment of 578,028 for 15 years and has an interest rate of
2.77%.

The City has a lease agreement with John Deere to lease a 544 P Wheel Loader for 5 years beginning May 25,

2021, th.ough May 25,2126-fhe lease calls for annual payments of 517,692 with an interest rate of 2.75% with a

balloon payment of 593,500 on May 25, 2026, The lease is subiect to non-appropriation. The cost of this asset is

split across the Water, Wastewater, and Street funds equally. Under GASB 87, this lease is now treated as a

financed purchase. The applicable portion for the street fund is included with the governmental activities
disclosure below, and the remaining portion belonging to the proprietary funds is disclosed on page 51.

s 7O6,76L $ 7O6,76L
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Note 6: Long-Term Obligations (Continued)

The following is a summary of the changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30,2022, for
the governmental activities:

Balance at Balance at Due Within
October 1, 2021 Additions Payments September 30,2022 One Year

Fiber Bond #2

Fiber Bond #3
Fiber Bond #4
Financed purchase

$ s34,662 S S (19,oos) S 515,5s7 s 19,955

Premium on Fiber Bond 25,387
477,047 49,572

753,42L 53,226
44,728 4,669

\,817,832 $ L29,428

The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments on long-term debt to maturity plus premium

amortization (see Note 7 for lease payoff schedule):

Year Ended September 30, Principal lnterest Total Premium

(900) 24,487 948
580,752
947 ,L84

49,384

(103,70s)

1L93,763)
(4,6s6)

Lease liability - 3,190 (698) 2,492 1,058

5 2,L37,369 S 3,190 S e22,727) 5

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
202a-2032
2033-2037
203a-204L

L27,422
137,LOl

67,280 5
57 ,595

194,702 s
t94,702
L94,703
219,970
188,807
839,585
342,AO4

948
995

1,045
1,,097

1,152
6,683
8,529
4,038

14L,434 53 ,269
r7t,t68 48,802
145,315 43,492
693,6s7 L4s,928
289,703 53,101

85 ,O47 6 ,430 9r,477
Total L,790,853 475,891 s 2,266,750 5 24,487

Business-Type Enterprise Funds:

On July 8, 2020, The City refunded a bond in the amount of 58,888,384 through J PMorgan Chase Bank, NA. The
new interest rate is 1.2L% per year for 11 years and created a cash flow savings of $930,308 for the City. The

required principal and interest payments are S431,752 due bi-annually in November and May.

The City entered into a $15,OOO,OOO loan with the Department of Environmental Qualiiy (DEQ) to fund the CiVs
portion ofthe regionalization projed (Eastern ldaho Regional Wastewater Authority) on April 24, 2008. The loan

was increased to $25,000,000 as confirmed by judicial review. This loan was closed for 523,213,934 on April24,
2013, and the City began repaying the loan.

The City is required to establish at the time of the issuance of the bond a reserve fund in an amount equal to 1

year's payment of principal and interest and the City established a reserve in the amount of S1,068,523 as of the
year ended September 30, 2014. The loan requires biannual payments of principal and interest at 2.25% to be

amortized over 30 years from the completlon of the project. The required payments are 5534,261 due ln October
and April.
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Note 5: Long-Term Obligations (Continued)

The City has a lease agreement with John Deere to lease a 544 P Wheel Loader for 6 years beginning May 25,

2021, through May 25,2\26.fhe lease calls for annual payments of 517,692 with an interest rate of 2.75% wilh a

balloon payment of 593,500 on lvlay 25, 2026. The lease is subject to non-appropriation. The cost of this asset is

split across the Water, Wastewater, and Street funds equally. Under GASB 87, this lease is now treated as a

financed purchase. The applicable portion for the proprietary funds is disclosed in that table below.

The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments on long-term debt to maturity (see Note 7 for lease

payoff schedule):

Year Ended September 3q Principal lnterest Total

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028-2032
2033-2037
2038-2042

S 1,370,139 S

1,499,083
L,525,793
1,602,553

Ls6a32L

s73,681 s L,943,82O

444,737 t,943,82O
4L8,OZ7 L,943,820
391,806 L,994,3s9
363,705 L,932,026

7 3A8,244 L,4O8,379 8,796,623
4,504,095 838,515 5,342,6L0
4,930,551 305,128 5,23s,679

Total 5 24,388,779 5 4,743,978 S 29,L32,7s7

Following is a summary of the changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30, 2022, for the
enterprise funds:

Beginning Balance Ending Balance Due Within
Governmental activities: October 1,2021 lncrease Decrease September 30,2022 One Year

Financed purchase
Refunding Bond - Water
Revenue Bond - Sewer

98,628 s
8,1L0,006

t7,686,408

s (11,s43) s
(7 67 ,687)
(729,4041

89,456 s
7,342,3L9

76,957,OO4

9,338
777,005
583,795

1,4

Tota I

The City has pledged future water customer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the
57,342,319 water revenue refunding bond. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require less

than 100% of net revenues.

The City has pledged future wastewater customer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the
S16,957,004 wastewater revenue bond. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require less than
100% of net revenues.

24 740
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Note 7: Lease Agreements

City as Lessee

The terms and expiration dates ofthe City's leases payable at September 30, 2022 are as follows:

Enterprise Fleet Management - Lease agreement dated February 2022 in the original principal amount of S20,267.
Due in monthly installments of 5575, including interest at 1.35% per annum. This lease expires after 36 months
and is collateralized by a truck. Thls asset is used by the water fund.

Enterprise Fleet Management - Lease agreement dated February 2022 in the original principal amount of $25,577.
Due in monthly installments of 5724, including interest at 1.35% per annum. This lease expires after 36 months

and is collateralized by a truck. This asset is used by the water and wastewater fu nds with half of the cost charged

to each fund.

Enterprise Fleet Management - Lease agreement date d February 2022 in the original principal amount of $25,5t7.
Due in monthly installments of 5724, including interest at 1.35% per annum. This lease expires after 36 months

and is collateralized by a truck. This asset is used by the water, wastewatet sanitation, and street funds with one
quarter of the cost charged to each fund.

The following is a schedule of changes in leased assets for the year:

Beginning Balance Ending Balance Due within
Governmental activities: October 1, 2021 lnffease Decrease September 30, 2022 One Year

2022 Fotd F-150 (2 units) S S s1,034 S (11,162) S

2022 Ford Ranger - 20,267 (4,433)
39,872 s L6,934
15,834 6,725

S S 71,301 S {1s,ses) $ 5s,706 s 23,659

The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments on long-term lease to maturity:

Year Ended September 30, Principal lnterest Total

2023
2024
2025

23,659
23,980

606 5
285

24,265
24,265

Total 974

Note 8: Deficit Fund Balance

The Fiber Optic Local lmprovement District #L is in a deficit of $384,302 at September 30, 2022. This amount is

expected to be repaid through the collections in the LID over time. The Fiber Optic Local lmprovement District #5
is in a deficit of 51,498,860 at September 30, 2022. This amount is expected to be repaid through the collections in

the LID over time.
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Note 9: Fund Balance

According to Governmental Accounting Standards, fund balances are to be classified into five major classifications;
Nonspendable Fund Balance, Restricted Fund Balance, Committed Fund Balance, Assigned Fund Balance, and
Unassigned Fund Balance. As of September 30, 2022, the City had restricted funds for the following projects:

ProFcfs; General Fund Street Building
East Hills Development S 16,298 S - S
Snowcrest Development
Mountain Bend - Division 2
Rockwell Homes
Liberty Homes
Kartchner Homes
JKY Properties - All star Homes
Hilltop Homes

My Storage Ammon
Guardian Homes
Tallman Construction
Riverbend Management
Crystal Builders
Odyssey Homes
Developer deposits

- 54,210
- 47 ,707
- L95,216
- 7,320
_ 2,093
- 1,000
- 600
- 2,800
- 4,097
- 1,000
- s23,060
- 2,552
- 1,000

9,686
9,686

Note 10: Federal Grants

During fiscal years 2021 and 2022, the City was the recipient of 53.68 million in federal funds under the
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds program ("CSLFRF") for the purposes of responding to the
ramifications of the coronavirus pandemic. This is a one-time award which the City has designated for use on
infrastructure related to water, sewer, and broadband services throughout the City. 53.58 million of these funds
are shown as Grants and Contracts for presentation purposes in the attached financials and were spent during
fiscal year 2022. The remaining amount is shown as deferred revenue.

Note 11: Jointly Governed Organization

The City is participating in a joint venture with the City of Shelley, Bingham County, and Bonneville County for a

treatment plant for wastewater. The City entered into a joint powers agreement to provide joint financing, design,
acquisition, construction, management, and operation of a regional wastewater treatment and disposal facility.

A separate legal entity, Eastern ldaho Regional Wastewater Authority (EIRWWA), was created. lt is governed by a
board made up of representatives from each of the members of the joint powers agreement. Capitalized assets
acquired by the members of the joint powers agreement for EIRWWA during the construction phase were
donated to the Authority as that phase became operational. ln May 2022, the community voted the transition
from EIRWWA to the Eastern ldaho Regional Sewer District {EIRSD). This change was effeciive August 2022.

Tota I s L6,298 s 842,6ss 5
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The Board of the EIRWWA assesses and collects from each participating member discharge/hookup fees,
operation and maintenance fees, and fees to pay for costs in excess of defined equivalent residential unit (ERU)
allocations each year.

Each member must collect, as a minimum, discharge,/hookup fees, and operation and maintenance fees
established by the board and remit them to the Authority. Each member may also establish its own operation and
maintenance fees and discharge/hookup fees in addition to those determined by the board as well as debt service
fees.

ln the event offederal, state, or local court action concerning the facility, each member will assume responsibility
for such litigation in a direst proportion to the percentage of use of the system. lf the facility needs to expand in
the future and the EIRWWA does not have adequate funds in their reserve fund accumulated from the
discharge/hookup fees, each member of the joint powers agreement will pay additional funds necessary to
construct the complete next phase of the development of the facility.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, the facility began accepting flow from the City of Shelley,
Bonneville County, and Bingham County. As perthejoint powers agreement, the City ofAmmon distributed the
capitalized assets acquired during the construction of the treatment plant to the Authority (S9,564,999). The initial
capitalization of the EIRWWA as of September 30, 2010, w as 527,863,728. During the fiscal year ended September
30, 2012, the City connected to the treatment plant and distributed the capitalized assets acqutred during the
construction of the Eastern lnterceptor line of 5 !7,480,587 and contributed an additional 5809,659 during the
year ended September 30, 2013.

The costs ofthe operations ofthe EIRWWA/EIRsD are being allocated based on the users ofthe system.
Currently, this results in 59% being allocated to the City ofAmmon. The City of Ammon paid 5931,737 forflow
charges and S1,778,696 for the capacity replacement fees the City collected for ETRWWA/EIRSD during the 2021-
2o22 fiscal year. The city paid an additional S1.6 million of ARPA funding and S1,924,115 of capital replacement
savings to EIRSD for phase 1 oftheir constructon project to increase capacity at the plant,

The Eastern ldaho Regional Wastewater Authority has a fiscal year end of September 30. Financial statements are
available at:

EIRWWA/EIRSD
618 E 1250 N

Shelley, lD 83274

Note 12: Ammon Urban Renewal Agency

Reporting Entitv. The component unit in the government-wide financial statements includes the financial data of
the Ammon Urban RenewalAgency (Agency), the City's only discretely presented component unit. It is reported in
a separate column to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City in accordance with state urban renewal
law-

Summarv of Sisnificant Accountins Policies. The basis of accounting for the government-wide financial statements
is the accrual basis of accounting.
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Note 12: Ammon Urban Renewal Agency (continued)

Cash and lnvestments. At September 30, 2022, the catrying amount and bank balance of the Agency's deposits
was S168,372. The entire balance was covered by federal depository insurance.

Bonds Pavable. The Agency issued 52,935,000 of Multi-mode Variable Rate Revenue Allocation (Tax lncrement)
Bonds, Series 1999A in July 1999. The payment on these bonds is interest only, until maturity at AugusI 1,2024.
The interest rate on these bonds is variable. The Agency exercised their optional redemption rights and as of
September 30, 2022, the entire principal balance has now been paid off.

Restricted Fund Balance. A portion of the fund balance of the Debt Service Reserve Fund was created to segregate
a portion of fund balance for debt service, including both principal and interest payments.

Notes Pavable. On January 28, 1998, the Agency entered into a Limited Recourse Promissory Note (Phase I Note,
Series 1997A Project Note) payable in the amount of 5917,150 to CPI / Ammon Limited Partnership. The note
bears interest at 9.0%. The principal balance on the note at September 30,2022, is 59L7,L50. Future debt service
payments on the note are not specified.

On January 28, L998, the Agency entered into a Limited Recourse Promissory Note (Phase I Note, Bond Project
Series 19978 Project) payable in the amount of 546,915 to CPI / Ammon Limited Partnership. The note bears
interest at 5.88%. The prlncipal balance on the note at September 30, 2022, is $46,9L5. Future debt service
payments on the note are not specified.

The recourse of CPI / Ammon Limited Partnership for payment on these notes is limited solely to the funds in the
Revenue Allocation Fund, after payment of interest and principal on the bonds and payments to fund the
Administrative Fund. The Agency's obligation to make revenue allocation payments to CPI / Ammon Limited
Partnership terminates with taxes collected and paid to the Agency for the calendar year be8inning January 1,

2024. lnterest accrued on these notes through September 30, 2022, was approxlmately S2,761,999.

Capital lmprovement Reimbursement Pavable/Receivable. On December 7, 2021 , the Agency entered into a
Capital lmprovement reimbu rsement agreement with Advance Creative Solutions, LLC in the amount of S833,354.
This agreement was later amended to include S195,192 to be paid to the Heaton Family and the original
agreement was amended to Advance Creative Solutions by the amount to be paid to the Heaton's. The agreement
provides that they will pay 7070 of the revenue allocation proceeds that the Agency receives. lf the amou nt has not
been paid in full by December 31, 2040 the obligation is terminated. As the amount of the reimbursement amount
is based upon property tax revenue to be received a receivable has also been booked in the same amount. As of
September 30, 2022lhe payable/receivable balance is S830,354.

Chanqes in General Lonq-Term Debt. A summary of the changes in the General Long-term Debt is as follows:

Yedr Ended September 30, 2022
Series 1999A

Bonds
Notes Reimbursement
Payable Payable

Balance at October 1, 2021. s 165,000 s 964,065 s
Principal payment (165,000) 830,354

Balance at Septembet 30,2022 5 964,065 5 830,354
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Note 12: Ammon Urban Renewal Agency (Continued)

Propertv Tax Revenue. Current property tax revenue is not meeting original expectations. When the Series 1999

Bonds and other notes payable were entered into, property tax Tevenue was expected to have increased

significantly enough to make the principal payments as well as the interest. The required interest payments are

being made on the Bonds as well as principal payments as cash flows permit. The Agency currently expects to pay

the Bonds in full, however it will not be able to make the entire principal balance on the Note Payabie in 2024 if
property tax revenues do not increase significantly, The Agency does not expect to be able to pay any interest
accrued on the Note Payable.

Letter-of-Credit. The Agency entered into an irrevocable direct-pay letter-of-credit dated July 21, 1999, with Wells

Fargo Bank in order to secure and facilitate payment of principal and interest on the Series 1.999 Bonds (the

Bonds). The agreement amount is not to exceed the outstanding principal amount ofthe Bonds and 45 days'

interest calculated at 12% per annum. The letter-of-credit has been extended until August 1,2022. The letter-of-
credit fee is due in advance on August 1 of each year and is equal to 2% of the outstanding principal of the Bonds,

The letter-of-credit fees incurred for the year ended September 30, 2022, was S2,512.

Economic Dependencv. The Agency receives approximately 80% of its tax revenue from three entities.

Subsequent Events. Management ofthe Agency evaluated subsequent events through January 19,2023, which
was the date the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no subsequent type events,
identified by management of the Agency, that are required to be disclosed.
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City of Ammon
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

-Budget and Actual-
Governmental Funds

General

original and Variance with

Revenues
Property taxes
Franchise fees
Licenses and Permits
lntergovernmental
Penalty and charges
Planning
Earnings on lnvestments
Grants and Awards
Miscellaneous revenues

s 2,356,3s3 5 2,37O,39s s L4,o4Z

17O,0OO r57 ,849 (p,rsLl
100,150 106,514 6,364

2,380,074 2,707,654 327,580

58,837

(s)

82,429

(s)

23,592
!2!,066 1244,677\ (36s,7431

40,685 24,250 (16,435)

188,905 79,628 (LO9,2771

Expenditures
Current

General Government
Law Enforcement
Fire Protection
Planning & Zoning
Engineering

5 L,s67 ,66s 5 r,426,348 5

1,920,5t2 1,889,452
- L,97t

L90,723 183,065

t46,324 737 ,695

1.4L,317

31,060

1L,971)
7,658
8,629

Capitalouilav 200,000 - 200,000

Total expenditures 4,025,224 3,638,53L 386,693

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures 1',390,846 1,645,506 254,660

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers out (706'76r\ Vo6,76L\ -

Total other fina

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

See lndependent Auditor's Report.

5___684.A85 e38,745 5____E4E5o

11.876.6t4

5_f2,815,35i1
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-Budget and Actual-
Governmental Funds

Street

Year tnded September 30, 2022
Original and
Final Budget

Variance with
Final BudgetActual

Revenues

Franchise fees
lntergovernmental revenue
Planning
Earnings on lnvestments
Grants and Awards

S 28s,ooo 5 3oo,o11 S zL,olr
828,570 L,283,054 4s4,484
LL4,750 449,4L4 334,664
22,066 (s1,360) (73,426)

5,375,700 - (s,37s,7OO)
Miscellaneous revenue 6!,200 14,630 (46,570\

Total revenues 6,697,286 2,OO1,,749 (4,685,5371

Expenditures
Current

Total expenditures 6,938,532 1,511,703 5,426,829

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

See lndependent Auditor's Report.

5__JE!,2461 4so,o46 s____J41,2e2

L.373.479

s 1.863,475
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City of Ammon
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance-Budget

and Actua l-Gove rn m enta I Funds

Parks and Recreation

Original and
Year Ended Septembet 30,2022 Final Budget

Variance with
Final Budget

Revenues

Planning

Miscellaneous Revenues
Recreation Fees

12s,200 s 2s,000 s (100,200)

L30,000 74,223 155,777)
246,7sO 2L6,4r7 (30,333)

Total revenues s01,950 315,640 (1.86,310)

Expenditures
Current

Parks

Recreation
Pool

77s,622 5 4s3,939 I 321.,683

226,98L 254,492 l27,s7L\
2O6,LO9 222,237 (L6,128)

Total expenditures L,208,7L2 930,668 278,O44

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures (706,762) (615,028) 91,734

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers ln 706,761 tO6,761

Total other financing sources (uses) 706,7 61, 706,76L

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

See lndependent Auditor's Report.

l________lt) 91,,7 33

{6s,043)

s___26,69A

$ 91.,734
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City of Ammon
Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability

PERSI-Base Plan Last 10-Fiscal Years*

2022 202r 2020 2019 2014

Employer's portion of the Net Pension
Liabilitv (Asset) o.o77s63 ",1 o_o77600 0l 0.o77370.1 o.o771,LO ./ 0.O71,L2O'/t

Employer's proportionate share of Net
Pension Liabilitv(Asset) 2,834,450 16L,286. 1,796,636 880,145 t,049,062
Total 2,834,4s0 16L,286. L,796,636 880,14s ),,049,062
Emplover's Covered Pavroll 2,gs0,023 2,783,300 2,765,392 2,618,938 2,369,8!L
Employer's Proportionate Share of the
net pension liability(asset) as a percent
of Covered Payroll 99.45 0/

12.20lot 64.97 0t 33.6L o/, 44.27 0t

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a percent
of Total Pension Liability 83.O9 0/, LOO.36 ./, 88.22 0/, 93.79 0/e 91.69 0t

Determined as of the Measurement Date

2017 2015 20L5
Employer's portion of the Net Pension
Liability (Asset) 0.066020 "t 0.064340 0l o.o647to ot

Employer's proportionate share of Net
Pension Liability(Asset) t,o37,718 1,304,338 852,O82
Tota I 1,037 ,714 1,304,338 852,O82

Emplover's Covered Pavroll 2,050,530 r,881,846 t,872,472
Employer's Proportionate Share as a
percent of Covered Payroll 50.6t ot 69.3L ot 47 .O1 0/,

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a percent
of Total Pension Liabilitv 90.6A % 87 .26 0/, 91.38 0t

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table. However, until a full 10-
year trend is compiled, the City will present information for those years for which information is available

Data reported is measured as ofJune30,2022.

see lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Schedule of Employer Contributions
PERS|-Base Plan Last 10-Fiscal Years*

2022 2021 2020 20t9 2018

Statutorilv Required Contribution 348,257 326,352 338,s94 308,277 268,872

Contributions in Relation to lhe
StatutorilV Required Contributions 348,251 326,3s2 338,s94 308,277 268,872

Contribution Deficiencv (Excess) 0 0 0 0 0

Emplover's Covered Pavroll 2,91,6,677 2,733,270 2,824,407 2,678,343 2,354,629

Contributions as a percent of Covered
Payroll 77.94 0/. 71.94 0t 77.99'/t tt.sL "t 11,.42./,

Determined as ofthe Reporting Date

20L7 2016 2015

Statutorily Required
Contributions 240,568 21,5,7 43 206,496

Plan Choice Rate
Required Contributions 0 0 0

Contributions in Relation
to the Statutorily
Required Contributions 240,568 275,743 206,496

Contribution Deficiency
(Excess) 0 0 0

Citv's covered pavroll 2,1L7 ,587 1,898,349 1,816,643

Contributions as a
percent of covered
Payroll 17.36 0t 11,.36 % tt_63 0t

x GASB Statement No- 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table. However, until a full 10-
year trend is compiled, the City will present information for those years for which information is available,

Data reported is measu red as of September 30,2022.

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenue sources that are restricted, committed,
or assigned to expenditures for partlcular purposes.

Buildinr tund
The Building Fund is used to account for the operation and maintenance of the building department, the
applications for licenses and permits, and payments for building permits in the City.

Fiber Optic Local lmprovement District #1
Fiber Optic LID #1 is the City's installation of fiber optlc in the area selected to be the initial users of City fiber
optic. The subdivisions included are the Cottages, the Villas, Mountain Valley Estates, Felt and Waite, and
Stonehaven. The installation was completed during the year ended September 30, 2018.

Fiber Optic Local lmorovement District *2
Fiber Optic LID #2 is used to account for the City's installation of fiber optic in Cottonwood Hills, Fou nders Pointe,
and Eagle Pointe subdivisions. The installation was completed during the year ended September 30, 2019.

Fiber Ootic Local lmorovement District f3
Fiber Optic LID #3 is used to accou nt for the City's installation of fiber optic in Bridgewater, Centennial Ranch,
Jennie Jean Estates, and Hawks Landing Division #1 subdivisions. The installation was completed during the year
ended September 30, 2020.

Fiber Optic Local lmprovement District #4
Fiber Optic LID #4 is used to accou nt for the City's installation of fiber optic in Woodland Hills, Courtland Ridge,

Highland Springs and Fox Hollow subdivisions. The installation was completed during the year ended September
30,202L.

Fiber Optic Local lmorovement Oistrict fls
Fiber Optic LID #5 is used to account for the City's installation of fiber optic in North Centennial, Briar Creek, North
Tie Breaker to First Street, Georgia to Sunnyside, South Ross, and Rawson Street subdivisions. The installation
started during the year ended Septembet 30,2021., but has not been com pleted.

See Independent Auditor's Report
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City of Ammon
Combini Balance Sheet - Nonmaior Governmental Funds

September 30,2022 Buildint

Fiber Local Fiber Local Fiber Local

lmprovement lmprovement lmprovement
District S1 District [2 District f3

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Cash and investments S

Other receivables

720,763 5 20,235 5
24,52L 43L,496

52,5M 5

362,476
42,893

5L2,824

Total assets 744,684 45L,731 415,O20 555,1t7

Liabilities, Deferred lnflows of Resources

and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accrued salaries and benefits
Accrued interest payable
Deposits payable
lnterfund payable

11,250

9,685
424,673

L7,87t 5,075

Totalliabilities 20,936 432,246 17,87L 5,075

Deferred inflows of resources
unavailable revenues 403,787 343,91,4 479,,T2

Total deferred inflows of resources 403,787 343,9t4 478,Os2

Total liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources 20,936 836,033 361,785 483,727

Fund balances
Restricted for

Development commitments
Other

9,686
714,062

Unassigned - (384,302)
53,235 72,590

Total fund balances 723,748 (384,302) s3,23s 72,s90

Total liabilities, deferred inflows or
resources and fund balances s 144,684 5 4s1,731. s 41s,020 s sss,7ll

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

September j0, 2022

Fiber Local Fiber Local
lmprovement lmprovement AllNonmajor

District #4 District fl5 Funds

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
Cash and investments
Other receivables

34,455 s
739,977

119,6L9 s 989,909
2,O77,294

Total assets 774,432 t19,6t9 3,06L,203

Liabilities, Deferred lnflows of Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accrued salaries and benefits
Accrued interest payable
Deposits payable
lnterfund payable

L,977-
16,305

28,5L9
27 ,555
61,009
9,686

1,573,655 L,998,328

Total liabllities 7,971 1,,61,8,479 2,096,578

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable revenues 681,19s 1,906,948

Total deferred inflows of resources 681,19s 1",906,948

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 683,166 L,618,479 4,O03,526

Fund balances
Restricted for

Development commitments
Other 9t,266

- 9,586
- 931,153

Unassigned - {1,498,860) (1,883,162)

Totalfund balances 91,266 (1,498,860) s (942,323)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows or
resources and fund balances 774,432 5 119,619 s 3,061,203

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund

Balance - Other Governmental Funds

Yedr Ended September i0, 2022 Building

Fiber Local Fiber Local Fiber Local

lmprovement lmprovement lmprovement
District $1 District #2 District #3

Revenues

Licenses and Permits
Plan n ing

Earnings on investment
Miscellaneous revenue

823,321 s

(13,000)

884

o'r,rri
L3,440

62,589
11 ,7 42

105,260
L7,320

Total revenues 8LL,2Os 6t,250 80,331 t22,580

Expenditures
Current:

Building
Fiber qptic LID

551, L10
17,805 1o8,733 t24,584

Totalexpenditures 551,110 71 ,805 108,733 L24,584

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 260,095 43,445 128,402] (2,OO4l

Net change in fund balance 260,095 43,445

Fund balanc!, beginning ofyear 463,653 1427,7471

(28,402l,

81,637

(2,004)

74,594

Fund balance, end ofyear $ 723,748 S (384,302) S 53,235 5 72,590

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes ln Fund

Balance - Other Governmental Funds

Yeor Ended September iO, 2022

Fiber Local Fiber Local
lmprovement lmprovement AllNonmaior

District S4 District #5 Funds

Revenues

Licenses and Permits
Planning

Earnings on investment
M iscellaneous revenue

-s
L72,L5a

24,0L6

823,321,
387,8L7

59,518
884

-s

Total revenues 796,774 7,27t,540

Expenditures
Current:

Bu ilding
Fiber Optic LID 2L9,984

- 551,110
109,937 1,,1,81,037

Total expenditures 219,984 709,937 t,732,1,47

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (23,810) (709,931) (460,507)

Net change in fund balance (23,810) (709,931) 1460,607l

Fund balance, beginning of year LL5,076 (788,929) 1481-,7L6)

Fund balance, end of year S 9r,266 5 (1,498,860) 5 p42,3231

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Combining Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Pressurized All Nonmajor
September 30,2022 lrrigation Sanitation Funds

Assets

Current assets

lnvestments
Accounts receivable

6,981
(303)

3,063,946
43,895

3,070,927
43,592

Total current assets

Nondepreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital assets, net

6,678 3,107,847

- 37 ,357
- 4r4,8r9

3,174,5L9

37,357
4t4,879

2,48LRight of Use Asset, net - 2,481

Total assets 6,678 3,s62,498 3,569,776

Defurred outflow of resources
Related to pensions 84,177 44,777

Total assets and deferred outflow of resources 6,678 3,646,675 3,653,353

Liabilities
Current

Accrued salaries and benefits
Accrued interest
Deposit Payable
Lease liability - current

3,000

L6,443

3,500
1,058

L6,443
3

6,500
1,058

Total current liabilities 3,000 2t,oo4 24,OO4

Non-current
Lease liability
Pension l-iability

r,434
to2,o27

L,434
702,027

Total non-current liabilities LO3,46L 703,46L

Total liabilities 3,000 124,465 t27 ,465

Deferred inflow of resources
Related to pensions 455 455

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets

Assigned 3,000
Unrestricted 678 3,069,590

452,1,65 452,L65

3,000
3,070,268

Total net position (deficit) 3,678 3,521,755 3,525,433

Total assets and deferred outflow of resources 6,67A 3,646,615 3,553,353

See lndependent Auditor's Report.
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City of Ammon
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes ln Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Pressurized All Nonmajor
Yeor Ended september jo, 2022 lrrigation Sanitation Funds

Operating revenues
Charges for Services
Miscellaneous

-S 71s,431 S 7ts,43l
7,988 t,462 9,4s0

Total operating revenues 7,988 716,893 724,881-

Operating expenses
Operations and Maintenance
Salaries and Benefits
Depreciation

2t9,478
255,2s6
108,345

2t9,478
255,256
108,34s

Total operating expenses - 583,079 583,079

Operating income (loss) 7 ,988 L33,8L4 147,802

Non-operating revenues (expenses)

Earnings on lnvestments ll7ol (80,9s4) 187,L24)
lnterest Expense - l29l Q9)

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (1.70) (80,983) (81,153)

Changes in net position 7,8t8 52,831 60,649

Net position, beginning of year (4,140) 3,468,924 3,464,784

Net position, e"d o

5ee lndependent Auditor's Report.
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lndependent Auditor's Report on tnternal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Stondards

Honorable Mayor and city Council
City of Ammon
Ammon, ldaho

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and

the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Stqnddrds, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-

type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Ammon, as of and for the
year ended September 30, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City of Ammon's basic financial statements, and have issued ou r report thereon dated February fO,2023. Our
report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of Ammon Urban Renewal

Agency, the discretely presented component unit, as described in our report on the City's financial statements.
This report does not include the results of the other auditors' testing of internal control over financial reporting or
compliance and other matters that are reported separately by those other auditors.

Report on lnternal Control Over Financial Reporting

ln planning and performing ou r audit of the financlal statements, we considered the City of Ammon's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in

the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose

ofexpressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe City of Ammon's internalcontrol. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe City of Ammon's internal control.

A deliciency in internol contral exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A mote rial weokness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal
control, such that there is reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the City of Ammon's financial
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significont deficiency is a

deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify alldeficiencies in internalcontrolthat might be materialweaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that were not identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assu rance about whether the City of Ammon's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compllance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providingan opinion on compliance withthose provisions was not an objective of
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion, The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required Io be reported under 6overnment Auditing Stondords.

Purpose of This Report

The pu rpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance a nd the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Ammon's internal control
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 60vernment Auditing
Stordords in considerinB the City of Ammon's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is
not suitable for any other purpose.

A,4y; LLP
Wipfli LLP

ldaho Falls, ldaho
February 10, 2023
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APPENDIX E 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 

August 29, 2024 

Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District 

618 E 1250 N 

Shelley, ID  83274 

 

Underwriter 

 

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association 

170 S Main Street, Suite 200 

Salt Lake City, UT  84101 

Re: Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2024  

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance of the Eastern Idaho 
Regional Sewer District Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2024, in the principal amount of 
$36,075,000, dated _______________, 2024 (the “Bonds”), authorized by the Eastern Idaho Regional 
Sewer District (the “District”) pursuant to Resolution No. 2204-004 of the District Board of Directors 
(the “Board”) adopted July 16, 2024 (the “Bond Resolution”) and pursuant to the Paying Agent 
Agreement dated ______________, 2024, between the District and U.S. Bank Trust Company, 
National Association, as Trustee and Paying Agent (the “Trustee”).  The final pricing and interest 
rates on the Bonds were accepted by the officials of the District and pursuant to the Bond Purchase 
Agreement dated ________________, 2024 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), executed between 
_____________________, as Underwriter, and the District. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise 
defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms by the Trust Indenture. 

 The Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds, dated as of the date of their delivery, in 
minimum denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples of $5,000 in excess thereof.  The Bonds 
mature, bear interest, are payable and are subject to redemption prior to maturity, in the manner 
and upon the terms set forth therein and in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Bond Resolution 
provides that the Bonds are limited obligations of the District and shall be secured solely by a 
pledge of the Pledged Revenue, on a parity with any Additional Bonds that may be issued in the 
future, and other sources provided therefor in the Trust Indenture. 

 In connection therewith, we have examined the applicable law, a duly certified transcript of 
proceedings of the District, and other documents which we deem necessary to render this opinion. 
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 We have relied upon the certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials 
regarding questions of fact material to our opinion and have not undertaken to verify the same by 
independent investigation.   

 We have examined the Constitution and laws of the State of Idaho, including Title 42, 
Chapters 32 and 41, and Title 57, Chapters 2 and 9, Idaho Code, and such other laws, proceedings 
prepared, in part, by us, relating to the authorization, issuance, and sale of the Bonds, in particular, 
the Bond Resolution, and such other documents as we have deemed necessary to render this 
opinion.  This opinion is dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds.   

 Based upon our examination, it is our opinion, under existing law and as of the date hereof: 

1. The District is a validly created and existing sewer district and body politic and corporate of 
the State of Idaho, with full power and authority to borrow money for the purposes set forth in the 
Bond Resolution, to issue, sell, and deliver the Bonds, and to enter into and to perform its 
obligations under the Bond Resolution.   

2. The Bonds have been lawfully authorized under the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Idaho and constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the District, payable from Pledged 
Revenue as provided in the Bond Resolution.  The full faith and credit of the District is not pledged 
for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds and a separate tax levy is not 
authorized for the payment of the Bonds. 

3. The Bonds are being issued under the authority of Chapters 32 and 41 of Title 42, and 
Chapters 2 and 9 of Title 57, Idaho Code, for the purpose of paying for capital improvements, as set 
forth in the Bond Resolution.  The Bond Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Directors of 
the District, is in full force and effect as of the date hereof and have not been amended, except as 
set forth, or repealed subsequent to their adoption. The officials of the District named in the Official 
Statement have been duly elected or appointed to and are as of the date hereof qualified to serve in 
their respective positions. 

4. The Bond Purchase Agreement and the Continuing Disclosure have been duly authorized, 
executed, accepted and delivered by the District and are enforceable according to their respective 
terms. 

5. To the best of our knowledge and information and belief, after due inquiry, there is no 
action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, before any court, public board, 
or body, pending or threatened against or affecting the District, its boundaries, or its corporate 
existence, or the titles of its officers to their respective offices, or seeking to prohibit, restrain, or 
enjoin the authorization, sale, issuance, or delivery of, or security for, the Bonds or any way 
contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the Bond Purchase Agreement, or 
the Bond Resolution or contesting in any way the validity of the proceedings authorizing the Bonds, 
or materially affecting the finances of the District. 

6. The execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Bond Resolution, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the District’s compliance with its obligations 
set out in those instruments, will not conflict with or constitute a breach of, or a default under any 
existing law, court or administrative regulations, decree, or any other legislative act, constitutional 
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or other proceeding, applicable or relating to the establishment by the District of its affairs, 
ordinances or resolutions, or any agreement, indenture, mortgage, lease or other instrument to 
which the District is subject or by which it is bound. 

7. Except as discussed below and assuming continuing compliance with the requirements 
referenced below, the interest on the Bonds is excludable from the gross income of the holders or 
owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  We are further of the opinion that the interest may 
not be included as an individual or corporate alternative minimum tax (AMT) preference item under 
Section 57(a)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  After December 
31, 2022, there is a corporate AMT, which, when effective, applies to applicable corporations.  An 
applicable corporation does not include an S Corporation, a real estate investment trust or a 
regulated investment company. A corporation that is determined not to be an "applicable 
corporation" will remain exempt from the corporate alternative minimum tax consistent with its 
repeal in 2023 as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. In expressing the aforementioned opinions, we 
have relied on, and assume compliance by the District with, certain representations and covenants 
regarding the use and investment of the proceeds of the Bonds.  We have not undertaken and do 
not undertake to monitor compliance by the District with such requirements; and if the District 
should fail to comply with such requirements, the interest on the Bonds could become includable 
in gross income for federal and State of Idaho income tax purposes retroactive to the date of 
issuance of the Bonds.    

8. Interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for purposes of income taxation by the 
State of Idaho. 

 

 The opinions set forth above are qualified only to the extent that certain rights and remedies 
of the holders of the Bonds may be limited or rendered ineffective by applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other laws or judicial decisions or principles of equity 
relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights or contractual obligations generally. 

 The opinions expressed in this opinion letter are subject to the following: 

 The obligations of the District pursuant to the Bonds and the Bond Resolution are subject to 
the application of general principles of equity and public policy limitations on the exercise of any 
rights to indemnification and contribution, to the reasonable exercise in the future by the State and 
its governmental bodies of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State, and to the 
exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to it by the Federal Constitution, 
including without limitation, bankruptcy powers.  

 The rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights 
heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, and their enforcement 
may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.  

 Ownership of the Bonds may result in collateral federal tax consequences to certain 
taxpayers.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the 
applicability of any such collateral consequences. 



49  

 In this opinion letter issued in our capacity as bond counsel, we are passing only upon 
those matters set forth herein and are not passing upon the accuracy, adequacy or completeness 
of any information furnished to any person in connection with any offer or sale of the Bonds or upon 
any federal or State of Idaho tax consequences arising from the receipt or accrual of interest on or 
the ownership of the Bonds except those specifically addressed in Paragraphs Eight and Nine 
above.  

 This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update, revise or 
supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our 
attention or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

  

 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      MSBT Law, Chartered 

 

 

 

      Stephanie J. Bonney  
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APPENDIX F 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION 

The Bond Resolution contains various covenants and security provisions, some of which 
are summarized below.  Wherever particular provisions of the Bond Resolution are referred to, such 
provisions are incorporated by reference as a part of the statements made, and the statements 
made are qualified in their entirety by such reference.  Reference is made to the Bond Resolution for 
a full and complete statement of its provisions.  Words and terms used in this summary that are not 
defined in the Bond Resolution shall have the meanings as in the Bond Resolution.  Upon written 
request, the District Business Manager will provide an electronic copy of the Bond Resolution.  The 
District Business Manager’s address is 618 E 1250 N Shelley, ID 83274. 

Additional Definitions  

Among the more significant definitions not heretofore defined are the following:  

Operation and Maintenance Expenses or any phrase of similar import means all reasonable 
and necessary current expenses of the District, (except depreciation), paid or accrued, of operating, 
maintaining, and repairing the System or of levying, collecting, and otherwise administering the Net 
Revenues for the payment of the Bond; and the term includes (except as limited by contract or 
otherwise limited by law) without limiting the generality of the foregoing:  
 

(1) Engineering, auditing, reporting, legal, and other overhead expenses of the 
various District departments directly relating and reasonably allocable to the 
administration of the System;  

 
(2) Fidelity bonds and property and liability insurance premiums pertaining to the 
System, or a reasonably allocable share of a premium of any blanket bond or policy 
pertaining thereto;  

 
(3) Payments to pension, retirement, health, and hospitalization funds and other 
insurance related to the System;   
 
(4) Any taxes, assessments, excise taxes, or other charges which may be lawfully 
imposed on the District, the System, revenues therefrom, or any privilege in connec-
tion with their operation; 

 
(5) The reasonable charges of the bond registrar, fiscal or paying agent, 
commercial bank, trust bank, or other depository bank pertaining to the Bond  issued 
by the District or pertaining to the Project, if any; 

 
(6) Contractual services, professional services, salaries, other administrative 
expenses, and the cost of materials, supplies, repairs, and labor, pertaining to the 
issuance of the Bond and to the ordinary operation of the System; and  
 
(7) All other administrative, general, and commercial expenses of the System.   
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Revenue of the System means all revenues received by the District from its System and may 
include, at the discretion of the District, moneys derived from one, all, or any combination of revenue 
sources pertaining to the System, including, without limitation, rates, charges, rents, connection 
fees, other fees, and any other income derived from the operation or ownership of, the use of services 
of, or the availability of or services pertaining to, or otherwise derived in connection with, the System 
or all or any part of any property pertaining to the System.   

 
System means the sanitary wastewater system of the District, as the same now exists, 

including its assets, real and personal, tangible and intangible, and as it may later be added to, 
extended, and improved, and shall include buildings, structures, utilities, or other income 
producing wastewater facilities from the operation of or in connection with which the revenues of 
the payment of the Bond to be issued hereunder will be derived, and the lands pertaining thereto. 

Additional Covenants  

In addition to the rate covenant heretofore described, the District further covenants and 
agrees.  

(1) Neither the System, nor any part thereof, nor any of the Revenues derived from the 
System, have been or will be hypothecated, mortgaged, or otherwise pledged or 
encumbered, save and except as disclosed and provided for in the Bond Resolution.  

(2) The District will not furnish or supply any service furnished by or in connection with the 
System free of charge, to any firm or corporation, public or private, and the District will 
enforce the payment of any and all amounts owed the District by reason of the System.  

(3) The District will perform all duties with reference to the System required by the 
Constitution and statutes of the State of Idaho, and the District will not pledge, 
mortgage or otherwise encumber the System or any part thereof, or any Revenues 
therefrom, except in the manner authorized by the Bond Resolution, and it will not sell, 
lease or dispose of any substantial portion of the System until all Bonds shall be paid in 
full, or unless and until provision shall have been made for the payment of all Bonds and 
the interest thereon in full, and the District further obligates itself to maintain in good 
condition and to operate the System, and to collect and charge such rates for the 
services and facilities of the System, so that the Revenues of the System will be 
sufficient at all times to meet the requirements of the Bond Resolution.  

Annual Budget  

(a) The District in each fiscal year shall adopt a budget for the System which shall fully 
reflect all sums to be expended or disposed of for the System during the next ensuing 
fiscal year.  Such expenditures shall be detailed in a manner substantially in 
accordance with the practice followed by private business companies, and, in any 
event, shall be itemized to the extent necessary to show:  

(i) The sums required to be placed in the Debt Service Fund for interest payments;  
(ii) The sums required to be placed in the Debt Service Fund for principal payments; 
(iii) All payments to be made to the Debt Service Reserve Fund;  
(iv) All other payments to be made for Expenses of Operating and Maintaining the 

System; and  
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(v) All sums to be allocated to the Rate Stabilization Fund.  
(b) Upon the adoption of each Annual Budget, copies thereof shall be forwarded to the 

Trustee, the Purchaser of any Series of the Bonds and to any Bondholder who shall have 
requested in writing that he receive a copy thereof.  The Annual Budget may be 
amended by the District at any time during a fiscal year.  

(c) In the event an Annual Budget is not adopted with respect to any fiscal year, then the 
Annual Budget of the immediately preceding fiscal year shall be deemed the Annual 
Budget for such fiscal year until an Annual Budget is adopted for such fiscal year in 
accordance with the provisions hereof.  

Events of Default  

The following constitute Events of Default under the Bond Resolution:  

(a) Default by the District in the due and punctual payment of any interest on any Bond; or 
(b) Default by the District in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any Bond (or 

premium, if any), whether at the stated maturity thereof, or upon proceedings for 
redemption thereof, or upon any mandatory redemption date; or  

(c) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.10 hereof, Default in the performance or 
observance of any other of the covenants, agreements, or conditions on the part of the 
District in the Resolution or in the Bonds contained; or  

(d) If a court having jurisdiction over the premises shall enter a decree or order for relief in 
respect of the District in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a 
receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the 
District or for any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding up or 
liquidation of its affairs and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for 
a period of ninety (90) consecutive days; or  

(e) If the District shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent 
to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall 
consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, 
custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the District or for any substantial 
part of its property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts that become due or shall take any 
action in furtherance of any of the foregoing.  

Remedies  

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may, and upon the written request 
of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds Outstanding shall, by 
notice in writing to the District, declare all Bonds Outstanding immediately due and payable; and 
such Series of Bonds shall become and be immediately due and payable.  

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may make application for the 
appointment of a receiver to administer and operate the System.  Upon the happening and 
continuance of any Event of Default, the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Holders 
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of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding shall, take one or 
more of the following actions as it may deem advisable:  

(i) By mandamus or other suit, action or proceedings at law or in equity, enforce the 
rights of the Bondholders against the District, and any of their officers, agents and 
employees and require and compel the District, or such officer, agent or employee 
to perform and carry out its or his duties and obligations under the Act and the 
Resolution and its or his covenants or agreements with the Bondholders;  

(ii) By action or suit in equity bring suit to enjoin any acts or things which may be 
unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Bondholders; and  

(iii) Bring suit upon the Bonds.  

Application of Moneys  

(a) All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the 
provisions of the Bond Resolution shall, after payment of the costs and expenses of the 
proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the fees, expenses, 
liabilities, and advances incurred or made by the Trustee, be deposited in the Debt 
Service Fund and all moneys in the Debt Service Fund shall be applied as follows:  

First--To the payment of the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest 
then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest and, 
if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then 
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons 
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and  

Second--To the payment of the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of 
and premium, if any, on any of the Bonds which shall have become due (other than Bonds 
called for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions 
of the Resolution), in the order of their due dates, and, if the amount available shall not be 
sufficient to pay in full principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds due on any particular 
date, then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of the principal and premium, if 
any, due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or 
privilege; and  

Third--To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of interest at the penalty rate 
on all past due installments of principal and interest from their respective due dates and, if 
the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full the whole amount of interest so 
due, then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of interest then due, to the 
persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege and without any distinction 
between interest on past due interest and interest on past due principal.  

(b) Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.05 of the 
Bond Resolution, such moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time as 
the Trustee shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available 
for such application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee shall apply such funds, it shall 
fix the date (which shall be an interest payment date unless it shall deem another date 
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more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest 
on the amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.  The Trustee 
shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such 
moneys and of the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to 
the Holder of any Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate 
endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid.  

(c) Whenever all principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds have been paid 
under the provisions of _____ and all expenses and charges of the Trustee shall have 
been paid, any balance remaining in the Debt Service Fund shall be paid to the Gross 
Revenue Fund.  

Amending and Supplementing the Bond Resolution  

With the consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds 
then Outstanding, the District from time to time and at any time may adopt a resolution for the 
purpose of adding any provisions to, or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions 
of, the Bond Resolution, or modifying or amending the rights and obligations of the District under 
the Bond Resolution, or modifying or amending in any manner the rights of the Holders of the Bonds 
then Outstanding; provided, however, that, without the specific consent of the Holder of each such 
Bond which would be affected thereby, no Supplemental Resolution amending or supplementing 
the provisions of the Bond Resolution shall: (i) change the fixed maturity date of any Bond or the 
dates for the payment of interest thereon or the terms of the redemption thereof, or reduce the 
principal amount of any Bond or the rate of interest thereon or the redemption price (or the 
redemption premium) payable upon the redemption or prepayment thereof; (ii) reduce the 
percentage of Bonds, the Holders of which are required to consent to any Supplemental Resolution 
amending or supplementing the provisions of the Bond Resolution; (iii) give to any Bond or Bonds 
any preference over any other Bond or Bonds secured by the Bond Resolution; (iv) authorize the 
creation of any pledge of the Revenues prior, superior or equal to the pledge of and lien and charge 
thereon created by the Bond Resolution for the payment of the Bonds; or (v) deprive any Holder of 
the Bonds of the lien on the Revenues afforded by the Bond Resolution.  

Defeasance  

The obligations of the District under the Bond Resolution shall be fully discharged and 
satisfied as to any Bond and such Bond shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding thereunder 
when payment of the principal of and the applicable redemption premium, if any, on such Bond 
plus interest to the due date thereof (a) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance 
with the terms thereof, or (b) shall have been provided by irrevocably depositing with the Trustee 
therefor in trust irrevocably appropriated and set aside exclusively for such payment (i) moneys 
sufficient to make such payments or (ii) non-callable direct general obligations of the United States, 
maturing as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure the 
availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment, and, except for the purposes of such 
payment, such Bond shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of the Bond 
Resolution; provided that, with respect to Bonds to be redeemed or otherwise prepaid prior to the 
stated maturities thereof, notice of such redemption or prepayment shall have been given or 
irrevocable provision shall have been made for the giving of such notice.  
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APPENDIX G 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 
delivered by the EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT, IDAHO (the “District”), a special 
purpose district organized and existing under the laws of the State of Idaho, in connection with the 
issuance of the $36,075,000 Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho, Sewer Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2024 (the “Series 2024 Bonds). The District hereby agrees as follows:  

SECTION 1.  Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the District for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2024 
Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter (defined below) in complying with Rule 
15c2-12(b)(5) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934.  

SECTION 2.  Definitions.  The following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:  

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the District pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to 
vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons holding 
Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any 
Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the District Manager of the District or his or her 
designee, or such other officer or employee as the District shall designate in writing from time to 
time.  

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean an agent appointed in accordance with Section 7 herein. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement.  

“Official Statement” shall mean the official statement of the District dated _______, 2024, 
prepared in connection with the issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds.  

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Series 2024 
Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Series 2024 Bonds, as 
indicated to the District.  

“Repository” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic 
Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system. 

 “Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.  

“State” shall mean the State of Idaho.  

SECTION 3.  Provision of Annual Reports.  
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(a) The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, provide to the Repository 
within seven months after the end of the District’s fiscal year (presently June 30), 
commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024, an Annual Report which is 
consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  The Annual 
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a 
package, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 4 of 
this Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements of the 
District may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later 
than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not available 
by that date.  If the District’s fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in 
the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(f).  

(b) If the Annual Report has not been provided to the Repository by the date required in 
subsection (a) above, the District shall send a notice to the Repository in substantially 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

SECTION 4.  Content of Annual Reports.  The District’s Annual Report shall contain or 
include by reference the following:  

(a) The audited financial statements of the District for the prior fiscal year, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to 
governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (or if not in conformity, to be accompanied by a qualitative discussion of the 
differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting 
principles on the presentation of the financial information).  If the District’s audited 
financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be 
filed pursuant to Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial 
statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained in the final Official 
Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as 
the Annual Report when they become available.  

(b) To the extent such items are not included in the financial statements referred to in 
subsection (a) above, the financial and statistical data of the District as of a date not 
earlier than the end of the preceding fiscal year for the type of information included in 
the tables contained in the Official Statement under the headings “DESCRIPTION OF 
THE EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT — Largest Customers” and 
“Summary of Revenues and Expenses.”  
Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other 
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the District or related public 
entities, which have been submitted to the Repository or filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.  If the document included by reference is a final official 
statement, it must be available from the Repository.  The District shall clearly identify 
each such other document so included by reference.  

SECTION 5.  Reporting of Significant Events.  
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The District shall give, or cause to be given, in a timely manner, to the Repository notice of 
the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds, within ten 
business days of the occurrence thereof:  

1. principal and interest payment delinquencies;  
2. non-payment related defaults, if material;  
3. unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;  
4. unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;  
5. substitution of credit or liquidity providers or their failure to perform;  
6. adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Series 2024 
Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Series 2024 Bonds; 

7. modifications to rights of Holders of the Series 2024 Bonds, if material;  
8. bond calls, if material, and tender offers;  
9. defeasances;  
10. release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 2024 Bonds, if 

material;  
11. rating changes;  
12. bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person; Note to 

Section 5(12): For the purposes of the event described in Section 5(12), the event is 
considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, 
fiscal agent or similar officer for an obligated person in a proceeding under the U.S. 
Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court 
or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets 
or business of the obligated person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving 
the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the 
supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or 
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of the obligated person;  

13. consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated person 
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in 
the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such 
an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other 
than pursuant to its terms, if material;  

14. appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material;   

15. incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to 
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a 
Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if 
material; or  

16. default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or other similar 
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the District, any of which reflect 
financial difficulties.  
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SECTION 6.  Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The District’s obligations under this 
Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in 
full of all of the Series 2024 Bonds.  If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the 
Series 2024 Bonds, the District shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a 
Listed Event under Section 5(b).  

SECTION 7.  Dissemination Agent.  The District may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 
Dissemination Agent to assist in carrying out the obligations of the District under this Disclosure 
Agreement, and may discharge any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor 
Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the 
content of any notice or report prepared by the District pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement.  

SECTION 8.  Amendment and Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement, the District may amend this Disclosure Agreement and any provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:  

(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, or 5(a), it may 
only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change 
in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an 
obligated person (within the meaning of the Rule) with respect to the Series 2024 Bonds, 
or the type of business conducted;  

(b) The undertaking, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the opinion 
of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule 
at the time of the original issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds, after taking into account 
any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; 
and  

(c) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Beneficial Owners of the Series 
2024 Bonds in the same manner as provided in the Resolution for amendments to the 
Resolution with the consent of the Beneficial Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of 
nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the Beneficial 
Owners of the Series 2024 Bonds.  

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the District 
shall describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a 
narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in 
the case of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or 
operating data being presented by the District.  In addition, if the amendment relates to the 
accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change 
shall be given in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(b), and (ii) the Annual 
Report for the year in which the change is made should present a comparison (in narrative form and 
also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as prepared on the basis of 
the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.   

SECTION 9.  Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed 
to prevent the District from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination 
set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other 
information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which 
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is required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the District chooses to include any information in any 
Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically 
required by this Disclosure Agreement, the District shall have no obligation under this Disclosure 
Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of 
occurrence of a Listed Event.  

SECTION 10.  Default.  In the event of a failure of the District to comply with any provision of 
this Disclosure Agreement, the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2024 Bonds may take such actions 
as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court 
order, to cause the District, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default 
under the Resolution, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any 
failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel 
performance.  

SECTION 11.  Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of 
the District, the Dissemination Agent, if any, the Participating Underwriter and Beneficial Owners 
from time to time of the Series 2024 Bonds and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.  

 

Dated:   

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT  

By:  

Chairman  
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EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE TO REPOSITORY OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

 

Name of Issuer:  Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho 

Name of Bond Issue:  $___________ Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2024  

Date of Issuance:  

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District, Idaho has not provided 
an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by Section 3 of the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated June 26, 2024.  [The District anticipates that the Annual 
Report will be filed by __________.]  

Dated: _____________________  

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT 
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APPENDIX H 

(UPDATED) PROJECT BUDGET 

 

  



FY22 FY23 FY24
Budget Budget Budget

Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
TOTAL GENERAL FUND

Auto Expenses 9,500.00 8,500.00 12,100.00

Contract Services 112,292.00 106,600.00 230,600.00

Insurance 38,027.00 40,000.00 45,000.00

Office Operations 6,025.00 10,890.00 19,150.00

Payroll Expenses 402,456.00 397,712.50 538,810.00

Plant Operations 230,230.00 333,398.99 456,100.00

Repair & Maintenance 279,000.00 278,000.00 241,190.20

14,000.00 14,000.00 14,000.00

Travel and Meetings 3,000.00 5,500.00 10,000.00

Utilities 202,826.00 218,629.41 328,225.00

Farm Expense 10,000.00 10,000.00

Total Expense 1,297,356.00 1,423,230.90 1,905,175.20

Other Expense

Reserve Funds

Water Reuse Permit 10,000.00

Vehiclet Replacement 59,000.00

Sludge Truck Replacement 250,000.00

Membrane Replacement 693,427.00

Capacity Expansion 2,500,000.00 2,500,000.00 30,005,000.00

Yard Pipe & Chem Sys 50,000.00 197,310.00

District Formation 50,000.00 50,000.00 15,000.00

Phosphorous/Water Recharge Project Expenses 693,427.00 693,427.00

 Water Recharge Expenses 0.00 75,000.00

Total Reserve Funds 3,243,427.00 4,120,854.00 30,477,310.00

FY22 FY23 FY24
Proposed ** Proposed ** Proposed **

Revenues Revenues Revenues

Sewer Fund 1,296,356.00 1,423,230.90 1,905,175.20

CONTINGENCY FUND - RESERVE FUNDS

Water Reuse Permit 10,000.00

Yard Pipe & Chem Sys 197,310.00

District Formation 15,000.00

Membrane Replacement 693,427.00

Curtailment Connections 1,111,785.24

Capital Improvements 2,500,000.00 8,231,709.28 30,005,000.00

Equipment Replacement 45,000.00 59,000.00 250,000.00

Total Revenue 3,841,356.00 10,407,367.18 33,494,270.44

REVENUES

Idaho Supremacy  Reporting

EASTERN IDAHO REGIONAL SEWER DISTRICT
PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a public hearing for consideration of EIRSD’s (Eastern Idaho Regional Sewer District) proposed budget for the fiscal period October 1, 2023 
to September 30, 2024, pursuant to the provisions of Section 50-1002, Idaho Code. The hearing will be held at EIRSD conference room located at 618 E 1250 N, Shelley, 
Idaho, at 9:00 a.m., on May 16 2023.  All interested persons are invited to appear and show cause, if any, why such budget should or should not be adopted. The 
proposed budget may be viewed at EIRSD's main office located at 618 E 1250 N, Shelley, ID during normal office hours (8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.).  EIRSD is accessible to 
persons with disabilities.  Anyone desiring accommodations for disabilities must contact EIRSD at least 48 hours prior to the public hearing at (208) 357-1839.  

EXPENDITURES



*Includes accumulated fund balances (contingency).

**Includes carry over fund balances from prior fiscal years.

The proposed exenditures and revenues for FY 2023-2024 have been tentatively approved by the Board of Directors.  

DATED THIS 25th day of April 2023

Contingency includes funding for unforseen emergencies, future capital improvement plans, and allows EIRSD to operate on a 
cash basis.  Government accounting practices recommend a contingency in each fund to maintain a financially sound budget. 

Funds are carried over each year for over estimated expenditures and savings for future capital improvement projects.  These 
funds are used for contingency items.

Published in the the Post Register the weeks of April 28 & May 5, 2023



62  

 

APPENDIX I 

 SERVICE AND BILLING AGREEMENTS OF THE CITIES OF AMMON AND SHELLEY   
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APPENDIX J 

CITIES LOAN AGREEMENTS 
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